

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2016

Exploring Barriers to Women Entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria

Ezenwayi Amaechi Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Business Administration, Management, and Operations Commons</u>, and the <u>Management Sciences and Quantitative Methods Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Ezenwayi Chisa Amaechi

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Patricia Fusch, Committee Chairperson, Management Faculty Dr. Donna Brown, Committee Member, Management Faculty Dr. Raghu Korrapati, University Reviewer, Management Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2016

Abstract

Exploring Barriers to Women Entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria

by

Ezenwayi Chisa Amaechi

MBA, Johnson & Wales University, 2007

BS, Bryant University, 2004

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Management

Walden University

November 2016

Abstract

Women play an important role in the development of their families and communities economically; however, in comparison to men, they disproportionately experience barriers such as low income households, poverty, unemployment, lack of training, and discrimination. The purpose of this mini-ethnographic case study was to explore the perceptions of women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria on what information they need to overcome possible barriers in their business and economic development. The 5M (market, money, management, motherhood, meso, and microenvironment) framework provided the theoretical lens for this investigation. The data gathering process involved face-to-face semistructured interviews with 15 women entrepreneurs in 3 local markets in Enugu State, in addition to direct observation, field notes, and reflective journal entries. Data were inductively analyzed and then triangulated to ensure trustworthiness of findings. The major themes revealed that these women needed information in the areas of marketing, customer relations, accounting procedures, financing strategies, and formal business training to grow their businesses. Embracing the results of this research may contribute to positive social change by providing information on how small scale women entrepreneurs could reduce their dependence on their husbands, partners, and relatives.

Exploring Barriers to Women Entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria

by

Ezenwayi Chisa Amaechi

MBA, Johnson & Wales University, 2007

BS, Bryant University, 2004

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Management

Walden University

November 2016

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated first to God, who gave me the strength and abilities to start and complete this journey in record time. I would also like to dedicate the content of these pages to all the small scale women entrepreneurs globally, keep up the good work; your contributions matter to each of your communities, economies, and the world. Finally, I would like to dedicate this dissertation to all my family, professional associates, and friends who understood and supported me through the many sacrifices I had to make to achieve this personal and professional goal.

Acknowledgments

Team Amaechi, my committee (Dr. Patricia Fusch and Dr. Donna Brown), I have often said that I have the best team in the world because this journey would not have been successful without you. Dr. Fusch, I want to thank you for being there for me, for believing in my abilities, and understanding me as a person from the moment we met. Your commitment to student excellence and success is evidenced in all you have done for me, and I cannot thank you enough. To Dr. Donna Brown, thank you so much for your valuable feedback, I have learned so much from you. I am looking forward to working together in Nigeria and beyond.

To Dr. Korrapati, my URR, I truly appreciated your valuable input, thank you so much for your insights and suggestions for improvements. Additionally, I would like to thank my encourager whom I affectionately call Sister Naomi for her prayers and wisdom during this incredible journey, particularly when all hell broke loose. To Mrs. Ihuoma Ubosi, thank you very much, Aunty, for encouraging and assuring me that all will be fine in due time. To Mrs. Humble Mbaeri, who helped me in more ways than she can ever imagine, thank you so much, Aunty, I am grateful. I would also like to thank all the small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria, who participated in this research undertaking. Thank you for sharing your stories and for providing me with the rich and detailed information that helped to shape the contents of this study. Finally, I would like to acknowledge all the faculty and staff that I met along the way who have helped me through encouragement, motivation, and counseling. To my colleagues whom I met in the classroom or residences, I want to wish you all much success in your endeavors.

List of Tables	vi
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	.1
Background of the Study	.2
Problem Statement	.7
Purpose of the Study	.8
Conceptual Framework1	0
Definitions1	6
Assumptions1	8
Scope and Delimitations1	8
Limitations1	9
Significance of the Study2	20
Significance to Practice	1
Significance to Theory	2
Significance to Social Change	3
Summary and Transition2	:4
Chapter 2: Literature Review2	:5
Literature Search Strategy2	:5
Conceptual Framework2	28
Literature Review	3
Entrepreneurship	4
Women Entrepreneurs	6

Table of Contents

Characteristics of Women Entrepreneurs	
Small Scale Businesses	
Women's Motivations for Entrepreneurship	
Barriers to Women Entrepreneurs	
Business Financing Issues	55
Cultural and Environmental Issues	
Lack of Required Skills and Education	61
Inadequate Microfinance Training	66
Summary and Conclusion	72
Chapter 3: Research Methodology	74
Research Design and Rationale	74
Role of the Researcher	80
Methodology	83
Participant Selection	
Instrumentation	
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	
Issues of Trustworthiness	
Ethical Procedures	
Summary	111
Chapter 4: Results	112
Research Setting	114
Demographics	118

Data Collection	121
Data Analysis	122
Question 1: Motivation to Become Entrepreneurs	126
Question 2: Training Obtained Prior to Launching Business	127
Question 3: Helpful Resources for Further Success	127
Question 4: What was Learned During Training	127
Question 5: How Business Money was Raised	127
Question 6: The Past and Present Difficulties	128
Question 7: How Past and Present Difficulties Were Overcome	128
Question 8: Major Influences to Starting a Business	128
Question 9: Resources Needed to Improve Business	128
Evidence of Trustworthiness	129
Credibility	129
Transferability	129
Dependability	130
Confirmability	130
Study Results: Interview Questions and Textual Description	131
Findings	131
Major Themes	132
Emergent Theme 1: The Need to Make Money	133
Emergent Theme 2: Lack of Formal Business Training	136
Emergent Theme 3: Lack of Required Money or Capital for Business	139

Emergent Theme 4: Money Raised from Previous Business, Husband, and	
Relatives for Startup Financing	141
Emergent Theme 5: Low Level Education	144
Emergent Theme 6: Additional Financing to Help During Tough	
Economic Situation	146
Minor Themes	148
Emergent Theme 7: Gatekeepers	148
Unexpected Themes	152
Emergent Theme 8: Small Scale Women Entrepreneurs as Supporters and	
Not Primary Wage Earners (Breadwinners)	153
Emergent Theme 9: The Inability of Small Scale Women Entrepreneurs to	
Articulate Yearly Income	155
Summary	157
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	159
Interpretation of Findings	159
Limitations of the Study	166
Recommendations	168
Implications for Social Change	173
Reflection	175
Summary and Study Conclusion	178
References	183
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	240

Appendix B: Interview Questions	
Appendix C: Observation Protocol	243

List of Tables

Table 1. Demographic overview $(N = 15)$	19
Table 2. Educational Attainment ($N = 15$)	120
Table 3. Participants Marital Status ($N = 15$)	20
Table 4. Participants Years in Business ($N = 15$)	21
Table 5. A Priori Codes Used to Categorize the Semistructured Interview Questions1	23
Table 6. Second Stage Nodes and Themes Used to Categorize Motivation, Training, an	ıd
Helpful Resources	124
Table 7. Second Stage Nodes and Themes Used to Categorize Information Learned	
During Training, Raising Business Finances, and Difficulties in Business1	25
Table 8. Second Stage Nodes and Themes Used to Categorize Overcoming Difficulties	3,
Descent for Dusiness and Enture Descurress	
Reasons for Business, and Future Resources	125
Table 9. Amount of Money Made in a Year ($N = 15$)	
	126
Table 9. Amount of Money Made in a Year $(N = 15)$ 1	126 136
Table 9. Amount of Money Made in a Year $(N = 15)$ 1Table 10. Motivation for Entrepreneurship $(N = 15)$ 1	126 136 138
Table 9. Amount of Money Made in a Year $(N = 15)$.1Table 10. Motivation for Entrepreneurship $(N = 15)$.1Table 11. Lack of Formal Business Training $(N = 15)$.1	126 136 138 143
Table 9. Amount of Money Made in a Year $(N = 15)$ 1Table 10. Motivation for Entrepreneurship $(N = 15)$ 1Table 11. Lack of Formal Business Training $(N = 15)$ 1Table 12. Money Raised from Previous Businesses, Husband, and Relative $(N = 15)$	126 136 138 143 152

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Due to the abundance of dynamic human, vibrant, and natural resources that Nigeria enjoys, it has various business and investment potential (Ihugba, Odii, & Njoku, 2013). As a nation, Nigeria has over 150 million people and is known as an oil producer (Ihugba et al., 2013). The country is also rich in other resources, such as agriculture, mining, and semiprecious stones that are yet to be exploited (Ihugba et al., 2013). Despite the abundance of natural resources in Nigeria, the issue of poverty, particularly among women, remains a major problem (Ihugba et al., 2013).

Fifty percent of the 150 million populace are women, and 70% of them live and work in rural areas (Fapohunda, 2012). The 2006 census revealed that 8.4% of Nigerian women worked in the craft and production industries within the informal economy (Fapohunda, 2012). Some lack access to affordable credit, basic information, technical advice, and services (Fapohunda, 2012). Additionally, to mitigate barriers to women entrepreneurs, and in, turn alleviate poverty, the Nigerian government has encouraged women entrepreneurs who are considered vulnerable to economic failure as sole proprietors to form cooperative societies to allow them access to micro finances for business activities and development (Ekpe, Mat, & Razak, 2010).

Forming these types of societies would assist in improving their overall quality of life and improve the economy by serving as a poverty reduction tool (Ekpe et al., 2010). The Nigerian federal government also developed several programs in 2004 including a National Economic Empowerment and Development Strategy (NEEDS), a State Economic Empowerment and Development Strategy (SEEDS), and a Local Economic Empowerment and Development Strategy (LEEDS; Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013). Although these programs are comprised of four targeted areas: the creation of wealth, poverty reduction, job creation, and value added direction on how to move forward, the country is still unable to offer both men and women equal opportunities to progress socially, economically, and politically (Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013). Most Nigerian women have the strong capabilities needed to speed up the growth and development of any society; nevertheless, their capabilities have not been fully employed due to various barriers (Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013). In this study, I address those barriers to women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria. The following section begins with a general discussion regarding women entrepreneurs and concludes with a discussion about several barriers facing Nigerian women entrepreneurs.

Background of the Study

An entrepreneur is someone who builds a business (Ihugba et al., 2013). An entrepreneur could also be an integrated person who has the foresight, is exceptional, resourceful, and possesses leadership qualities (Ihugba et al., 2013). It is important to note that owning and running a small firm is not the same as starting an entrepreneurial venture. An entrepreneurial venture is an individual's efforts that lead to the creation of small and medium enterprises (SMEs) and business ventures, but SMEs simply represent firms or businesses in both small and medium sizes (Lucky & Olusegun, 2012). It has been suggested that barriers affect all women-related ventures (Bosse & Taylor, 2012).

For the purpose of this study, I switched between the use of the terms entrepreneurs, small business owners, small scale businesses, small scale business *owners*; *women-owned businesses*, and *women business owners*. All which referred to the individual or small group nature of female business enterprises that may become SMEs and meet the objective of alleviating poverty and increasing job opportunities for rural residents. This switch in the use of terms is because there seems to be no universal definition of SMEs, as several countries use a variety of ways to define SMEs (Gupta, Guha, & Krishnaswami, 2013). Some countries use a company's turnover as a way to determine the size of an enterprise, while others use fixed investment or the number of employees, volume of sales, as well as an organization's worth of assets (Gupta et al., 2013).

There are three types of women entrepreneurs: conventional, innovative, and domestic (Ukonu & Tafamel, 2011). Conventional women entrepreneurs are those who are devoted to both entrepreneurial ideas and traditional gender roles (Ukonu & Tafamel, 2011). Innovative women entrepreneurs in Nigeria are individuals with strong beliefs concerning entrepreneurial ideas but have a low attachment to conventional gender roles (Ukonu & Tafamel, 2011).Women entrepreneurs in Nigeria have unique cultural challenges. Women entrepreneurs whose lives are organized around their businesses are largely domestic entrepreneurs; these are women who have strong beliefs in traditional female roles and have low connection to entrepreneurial ideas. Some women entrepreneurs in Nigeria fall within this category (Ukonu & Tafamel, 2011). Other women possess dual features, as they are both women and entrepreneurs, and thus have characteristics such as innovativeness, adaptability, creativity, strength, as well as the ability to quickly think and reason (Adeola, 2014). There seems to be a wide gap or difference as it relates to entrepreneurship between men and women, as women are believed to have a lower propensity to entrepreneurship when compared to their male counterparts (Garba, 2011). This gap is due to cultural beliefs in Nigeria that a woman's function is to raise children instead of pursuing other opportunities (Garba, 2011). Such opportunities include entrepreneurship, education, or other training available to women (Ihugba et al., 2013).

Even where women do manage to develop an economic venture, several factors influence the success of women entrepreneurs in Nigeria including socioeconomic challenges such as domestic issues, financial constraints, lack of access to proper business development resources, and cultural beliefs about proper gender roles (Adeola, 2014). Other barriers include lack of self confidence, male controlled homes that discourage female empowerment, and nontraditional roles (Ademokun & Ajayi, 2012; Garba, 2011). Additionally, lack of essential personal skills and traits required to start a business, which are perceived to be masculine, are influencing the economic development of small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria (Ademokun & Ajayi, 2012; Garba, 2011). The issues women entrepreneurs in Nigeria face are manifold; for example, poverty and unemployment appear to be gender related because of inadequate financial resources, unfit opportunities, and limited access to education that in turn affects women's choice of profession (Ifelunini & Wosowei, 2012).

Another form of constraint includes their roles as mothers and wives, as that does not allow for extra time that could be dedicated to training and skills acquisition (Ukonu & Tafamel, 2011).Women-owned businesses are not as economically developed as their men counterparts in Nigeria (Ekpe et al., 2014). This lack of economic development is due to institutional barriers placed on women which do not allow them to participate fully in economic empowerment programs, particularly, through trade (Ekpe et al., 2014). The majority of Nigerian business enterprises are in the area of sales of recharged phone cards, fashion design, hairdressing, and the selling of perishable and nonperishable food products (Ademokun & Ajayi, 2012). Conversely, Ademokun and Ajayi (2012) noted that the three primary economic activities women entrepreneurs appear to be engaged in include services (57%), trading (28%), and agriculture (15%). Researchers have focused on women entrepreneurs in Nigeria, as well as the cultural and socioeconomic challenges they face.

These challenges include the inadequate provision of infrastructure to include lack of electricity, inadequate transportation system, and improper solid waste disposal system (Ukonu & Tafamel, 2011). Another challenge some women face is the perception by some Nigerians who believe that men have better managerial skills than women; women are seen as more materialistic and fashion conscious (Ukonu & Tafamel, 2011). While there is a wide range of financial institutions that offer business loans, these financial institutions charge high interest rates to potential Nigerian entrepreneurs, as high as 28%, thus discouraging aspiring entrepreneurs (Ihugba et al., 2013). This tactic can be more difficult for Nigerian women entrepreneurs as they either cannot access a loan from the bank due to a low or nonexistent credit rating or they are often forced by circumstance to use the accessed loan for other family needs (Ekpe, 2011).

Time management, family issues, insufficient cash flow or working capital, and

lack of marketing skills are additional challenges Nigerian women entrepreneurs face (Otekunrin, Akintunde, Lawal, & Rotimi, 2013). Culture and family issues related to their spouse, children, extended families, and insufficient support structures are more of the challenges for women entrepreneurs in Nigeria (Agboola, Ademiluyi, & Ademiluyi, 2015). The absence of empowerment training, lack of career guidance, and information on business growth are additional challenges women entrepreneurs in Nigeria face (Agboola et al., 2015; Ajani & Igbokwe, 2015).

Although Nigerian women entrepreneurs appreciate the challenges associated with entrepreneurial undertakings, difficulties relating to family obligation, gaining acceptance from those around them, accessing networks, and financing are some of the challenges they face (Mordi, Simpson, Singh, & Okafor, 2010). Nigerian women will go to great lengths to achieve their dreams of being an entrepreneur. Some women entrepreneurs who did not have access to startup capital, but desired to own a small scale business, used their wedding gifts to start a business (Ukonu & Tafamel, 2011). Additionally, some acquired their business capital from family members with a combination of savings and business capital respectively (Ademokun & Ajayi, 2012).

Independence and unemployment are two of the reasons women entrepreneurs specified for choosing to become entrepreneurs (Ademokun & Ajayi, 2012). Others have indicated that passion for business and lack of required skills motivated them to become entrepreneurs (Ademokun & Ajayi, 2012). Also, gender, religion, and ethnicity play a key role in the development of entrepreneurship, as well as how women entrepreneurs are perceived and valued in Nigeria; the reason for this being the patriarchal nature of the Nigerian society (Yusuf, 2013). Patriarchy is defined as a set of social affairs that empowers men to control women (Yusuf, 2013).

Deep rooted prejudices depict women as flawed entrepreneurs, as they are often judged from the perspective of male normativity and dominance, even in the absence of substantial data concerning gender differences between men and women entrepreneur performance (Marlow & McAdam, 2013). It is certain that women entrepreneurs need appropriate education, entrepreneurial knowledge, and specific businesses training such as skills development, time management, and other business-related skills for their businesses to thrive (Broto, 2014; Ekpe, 2011).

Problem Statement

Women play an important role in the development of their families and communities economically (Ekpe et al., 2010). They are often plagued by socioeconomic barriers such as being in a low income household, in poverty, are unemployed, have a lack of training, and even are discriminated against through unfavorable laws, cultural traditions, and family expectations (Ekpe et al., 2014). These women are unable to execute their entrepreneurial desires due to a culturally enforced reliance on their husbands, partners, or relatives for financial support (Ekpe et al., 2014). There is a gap in the literature regarding research about small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria and the information they need to overcome possible barriers they face (Ekpe et al., 2010; Ifelunini & Wosowei, 2012).

Research regarding challenges small scale women entrepreneurs in this state face as well as the positive impact of business and economic developments of these women entrepreneurs is less developed and have rarely been explored (Al Mutairi & Fayez, 2015; Ekpe et al., 2010; Garba, 2011). The general problem was that cultural beliefs in Nigeria concerning the role of women as dependents of their husbands, partners, or relatives are influencing the business and economic development of small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria. The specific problem was that small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria lack information on how to overcome barriers that influence their business and economic development.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative mini ethnographic case study was to explore what information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome possible barriers that influence their business and economic development. These barriers confronting small scale women entrepreneurs in the eastern part of Nigeria may prevent them from acquiring the necessary entrepreneurial knowledge, skills, and education necessary for their businesses to grow (Ekpe, 2011).

To explore the gap in understanding regarding research about small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria, the barriers they face, and what information they need to overcome them, the focus of this study was on small scale women entrepreneurs in three local markets from Enugu State, Nigeria. For the purposes of this study, the term *small scale* was defined as follows: an enterprise that is independently owned and operated, providing goods and services to consumers within a local market with an annual profit of 200,000 naira or less (approximately 1,000 dollars or less) and employing between zero to 10 individuals (Otoo, 2012). Five small scale women entrepreneurs in each of the three local markets from Enugu State, Nigeria participated in semistructured in-depth interviews to explore barriers preventing small scale women entrepreneurs from growing their businesses. I used direct observation of the participants, reflective journal entries, and field notes to triangulate with the interview results for data analysis. The marketplace, which could be a depiction of the informal economy, was seen as an environment or described as a community where small scale units engage in the production and distribution of goods and services aside from the constraints on capital, both physical and human, and the technical knowhow (Fapohunda, 2012; Fasanya & Onakoya, 2012; Onwe, 2013; Sharma, 2012). The results and implications of this study may be embraced by change agents in Enugu State, Nigeria to empower small scale women entrepreneurs to overcome the barriers to their development and become self sufficient. It may also provide information to the small scale women entrepreneurs in Nigeria on how to acquire entrepreneurial skills and education that could help them develop economically.

Research Questions

Formulating a clear research question at the beginning of the research process is vital as it offers an understanding of what is to be researched (Bagnasco, Ghirotto, & Sasso, 2014; Rojon & Saunders, 2012; Tarrozzi, 2013). The research question and objective offer directions concerning the data that needs to be collected to answer the question and the exact focus of the conclusions based on the finding of the study (Debono et al., 2013; Farrugia, Petrisor, Farrokhyar, & Bhandari, 2010; Rojon & Saunders, 2012). Research question formulation is mentally challenging, time consuming, and intense,

mainly because the wording of the question is crucial (Anastasiadis, Rajan, & Winchester, 2015; Aslam & Emmanuel, 2010; Rojon & Saunders, 2012). Further, it is important to ensure that the answer established through the research process will add new knowledge to the topic or view the theme from a different angle (Hauser, 2013; Morse & McEvoy, 2014; Rojon & Saunders, 2012). The two types of research questions that exist include exploratory and descriptive (Clarke & Keller, 2014; Ketokivi & Choi, 2014; Rojon & Saunders, 2012). An exploratory research question often begins with *why*, and a descriptive research question usually begins with *what*, *when*, *where*, *who*, or *how* (Barrett, 2013; Juntunen, 2014; Rojon & Saunders, 2012). The overarching research question for this study was: what information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome barriers that influence their business and economic development?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework that guided this research was the 5M framework as developed by Brush, de Bruin, and Welter (2009). This framework is an extension of Schumpeter (1934) entrepreneurship theory of market, money, and management 3Ms to include motherhood, meso, and micro environment, extending the framework to 5Ms (Brush et al., 2009). The framework also explained that venture creation is largely organized around three basic concepts, specifically market, money, and management (3Ms) because an entrepreneur requires access to market, money, and management to launch an enterprise (Brush et al., 2009). Although some scholars argue that these 3Ms are the key to the basis of any business, minority business owners encounter barriers when they endeavor to gain access to these business building blocks (Brush et al., 2009). Plus, as mentioned above, there are additional cultural impediments to entry.

Starting with the proposition that all entrepreneurship is socially rooted, Brush et al. (2009) proposed that the current 3M model be appropriately expanded to include the uniqueness of women's entrepreneurship, which should include the extension of the framework to 5Ms. This extension is to include additional aspects such as motherhood, meso, and micro (Brush et al., 2009). Used as a metaphor to represent the household and family perspective, motherhood is a means of drawing attention to the fact that family and household may have a greater influence on women than it would on men (Brush et al., 2009). Macro environment extends beyond the market to express factors such as cultural, economic, and societal norm expectations on women, the media's reflection of women entrepreneurs, plus national policies, strategies, economic influences, services, and initiatives (Brush et al., 2009). The meso environment includes organized social life, work support services, initiatives, and organizations (Brush et al., 2009).

Motherhood and the meso or micro environment together mediate the activities of women entrepreneurs in a variety of ways (Brush et al., 2009). There is an increased recognition of the role that the household plays, which helps to explain economic and social dissimilarities concerning gender differences in the labor market and entrepreneurial development (Brush et al., 2009). This increased recognition of the role the household plays creates the need for researchers to include family dimensions in conceptualizing, modeling, sampling, analyzing, and interpreting entrepreneurship in the larger context of the dynamics acting upon the individual (Brush et al., 2009). The insight into the complexities of household dynamics comprised of access to household resources and an inadequate division of labor, differentially influences access to the typical 3Ms: market, money, and management (Brush et al., 2009). Women entrepreneurs have little to no control over the environment; therefore, they have limited ways of making changes directly, which affects only women through macro structures including decision making circumstances (Brush et al., 2009). The social, cultural, and institutional arrangements frame how women view prospects and make strategic choices as well as how they and others assess their enterprises (Brush et al., 2009). These influencers are often referred to as gatekeepers and power holders of resources within the household, the community, or society at large (Brush et al., 2009).

There is increasing recognition that networking and social capital play a key role in women entrepreneurs' access to financial capital (Brush et al., 2009). The meso environment, on the other hand, is concerned with the establishments between the microenvironment and the macro environment (Brush et al., 2009). In this study, I addressed what information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome barriers that influence their business and economic development which was framed by this conceptual framework.

Nature of the Study

I conducted this study using a qualitative research method. Specifically, I used a mini ethnographic case study research design, which enabled an in-depth understanding of the research question as described by Smith (2009); Storesund and McMurray (2009); and White, Drew, and Hay (2009). The quantitative research method was not suitable for

this study because it is mainly about theory testing involving variables measured with numbers and evaluated with statistics to decide if the theory describes or predicts the case under study (Erlingson & Brysiewicz, 2013; Ketokivi & Choi, 2014; Yilmaz, 2013). Quantitative research from a broader perspective can be seen as an empirical research into human issues or social phenomenon theory testing, which involves variables that are measured with numbers and analyzed with statistics as a way to conclude if the theory explains or predicts the phenomena of concern (Dasgupta, 2015; Westerman, 2014; Yilmaz, 2013).

It was not intended for this study to use statistical measures in data analysis; however, in-depth interviews were the major form of key data collection. Qualitative research is concerned with gaining an in-depth understanding of the case under study and is dedicated to finding the meaning and explanation of a phenomenon (Baskarada, 2014; De Massis & Kotlar, 2014; Dworkin, 2012). The focus of a mini ethnographic case study is to gain an in-depth understanding of the research question and not to establish transferability of the findings (Alfonso, Nickelson, & Cohen, 2012; Smith, 2009; White et al., 2009). Rather, transferability is always left up to the reader to decide (Da Mota Pedrosa, Näslund, & Jasmand, 2012; Houghton, Casey, Shaw, & Murphy, 2013; Wahyuni, 2012). Given similar cultural characteristics elsewhere, the findings from this study may prove applicable to those environments and stimulate positive social change initiatives there as well.

The data collection process in a quantitative research study is conducted by collecting numerical data, allowing evidence to be presented in a measurable form, thus,

striving to generalize findings or extrapolations to be made (Tubey, Rotich, & Bengat, 2015; Wegener, 2014; Yin, 2013). In this study, I focused on small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State Nigeria, allowing me the opportunity to gain an in-depth understanding of the research problem through interviews, direct observation, field notes, and journal entries. A mini ethnographic case study was the design of choice for this study because an ethnographic research design allow the researcher to be formative and constructive in the research process (Quinn et al., 2012; Small, Maher, & Kerr, 2014; White et al., 2009).

A major advantage of blending designs includes the ability to enhance the researcher's capability to develop an indepth understanding of the case under study in a multifaceted and multidimensional reality of the lived experience of the phenomenon (Ates, 2013; Barden, 2013; Sangster-Gromley, 2013). A case study enables a researcher the ability to understand the modern phenomenon in a tangible way (Almutairi, Gardner, & McCarthy, 2014; Hyett, Kenny, & Dickson-Swift, 2014; White et al., 2009). Case studies are much more comparable to ethnography than not (Baskarada, 2014; Hyett et al., 2009) because the case study design evolved out of ethnography. Since lived experience transcends and crosses social science dualities, one's research design should also address this (Barden, 2013; Cruz & Higginbottom, 2013; Tanggaard, 2014).

Following this logic, a case study can be combined with ethnography because the strengths associated with ethnography lie in the way through which the voice of the voiceless can be heard and the social world can be reported (de Melo, Stofel, Gualda, &

de Campos, 2014; Prowse & Camfield, 2013; White et al., 2009). Both ethnography and case study design use the same sampling method and both intend to elicit rich and thick data from the participants by understanding cases in their natural environment (Hyett et al., 2014; Holloway, Brown, & Shipway, 2010; Stewart, 2012). A phenomenological research design approach was not suitable for this study because phenomenological researchers are interested in the essence of the lived experience of a particular phenomenon of an individual or a group of individuals (Chan, Fung, & Chien, 2013; Hall, Griffiths, & McKenna, 2013; Petty, Thomson, & Stew, 2012; Thomson, Petty, & Scholes, 2014).

Further, the specific focus is to identify the inherent and unchanging meaning of the issue under study (Bulawa, 2014; Chan et al., 2013; Levers, 2013). The grounded theory research design was also not suitable for this study because the basis of grounded theory is theory generation, which was not applicable for this study (Bagnasco et al., 2014; Hussein, Hirst, Salyers, & Osuji, 2014; Zarif, 2012). Although narrative research can highlight cultural issues in the lives of participants, as well as being a useful method for analyzing the complication of cultural experiences, it was not suitable for this study because it emphasizes meaning and content in the narrative account that participants tell researchers (Mizock & Russinova, 2013; Petty et al., 2012; Souto-Manning, 2014). Conducting a mini ethnographic case study research provided me the ability to gain a better insight into what information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome barriers that influence their business and economic development.

Definitions

The words *entrepreneurs*, *small business owners*, *small scale businesses*, *small scale business owners*, *women-owned businesses*, and *women business owners* and related terms were used interchangeably and referred to the same concept or phenomenon in this study. The reason is that there seems to be no universal definition of SMEs as several countries use a variety of ways to define SMEs (Douglas, 2014; Gupta, Guha, & Krishnaswami, 2013; Hundera, 2014) to allow linguistic diversity in the writing. The following operational definitions provide the intentional meaning of key terms and phrases used in the study to provide clarity and enhance comprehension of the research phenomenon, allowing for the realization of the research objectives:

Breadwinner: The primary income earner in the family (Worldbank, 2012).

Entrepreneurship: The ability to create an economic organization for the purpose of profit or growth (Ezibe, Diogu, Eze, & Uzoamaka, 2013).

Entrepreneurship skills: A basic understanding of business functioning, a willingness to take risks, and a strong will to survive in business (Ekpe, 2011; Yusuff, 2013).

Enugu State: One of the 36 states in the Nigerian Federation, the state was created in 1991 from the eastern two thirds of Anambra State. Its capital city is Enugu. Enugu spreads its borders to the states of Kogi and Benue to the north, Ebonyi to the east, Abia and Imo to the south, and Anambra to the west. Enugu State has a population of about 3 million; it is home to the Igbo speaking people widely noted for their industry, entrepreneurship, resourcefulness, traveling, and hospitality (Enugu State Government, 2015).

Formal business sector: The part of the society that is taxed, monitored by a government, and included in the GDP of an economy, this sector can include importing, manufacturing, commerce, and others (Fapohunda, 2012).

Informal sector or economy: The part of a society that is usually not taxed, monitored by any form of government, or included in the GDP of an economy (Fapohunda, 2012). It involves the exchange of goods or services that have economic value among individuals who are outside of the formal business economy and about 60% of the prospective working population earn their living in this economy in most developing nations (Fapohunda, 2012).

Microcredit: Extends small loans to households seen as unable to gain loan access from conventional financial institutions (Ifelunini & Wosowei, 2012).

Mini ethnographic case study: A combination of case and ethnographic studies that allow the researcher to gain a rich and full understanding of the case under study of subjects in their natural environment (White et al., 2009).

Small scale businesses: For the purposes of this study, small scale businesses are enterprises that were independently owned and operated, provided goods and services to consumers within a local market with an annual profit of 200,000 naira or less (approximately 1,000 dollars or less), and employed between zero to 10 individuals (Otoo, 2012).

Women entrepreneurs: For the purpose of this study, the term describes women who create businesses (Ihugba et al., 2013).

Assumptions

Assumptions reflect the nature of knowledge that determines the scope of inquiries and findings in a study (Fan, 2013; Kirkwood & Price, 2013; Martin & Parmar, 2012). The beliefs and assumptions that a researcher has often shape the course of the study (Kirkwood & Price, 2013). The focus of this study was based on several assumptions. First, my interest in the study had its basis primarily on the assumption that the information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State Nigeria need to overcome possible barriers that influence their business and economic development exists. The second assumption was that the research participants would provide open and candid answers to the interview questions as they relate to their experiences, and the resulting data obtained would be reliable and valid. The degree to which participants were honest and candid about their experiences determined the reliability and validity of the research findings.

Third, I assumed that once I made the proper arrangements, the interview environment would be comfortable and that the interviewee would consent to and be available for the interview during the field research period. Fourth, my study design stemmed from the assumption that the findings from this research would reveal the motivations and characteristics that are unique to women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria. Last, I assumed that the criteria that were used to select participants for this study were appropriate and sufficient to realize the objectives of the research.

Scope and Delimitations

I conducted this research using a mini ethnographic case study design to explore

what information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome barriers that influence their business and economic development. The scope of the study consisted of five women entrepreneurs in each of three local markets in Enugu State, who owned enterprises that were independently operated, providing goods and services to consumers within a local market. The scope of this study included only women entrepreneurs whose businesses were considered small scale. Other categories of businesses including medium and large scale were outside the scope of this study. Additionally, the study only involved research participants who reside in Enugu State Nigeria.

Limitations

In qualitative research, the convenience of selective and theoretical sampling strategies may create a biased sample; therefore, researchers must be mindful of potential limitations of the study and be honest with the readers concerning it (Kolb, 2012; Smith & Noble, 2014; Tanggaard, 2014). Certain factors may have posed limitations to this study. For example, although 15 women entrepreneurs were purposefully selected from Enugu State, Nigeria to participate in the study, there was a chance that the views of the participants selected might not represent the views of all women entrepreneurs in Enugu State.

Another limitation associated with this study included the geographical location of the research focus. Focusing only on Enugu State, posed limitations on gaining a better insight of the barriers influencing the business and economic development of women entrepreneurs on a broader scale. Participants may have faced unique circumstances and barriers not present in the entire country. The primary aim of qualitative research is not to generalize the research finding, but to leave the transferability decision up to the reader (Houghton et al., 2013; Kolb, 2012; Prowse & Camfield, 2013).

The research participant selection criteria may also have created a limitation. Although I selected women entrepreneurs who run small scale business enterprises that were independently owned and operated, providing goods and services to consumers within a local market, employing between zero to 10 individuals. And with an annual profit of 200,000 naira or less (approximately 1,000 dollars or less). It is important to note that their business experiences varied significantly from one participant to the next. There could have been a feeling of frustration, which may have led them to believe that talking to me about the barriers to their economic development could result in a waste of time on their part for the fear that nothing will be done with the information they provide.

Although most of them were not overwhelmed by my presence, there was a sense of curiosity among their neighbors, mostly men who saw me in the women's stalls and wanted to know my reason for being there. They may have also been overwhelmed by my presence in their spaces or stalls, which could make them act in a way that is unusual or out of the ordinary. Acting in this manner may have made it difficult for me to achieve my ethnographic research aim, a concept known as the Hawthorne effect as described by Bloomer, Cross, Endacott, O'Connor, and Moss (2012); McCambridge, Witton, and Elbourne (2014); and Schwartz, Fischhoff, Krishnamurti and Sowell (2013).

Significance of the Study

Although the role of women has been seen as the key to social and economic

growth within their various communities, mainly in the small and micro enterprises, women still fared worse when compared to their men counterparts due to issues involving gender and patriarchy in some societies (Aliyu, 2013). Women are considered to be at the lowest step of the poverty ladder for reasons such as lack of access to credit as well as cultural and customary law constraints as they relate to their right to own property (Aliyu, 2013). The barriers confronting small scale women entrepreneurs in Nigeria make it difficult for them to execute their financial role successfully due to poverty and overreliance on their husbands, partners, or relatives (Ekpe et al., 2010).

A report on the implications of poverty concerning women in Nigeria showed that only 21.9% of women had access to the banks against 74.66% of their men counterparts (Ekpe et al., 2010). Despite the contributions of women entrepreneurs in various entities, barriers abound. By addressing these barriers, however, they can contribute to the broader development of the country (Ekpe et al., 2010). Ultimately, the results of this study may contribute to positive social change by helping women throughout the state to understand how to overcome the challenges and barriers now preventing them from succeeding as entrepreneurs.

Significance to Practice

In Nigeria, men are considered risk takers and women in male-dominated homes tend to take fewer risks as women are considered wives and mothers who should not undertake any risk at all (Garba, 2011). As a result, husbands and fathers in patriarchal homes may hamper the exploration of business opportunities by women and girls (Garba, 2011). For the sake of protection and the fear that women would mix with businesspeople who may want to take advantage of them, this well-intended action has created a dependency condition where women are limited in their potential and are unable to develop and compete economically in the marketplace (Garba, 2011). This over-reliance on others is because of the common understanding in the Nigerian society that a woman's primary priority is to her family (Ekpe et al., 2010).

The purpose of this qualitative mini ethnographic case study was to explore what information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome possible barriers that influence their business and economic development. Consequently, the significance within the context of my research is in two main areas: to add to the existing body of knowledge and to determine widespread implications for social change.

Significance to Theory

Scholars have suggested that entrepreneurship of women is one of the main facilitators of economic growth, productivity, and development in both developed and emerging nations (Ademokun & Ajayi, 2012; Boateng, 2014). Women entrepreneurs face several challenges that must be addressed to enable them to rise to their rightful positions (Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013). Challenges, such as race, religion, and sociopolitical background, contribute to the high rate of female poverty in Nigeria (Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013).

The importance of this study cannot be overemphasized. This study contributes to the literature by extending previous research on barriers influencing the business and economic development of women entrepreneurs using a mini ethnographic case study design. Future researchers who seek to promote further knowledge in this field of research may find this study significant in creating new literature that may be useful, since the emphasis was on discovering how women have been able to overcome the barriers and what explains the success of women's small businesses in light of the various constraints they face.

Significance to Social Change

By adopting the recommendations of this study based on the research findings, it may illuminate the need for federal, state, or local government to focus on and help small scale women entrepreneurs in Nigeria to develop economically. The federal government of Nigeria may also benefit from this study as the research result may foster understanding and insights to help guide them in developing the appropriate policy that could assist in poverty alleviation among women. It may also help the government to develop policies that would educate families on the importance of skills and knowledge acquisition for every member of the family, which could result in economic development and poverty reduction. The study's findings may also help in reducing poverty levels as well as the need for women to overly depend on their husbands, partners, and relatives.

The results and implications of this research may assist to illuminate the need to aid the economic development of some women entrepreneurs in Nigeria who may benefit from the results of this study. It may provide information to small scale women entrepreneurs in Nigeria on how to acquire entrepreneurial skills, strategies, knowledge, and education that could help them develop economically. The current dependency of small scale women entrepreneurs on their husbands, partners, or relatives due to cultural belief may also be reduced. Women may learn to overcome the barriers that hinder the development of the skill set and education needed to be economically independent. The results of this study may also contribute to a curriculum to educate children concerning family roles.

Summary and Transition

I began this chapter with an overview of the challenges to women entrepreneurs in Nigeria and then provided the context for the purpose of the study which was to explore what information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome barriers that influence their business and economic development. Next, I presented the underlying 5M conceptual framework that guided this study and outlined the assumptions, limitations, scope, and delimitations. I also identified the significance of the study in light of the changes that could occur as a result of this research.

In Chapter 2, I will examine the 5M framework, which provided the conceptual framework for the assessment of small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria. I will also synthesize and present various literature on different barriers to women entrepreneurs globally, but particularly in Nigeria. I will describe the major themes found in the literature review as well as the gaps and deficiencies found in prior studies in the summary and transition section of the chapter. In Chapter 3, I will provide the methodology that was used for the study and a description of the qualitative research and the rationale for selecting it over quantitative research. Additionally, I will describe and present the rationale for choosing to conduct a mini ethnographic case study

Chapter 2: Literature Review

The purpose of this qualitative mini ethnographic case study was to explore what information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome barriers that influence their business and economic development. These barriers to small scale women entrepreneurs in the eastern part of Nigeria seem to prevent them from acquiring the necessary entrepreneurial knowledge, skills, and education needed for their businesses to develop economically. To explore the gap in understanding regarding small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria and the barriers they face, the focus of this study was on small scale women entrepreneurs in three local markets from Enugu State, Nigeria.

For the purpose of this study, the term *small scale* means an enterprise that is independently owned and operated, providing goods and services to consumers within a local market with an annual profit of 200,000 Naira or less (approximately 1000 dollars or less) and employs between zero to 10 individuals (Otoo, 2012). Fifteen small scale women entrepreneurs in three local markets from Enugu State, Nigeria participated in a semistructured indepth interviews to explore the barriers to small scale women entrepreneurs from developing economically. Other data collection methods included direct observation, field notes, and journal entries.

Literature Search Strategy

The literature review typically provides the theoretical basis and framework of the research question and bringing them into focus (Boell& Cecez-Kecmanovic, 2014, 2015; Pare, Trudel, Jaana, & Kitsiou, 2015). The literature review process is also a vital first

step and foundation for researchers, as it allows the researcher to understand the existing body of knowledge and identify useful gaps to explore (Felizardo, Gabriel, Fernando, Rosane, & Maldonado, 2012; Pare et al., 2015;Volpato, Betini, & El Dib, 2014). It also offers a theoretical underpinning for the planned empirical study, authenticates the presence of the research problem, and validates the planned study as one that is capable of contributing something new to the body of knowledge (Boell & Cecez-Kecmanovic, 2015; Pare et al., 2015; Saleh, Ratajeski, & Bertolet, 2014).

The literature review supports the valid research methodologies, goals, and research questions for the planned study (Felizardo, Stephen, Emília, & Maldonado, 2012; Pare et al., 2015; Santos & Da Silva, 2013). Conducting an effective literature review is vital to move the knowledge forward and for understanding the breadth of the research on the area of focus (Boell & Cecez-Kecmanovic, 2014; Pare et al., 2015; Volpato et al., 2014). It combines empirical evidence, develops theories or offers a conceptual background for succeeding research, and identifies research topics that necessitate more exploration (Felizardo et al., 2012; Pare et al., 2015; Zhang & Babar, 2013).

The objective of this review was to present a complete assessment of the possible barriers influencing the business and economic development of small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria and how they overcame them. This review includes findings from recent literature and studies on the topic of small scale women entrepreneurs as aligned with the research question. The literature and articles in the review represent scholarly, peer-reviewed journal articles. I conducted searches of the following databases: Academic Source Premier, Business Source Premier, Sage, EBSCOhost, and ProQuest. I analyzed articles obtained from these databases to retrieve relevant information on barriers and challenges to small scale women entrepreneurs.

The keywords I used in the searches included *small scale business entrepreneurs in Nigeria, challenges facing small scale women entrepreneurs in Nigeria, barriers to entrepreneurship in Nigeria, barriers to women entrepreneurship in Enugu State, Nigeria, women entrepreneurs in Nigeria,* and *women entrepreneurship theories.* I also used a spreadsheet to keep track of authors, references, and themes that emerged from the keyword searches. Some of the scholarly and peer-reviewed publications used in this study include journal articles from publications such as International Journal of Business *and Social Science, Journal of Business Diversity, International Journal of Research, Economic Insights Trends and Challenges, African Journal of Applied Research,* and *European Journal of Sustainable Development.* Other sources were International Journal of Sustainable Agricultural Research, Public Policy, and Administration Research, International Journal of Gender and Entrepreneurship, The Qualitative Report, and *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal.*

In this literature review, I present prior research regarding barriers to the business and economic development of women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria. Drawing on the Brush et al. (2009) 5M framework, I evaluated the motherhood perspective of the 5M, representing the greater influence household and family may have on women than on men. The macro/meso environment is also reviewed as a way to express factors such as cultural, economic, and societal norm expectations for women and the media's reflection of women entrepreneurs, including national policies, strategies, economic influences, services, and initiatives (Pare et al., 2015).

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework that guided this research was the 5M framework as developed by Brush et al. (2009). This framework is an extension of Schumpeter's (1934) entrepreneurship theory. Brush et al stated that venture creation is structured around three basic concepts, specifically market, money, and management. In addition to the 3Ms, motherhood and meso and macro environments should be considered when reflecting on the uniqueness of women entrepreneurship (Brush et al., 2009).

Used as a metaphor to represent the family and household perspective, motherhood is a means of drawing attention to the fact that the family may have a greater influence on women than it would on men (Brush et al., 2009). Macro/meso environment expresses factors such as cultural, economic, and societal norm expectations for women, and the media's reflection of women entrepreneurs, national policies, strategies, economic influences, services, and initiatives (Brush et al., 2009).

The macro environment is defined as national level policies, laws, culture, and economy (Brush et al., 2009). The meso environment involves the regional support services, organizations, initiatives, and industries (Brush et al., 2009). Certain organizations are gender based, as they relate to image and occupational segregation. This could make it more or less difficult for women to become a part of them (Brush et al., 2009). Both meso and macro environments could minimize women's choices of becoming entrepreneurs because the microenvironment influences gender socialization and permeates into an array of decision making perspectives (Brush et al., 2009). The general understanding for some is that men have stronger entrepreneurial intentions than women; however, culture can contribute to entrepreneurial intentions and attitude (Shinnar, Giacomin, & Janssen, 2012). Culture is comprised of core value systems that are particular to a group of people or society and influences them to behave in certain ways such as becoming entrepreneurial (Shinnar et al., 2012). Factors such as embedded norms, cultural factors, social customs, and traditions can impact an individual's career choice to become an entrepreneur and, in turn, create a new business (Shinnar et al., 2012).

Adopting Hofstede's seminal work regarding cross cultural comparison, Shinnar et al. (2012) explained the differences among cultures and used four dimensions, which include power distance index (PD), individualism (IDV), uncertainty avoidance index (UA), and masculinity (MAS). The power distance index refers to the extent to which individuals accept and expect that power within organizations and institutions will be distributed unequally (Shinnar et al., 2012). High PD cultures demonstrate unequal power, control, strong hierarchies, and a strong emphasis on obedience to those in power and authority (Shinnar et al., 2012).

Contrary to collectivism, IDV refers to the extent to which individuals see themselves as independent from others (Shinnar et al., 2012). In these types of societies, factors such as freedom, independence, and individual interests are valued, making it a supportive entrepreneurial environment (Shinnar et al., 2012). UA societies represent the ability to tolerate uncertainty and vagueness (Shinnar et al., 2012). To minimize the uncertainty associated with culture, strict laws, and rules, structures, safety, and security measures are established (Shinnar et al., 2012). Consequently, entrepreneurial activities likely would not thrive in this type of environment because of the uncertain nature associated with entrepreneurship (Shinnar et al., 2012).

Finally, the MAS society represents traditional men's principles and standards that play a major role in the society; men are encouraged to be assertive, tough, and focused, and women are expected to be modest, tender, and concerned with domestic activities (Shinnar et al., 2012). Most women entrepreneurs tend to compete in already saturated, highly competitive mature markets such as restaurant, retail, and care services (Brush, Carter, Gatewood, Green, & Hart, 2006). Although these markets are easy to enter, they minimize the potential to grow (Brush et al., 2006). Access to financial capital, networks, and strategic choices are some of the challenges for women entrepreneurs (Brush et al., 2006).

Unlike men who use monetary assets to acquire existing firms or enter into new markets, women depend on information from working within a particular industry to ascertain existing customer needs that need to be met (Sullivan & Meek, 2012). Although women's networks are also important for gaining access to information and tangible resources when acquiring entrepreneurial resources, they can boost their venture desirability by including men in their establishment (Sullivan & Meek, 2012). Most women use personal savings to launch their businesses, and their education influences their debt financing acquisition (Sullivan & Meek, 2012). Women with university degrees seem to gain access to loans as opposed to their men counterparts (Sullivan &

Meek, 2012). Additionally, women usually are required to offer more collateral and pay higher interest than their men counterparts (Sullivan & Meek, 2012).

When women gain access to resources from formal institutions, it tends to be lower than the resources acquired by their men counterparts because women spend less time developing quality relationships with financial institutions (Sullivan & Meek, 2012). Some women entrepreneurs tend to gain access to financing through networking (Sullivan & Meek, 2012). Compared to men, most women gain access to funding through their strong network connections mainly from family and friends (Sullivan & Meek, 2012). Women are more likely to be associated with network activities connected to family and friends, which are also important to them than social networking in general (Sullivan & Meek, 2012).

Other motivations to launch a business include the need for independence as well as having an entrepreneurial orientation (Sullivan & Meek, 2012). When addressing gender and barriers to entrepreneurship, culture can shape societal gender roles and stereotype as it relates to occupations that are seen to be appropriate for both men and women (Shinnar et al., 2012). As a result, gender stereotypes leads to gender typing of jobs that eventually become primarily masculine or feminine (Shinnar et al., 2012). Gender stereotypes are also prescriptive and descriptive because they indicate norms regarding how men and women should behave (Shinnar et al., 2012). Entrepreneurial undertakings are gendered and often affect the interaction between women entrepreneurs and several service sources (Shinnar et al., 2012). This can place limitations on the entrepreneur's ability to gain access to necessary resources or support needed to become successful entrepreneurs (Shinnar et al., 2012). As a result, women can see the environment as challenging or unfitting for entrepreneurship activities (Shinnar et al., 2012).

The setting in which a business is established matters as cultural factors, economic development, industrial base, and natural resources all affect the way individuals start and grow their businesses in every country (Brush et al., 2006). Although women contribute significantly to the growth of the world economy, little documentation exists to show these contributions by women especially in countries that are not a part of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD; Brush et al., 2006). Although women are starting and growing businesses worldwide, little to no information exists as to women global entrepreneurship contributions or the inequality between men and women in business (Brush et al., 2006).

Some women-led ventures are often impacted by factors such as venture concept (business potential growth goals), the individual (gender, goals, capabilities, aspirations, commitment, self efficacy, and motivations), institutional financial resources (debt and equity), and firm resources (financial, social, organizational, and technology resources) as stated by Brush et al. (2006). Future research may focus on the amount and quality of the primary source of information which research has indicated vary between men and women as it may give insights into its ability to affect the broader entrepreneurial outcome between men and women (Sullivan & Meek, 2012). The next section of the literature review will further develop the frameworks mentioned above. As a result, it is important to address the issues relating to women entrepreneurs in Nigeria as they still suffer many limitations and inhibitions which influence their personal and national development (Fapohunda, 2012).

Literature Review

Research concerning barriers to women entrepreneurs exists. Some scholars such as Agboola et al. (2015), Agwu and Emeti (2014), Ani (2012), Boateng (2014), Broto (2014), and Brush et al. (2009) attempted to provide a general understanding regarding the phenomenon under study based on their research findings. Some studies were specific as researchers such as Ekpe et al. (2014) and Garba (2011) explored the motives, characteristics, and challenges to women entrepreneurship. Others were more general such as Bula (2012) and the World Bank (2012, 2014), who explored entrepreneurship in general and from different countries and viewpoints. The main goal of a qualitative research study is not to generalize the research findings, as transferability is always a decision to be made by the reader (Houghton et al., 2013; Kolb, 2012).

Although several scholars have expressed the importance of women entrepreneurs to the economic growth and development of any economy (Adeola, 2014; Ukonu & Tafamel, 2011), women entrepreneurs need appropriate education, entrepreneurial knowledge, businesses training such as skill development, time management, and other business related skills for their businesses to thrive (Broto, 2014; Ekpe, 2011). The importance of this study cannot be overly stated, as previous researchers did not address the current phenomenon regarding information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome possible barriers that influence their business and economic development. In this section, I endeavored to review and study the literature surrounding possible barriers to business and economic growth of small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria and how they overcame them. I used the 5M framework as stated by Brush et al. (2009) as the framework for this review.

Entrepreneurship

Several scholars have attempted to describe entrepreneurship, but there seems to be no one definition available for the concept (Bula, 2012). The definition of entrepreneurship depends largely on the focus of the one defining it (Bula, 2012). Some entrepreneurship theorists have defined entrepreneurship from such perspectives as psychology, sociology, economic, management, and other disciplines (Bula, 2012; Ekpe et al., 2010). Although many theories of entrepreneurship are available in the literature, most of these theories have been created and tested on samples of men; creating the need to understand the traits and behaviors of women entrepreneurs (Brush et al., 2009). Women should be investigated in context with the meso and microenvironments, as these may have a greater impact on them than on their men counterpart (Brush et al., 2009). Brush et al. (2009) also discussed opportunities recognition from a theoretical perspective, noting that the recognition of opportunity is linked closely to the environment in which entrepreneurship occurs.

Entrepreneurship is usually linked with risk taking, innovation, creativity, as well as search for investment (Ezibe et al., 2013). Entrepreneurship can be operated in different markets, locations, by individuals with different skill levels, and can be conducted in either a formal or an informal economy (Ezibe et al., 2013). Entrepreneurship is gender neutral; meaning that both men and women can represent it; what is important is that the entrepreneur fulfills the roles associated with entrepreneurship (Ezibe et al., 2013). An entrepreneur is perceived as one who is courageous, independent, a risk taker, and can combine resources to launch a profit making enterprise (Ezibe et al., 2013).

Entrepreneurs are seen as significant influencers in initiating and providing social and economic growth (Adeelanjum, Khan, Naz, & Fatima, 2012). An entrepreneur is one who creates a business by bringing in a complete change through innovation for the full social good (Ihugba et al., 2013). A woman owned business is an enterprise that is initiated, launched, and headed by a woman, who accepts the associated risks and ensures execution of its day to day activities (Ezibe et al., 2013). Starting and managing a business is not a stress free undertaking as entrepreneurs work to create their odds of becoming successful. For that reason, they strive to take steps that bring them closer to their goals each day (Sospeter, Rwelamila, Nchimbi, & Masoud, 2014). As a result, the entrepreneurship process consists of the characteristics of the entrepreneurs, the business prospects, and the business environment (Sospeter et al., 2014).

Entrepreneurship mainly contributes to the development of an economy; it has also been described as a multifaceted and multilayered phenomenon that can be affected by culture and social traditions (Boateng, 2014). Cultural and societal factors can play a major role in determining who within a particular society becomes an entrepreneur and who does not (Boateng, 2014). Some social and cultural conditions in some societies hinder women from starting their businesses and becoming entrepreneurs (Boateng, 2014). Nevertheless, women owned enterprises offer substantial contributions to innovation, wealth creation, and employments; they have also proven to be the fastest growing entrepreneurial populations in all economies (Brush et al., 2006).

Women Entrepreneurs

Women entrepreneurship is defined in many ways; for example, women entrepreneurs are women who start, establish, and operate business enterprises (Belwal, Belwal, & Al Saidi, 2014). Although entrepreneurship is one of the main facilitators of economic growth, productivity, and development in both advanced and emerging nations, women entrepreneurs in the Middle East and North African (MENA) economies demonstrate the lowest proportion (fewer than one-third) of global women entrepreneurs (Belwal et al., 2014; Boateng, 2014). For example, 80% of the food produced in sub Saharan Africa, 50% to 60 % in Asia, 26% in the Caribbean, 34% in the Middle East and North Africa, and more than 30% in Latin America, were manufactured by women (Iyiola & Azuh, 2014). Women entrepreneurs also provide ideas, energies, and capital resources to their various communities in addition to job creation and contribution to related businesses (Iyiola & Azuh, 2014).

Entrepreneurs launch new businesses that create employment and offer services and products that increase the wealth of both the local and national economies (Boateng, 2014). Until recently, men created most of these new businesses because the concept of women as business owners is a recent occurrence (Boateng, 2014; Kuckertz, Berger, & Allmendinger, 2015). Empowering women to become entrepreneurs gained prominence in the 1980s when it was recognized that women empowerment is one of the ways to achieve poverty reduction, as well as economic growth and development (Ascher, 2012; Boateng, 2014). Most women have since become entrepreneurs; however, most are in the small and medium enterprises as they end up playing a limited role as coowners and comanagers in the formal entrepreneurship sector as opposed to the informal entrepreneurship sector where women entrepreneurs tend to play a major role (Atef & Al-Balushi, 2015; Boateng, 2014).

There is a need for emerging nations to recognize that by creating an adequate environment for entrepreneurship, entrepreneurs will serve the nations through jobs and wealth creation instead of the other way around (Adeelanjum et al., 2012). It is important to note that entrepreneurship participation should not be dependent on gender because economic contribution necessitates equal involvement (Adeelanjum et al., 2012). Most of the women that are involved in entrepreneurship in some African countries are engaged in small income generating enterprises mainly in farming activities (Boateng, 2014). Without the active contribution of women, it can be difficult to realize economic development because women play a vital role in the entrepreneurial phenomenon (Boateng, 2014; Sarfaraz, Nezameddin, & Majd, 2014).

Nevertheless, women's ability to contribute is dependent on the promotion of gender equality within each of their respective societies (Atef & Al-Balushi, 2015; Boateng, 2014). Entrepreneurs add to the development of the economy through the creation of jobs and other aspects that promote the wellbeing of a nation (Boateng, 2014; Hundera, 2014). Nations with high entrepreneurial activity rates have a high level of women entrepreneurial activity rate (Boateng, 2014; Nkechi, Ikechukwu, & Okechukwu, 2012). This is, however, not the case in some countries as gender inequalities are still

widespread, and most women do not have equal rights as men (Boateng, 2014; Mandipaka, 2014). It is irrespective of the efforts by some international organizations such as the World Bank and the United Nations to bridge the gender gap regarding access to opportunities and resources (Boateng, 2014; United Nations Development Programme [UNDP], 2014).

When women are treated as a second class citizen, their potential human resources are undervalued and overlooked (Boateng, 2014; Panigrahi & Satapathy, 2014). This is more prevalent in emerging nations where unemployment among women is high; becoming an entrepreneur could help women work at home and earn money alleviating poverty (Bajpai, 2014; Boateng, 2014). Although several women around the globe either are starting a new business or are owners of established business, this is not the case everywhere as only 27% of women in Sub Saharan Africa are entrepreneurs and only 4% of the women in the MENA and Mid-Asia region are entrepreneurs (Boateng, 2014; Idris & Agbim, 2015).

Some women entrepreneurs tend to be overrepresented in service and retail sectors, also known as the informal sector, as nearly 84% of women are employed in the informal sector in certain countries (Boateng, 2014). The women who made it to certain formal sectors, tend to be in the supporting role (Boateng, 2014). Most women entrepreneurs in Ghana, for example, make up half of the entire labor force; however, they mainly operate in the informal economy where they not only outnumber the men but also contribute to the national growth, which may not be measured (Ascher, 2012). Additionally, in Pakistan and other developing nations, entrepreneurship is regarded as a male gendered concept (Adeelanjum et al., 2012). For example, 16% of more than 50% of the population of women in Pakistan is involved in entrepreneurship; however, about 60% choose businesses traditionally held by women such as bakeries, handicrafts, boutiques, and beauty salons (Adeelanjum et al., 2012).

Similarly, Nigerian women entrepreneurs engage in business enterprises in the area of sales of recharge phone cards, perishable, and non perishable food products, as well as fashion design, and hairdressing (Ademokun & Ajayi, 2012). The three main economic activities women entrepreneurs in Nigeria seem to be engaged in include services, trading, and agriculture (Ademokun & Ajayi, 2012). Most women who become entrepreneurs tend to be active in the way they handle challenges and uncertainties imposed on them by their various environments, as they can handle risks placed on them by the society (Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013). The ability to recognize the factors affecting women entrepreneurs requires knowledge and understanding of women entrepreneurship and its association with economic development (Sarafaraz et al., 2014).

One of the ways to achieve an understanding of women entrepreneurs includes private public partnerships which promote gender based seminars, rallies, meetings, symposia, and debates in an environment that will allow women to express their views without constraint (Ani, 2012). Further, there is a need to encourage the education of the female gender, through girl child education as well as other gender based education and policies (Ani, 2012; Nwigwe, Omonoma, & Okoruwa, 2012). Additionally, education would enable both the men and the women gender to understand their rights and allow the women to compete favorably with their men counterparts within the economy (Ani, 2012; Bajpai, 2014). Gender is a social trait attained during socialization, and can be seen as a hereditary occurrence that is distorted by both cultural and historical acts within diverse societies (Alonge, Ige, & Osagıobare, 2014; Ani, 2012). In Nigeria for example, traditional gender practices can make it difficult to support gender equality (Ani, 2012; Idris & Agbim, 2015).

Gender sensitivity within the entrepreneurial sector is very important because there is a vague assumption that only men understand how to manage that exists in the country (Alonge et al., 2014; Ani, 2012). Which means that women should be left alone to focus on solving their home social problems with their husbands, parents, while men are to be left to solve public and governmental issues (Alonge et al., 2014; Ani, 2012). This may be as a result of persevering cultural stereotype and patriarchal organization where men make every decision including political, economic, social, and women have been subjected to domination by men (Ekpe et al., 2014). Traditional and religious practices have been used as a way to abuse women in societies such as Nigeria; as a result, historically, men are seen as the leaders and women their followers (Ekpe et al., 2014). For gender issues to be alleviated, the structure, as well as other environmental and cultural issues, must be addressed by the government especially concerning economic and political powerlessness of women (Ekpe et al., 2014).

Characteristics of Women Entrepreneurs

The characteristics that make up a women entrepreneur seem to be different depending on where they are located, as most are influenced by several sociodemographic factors and attitudes (Belwal et al., 2014). Women who are assertive, creative, and adventurous tend to initiate business (Belwal et al., 2014). Additionally, those who have prior work experience tend to have entrepreneurial qualities, as they seem to be confident in their abilities and skills required to perform managerial roles (Belwal et al., 2014; Lincoln, 2012).

Other characteristics include the ability to handle moderate risks, a sense of responsibility, confidence in one's ability, energy, hopefulness, future orientation, managerial skills, and high level of commitment (Belwal et al., 2014; Sadi & Al-Ghazali, 2012). There seems to be a connection between psychological characteristics and entrepreneurship, as individuals with certain types of psychological characteristics tend to display a certain level of entrepreneurship (Mungai & Ogot, 2012). Traits such as the need for achievement, open mindedness, the locus of control (an individual's view of the control of rewards and punishment in his or her life), and risk taking, tend to relate to being or aspiring to become an entrepreneur (Mungai & Ogot, 2012).

This is not the case for most African women entrepreneurs who are often not seen as real entrepreneurs but are seen as pushed into or no choice entrepreneurs as a means to escape poverty (Boateng, 2014). Consequently, these women are referred to as lifestyle entrepreneurs (Boateng, 2014). Some African women entrepreneurs are characterized as follows: poor women who often own few or no assets, and have limited abilities to access needed resources (Boateng, 2014; Nyamwanza, Mapetere, Mavhiki, & Dzingirai, 2012). They are also characterized as having limited or no formal education and have inadequate human assets (Boateng, 2014; UNDP, 2014). Women often have partial or no formal employment and business experience; therefore, they possess partial or no managerial and business experience as well as limited business related networks before launching their enterprises (Boateng, 2014; Nyamwanza et al., 2012).

Entrepreneurship may be related to personal characteristics and vice versa; personality is made up of characteristics including ways of thinking, feeling, and behaviors that contribute to an individual's uniqueness (Boz & Ergeneli, 2014). The Big Five personality traits dimensions such as neuroticism, extroversion, conscientiousness, agreeableness, and openness to new experiences contribute to the practice of entrepreneurship (Boz & Ergeneli, 2014). A family's attitude, behavior, beliefs, and expectations placed on an individual are vital to his or her psychological, mental, cognitive, and personality development (Boz & Ergeneli, 2014; Mulu-Mutuku, Odero-Wanga, & Ali-Olubandwa, 2015).

Families that are extroverted, ingenious, and have great achievement orientation tend to be resourceful, open to new experiences, and are self assured (Boz & Ergeneli, 2014; Williams & Williams, 2012). As a result, they encourage their children to become innovative, establish businesses for themselves, and take risks (Boz & Ergeneli, 2014; Nkechi et al., 2012). Demographic characteristics such as age, gender, a person's background (education and previous experience) all have an impact on a person's entrepreneurial intentions and undertakings (Rao, Venkatachalm, & Joshi, 2013). Entrepreneurs' characteristics such as behavior, personality, attitude, and capabilities including education and training are some of the factors seen as influencing the growth of small businesses (Rao et al., 2013).

Other influences include family history, prior managerial experience, relevant

industry knowledge, and functional skills (Rao et al., 2013). The two main demographic characteristics that underscore the notion of human capital includes education and experience (Mulu-Mutuku et al., 2015; Rao et al., 2013). Knowledge gained from education and experience represent the type of resources that can be dispersed heterogeneously across individuals. It is essential to understand the dissimilarities between opportunity identification and exploration (Ingwu & Okey, 2013; Rao et al., 2013).

Small Scale Businesses

Small scale businesses in some emerging nations are assessed to employ about 22% of adult populations and are consequently, seen as an important aspect of economic growth (Sekyi, Nkegbe, & Kuunibe, 2014). Ninety percent of organizations registered in Ghana are micro, small, and medium enterprises (Sekyi et al., 2014). These micro, small, and medium enterprises (Sekyi et al., 2014). These micro, small, and medium enterprises, provide 85% of manufacturing employment, which accounts for about 92% of business within the country and adds about 70% to Ghana's gross domestic product (Sekyi et al., 2014). Small scale businesses in high income countries add about 55% of GDP and over 65% of total employment in an economy (Essien, 2014).

Small scale businesses also account for over 60% of GDP and 70% of total employment in low income nations, and over 70% of GDP and 95% of employment in middle income economies (Essien, 2014). Small scale businesses also produce intermediary products and services that are used in large scale organizations contributing to the support of industrial assimilation and inter linkages (Sekyi et al., 2014). Several small businesses start up every year; however, a substantial number of those businesses fail before the end of or during the first year and a large number close during the second year (Adisa, Abdulraheem, & Mordi, 2014). For every 100 startups, only about 50 make it through the first 3 years (Adisa et al., 2014). Some of the reasons are lack of adequate funding, poor record keeping and management, lack of distinguishing business capital from personal funds, lack of infrastructure to support small enterprises, and the increasing government focus on Nigeria's oil industry over small business survival (Adisa et al., 2014).

Venturing into small business is very risky, and the rate of small scale business failure in developing nations such as Nigeria is very high (Adisa et al., 2014). Despite these statistics of small scale business failures, the sector continues to provide jobs to several economies (Mwobobia, 2012). In Kenya, small scale businesses contributed to the creation of about 50% of jobs in 2005 (Mwobobia, 2012). Although SMEs are labor intensive, they are also capable of helping to create most of the one billion new jobs needed globally by the end of the century (Agwu & Emeti, 2014). Women small scale business owners face several challenges; some of these challenges include tough local conditions that make it difficult for them to access loans from the banks (Mwobobia, 2012). Due to the type of businesses most women SMEs run, they are usually known for having low start up and working capital, which leads to the low growth rate (Mwobobia, 2012).

The growing number of SMEs in Nigeria seem to be as a result of low level of labor, capital, technological know how, and little managerial abilities associated with small scale businesses (Essien, 2014). As a result, SMEs creates employment, adds to the

rapid growth of the economy, and employs unsophisticated resources, which in turn contributes to making small scale businesses the lifeline of the Nigerian economy (Essien, 2014). SMEs are also seen as Nigeria's key to poverty alleviation, employment generation, and economic growth (Agwu & Emeti, 2014). Although women owned small and medium size enterprises (SMEs), characterize 30 to 37% of all SMEs (8 to 10 million women owned SMEs) in developing markets, its main barrier to development and growth is unmet financial needs (World Bank, 2014).

Some of the operational challenges to SMEs in Nigeria include lack of managerial skills and trained human resources, poor infrastructure, which includes water supply shortage, lack of electricity, inadequate transportation system, and improper solid waste disposal system (Agwu & Emeti, 2014). Nigeria's weak physical and social structures have a huge impact on most SMEs ability to grow and develop economically because they have to rely heavily on the infrastructure provided by the government as this is cost effective (Agwu & Emeti, 2014). Other factors include instability in the government policies, low demand for products and services, poor managerial skills, lack of financial support and insufficient profits (Agwu & Emeti, 2014). All these contribute to the inability of SMEs to grow in Nigeria (Agwu & Emeti, 2014).

Women's Motivations for Entrepreneurship

Motivation is a psychological process that allows the behavior to have purpose and direction (Ismail, Shamsudin, & Chowdhury, 2012). Motivation is also seen as an internal entrepreneurial stimulus that is categorized by pull and push influences based on diverse personal position, nature, and desire (Ismail et al., 2012). Intentions to start a business as well as the decisions that are made before launching a business, affect the goals, strategies, and business structure (Ismail et al., 2012). Some women's motivation to become entrepreneurs is connected with the design of the job itself, as it enables them to overcome challenges of family life balance and negative working conditions which are associated with traditional occupations (Sullivan & Meek, 2012).

Other factors that motivate women to become entrepreneurs include tenacity and the need for achievement, self realization, financial success, frustrations linked to lack of career advancement, government policies, family background, and support for entrepreneurship (Sullivan & Meek, 2012). Women's ability to recognize opportunity is related to their social network as well as previous work and life experiences (Sullivan & Meek, 2012; Uddin & Bose, 2013). Women tend to rely on their social networks when making decisions, particularly on their families, more than their men counterparts (Aziz, Friedman, Bopieva, & Keles, 2013; Sullivan & Meek, 2012).

Making the decision to become self employed could also be as a result of both pull and push effects (Ismail et al., 2012). The internal entrepreneurial inspiration categorized as push and pull factor is based on various personal position, nature and desire (Ismail et al., 2012). Consequently, the intent to exhibit a particular behavior may be affected by factors such as habits, needs, values, wants, and beliefs (Ismail et al., 2012). Push factors are connected to human necessities such as recession, inadequate family income, unemployment, displeasure within the current employment, and the need to maintain a work life balance (Ismail et al., 2012; Tambunan, 2015).

Pull factor can stem from the need for independence, improved financial

opportunity, the need to be challenged beyond the current situation, and the desire to be one's boss (Ismail et al., 2012; Williams & Williams, 2012). It can also stem from the need to attain flexibility, self fulfillment, the possibility of developing a hobby, role model including influence from friends and families as well as personal achievement (Ismail et al., 2012; Uddin & Bose, 2013). Psychological motives such as self satisfaction, independence, and finance, are some of the motivational factors for women entrepreneurs in places like Malaysia (Ismail et al., 2012; Tambunan, 2015).

Individuals who became entrepreneurs based on push factors tend to be less financially successful than those who built their business based on pull factors (Ismail et al., 2012). Another reason some women become entrepreneurs consists of a lack of progress in the workplace, which results in pull factor (Ismail et al., 2012). Most women leave the workplace and become entrepreneurs because entrepreneurship allows them to gain control over their careers, and possibly escape the glass ceiling occurrence (Ismail et al., 2012; Seenivasan, 2014). Sixteen percent of women entrepreneurs, for example, alluded to glass ceiling as the reason for becoming entrepreneurs, while other women entrepreneurs cited independence and the frustration associated with the progress of their careers as the reason for becoming entrepreneur could be categorized into prime motivators, motives, compelling influence, facilitating influence, and opportunity factors (Rao et al., 2013).

Prime motivator is the entrepreneurial instincts within a person that inspires them to want to become an entrepreneur (Rao et al., 2013). Motives include the need to want to

earn money, to support one's family, carry on a family business, or attain higher social status (Rao et al., 2013). Compelling factor consists of unemployment or an individual's dissatisfaction with his or her current employment (Rao et al., 2013). Facilitating influences may include available funds that an individual may have at their disposal, it may also consist of their willingness to use acquired skill, prior industry experience, inherited resources, or support from friends, and family (Nkechi et al., 2012; Rao et al., 2013). Finally, opportunity influence comprises of trade information, business knowledge concerning resources availability, adequate education, and training, as well as business contracts (Nkechi et al., 2012; Rao et al., 2013).

It is important to note that no distinct factor influences one's decision to become an entrepreneur; however, remarkable motivational prompts include independence, the dream and desire to become an entrepreneur, a new business idea, family background, market opportunity, as well as entrepreneurship challenges and prospects (Rao et al., 2013). Personal gain (freedom, security, and satisfaction) equally served as the motivators for entrepreneurship (Rao et al., 2013). Additionally, personal environment, independence, achievement needs, and economic necessity are some factors that influence the launch of an enterprise by women entrepreneurs (Rao et al., 2013).

Since motivation is a vital factor for business launch and success, push and pull motivational factors define a person's entrepreneurial activities, inspires an individual's expectation, and produces the presence of entrepreneurial needs, which then results in entrepreneurial motivation (Ismail et al., 2012). The importance of motivation to the launch and success of any business cannot be overemphasized; meaning that individuals

must be strongly motivated by factors that are not financially related and must be willing to be fully engaged in the business to meet objectives (Ismail et al., 2012). By introducing short courses on motivation, women entrepreneurs could gain insights into entrepreneurial skills such as creativity, innovativeness, courage, confidence, willpower, and strength (Douglas, 2014; Ismail et al., 2012).

Although some have characterized women as having an unsuitable attitude towards entrepreneurship, data from countries such as Tanzania, Ethiopia, and Zambia found that most women are dedicated to their businesses and have clear strategies on how to further develop those businesses (Boateng, 2014). Women become entrepreneurs for a range of reasons such as the need for income, self employment, job satisfaction, to attain personal accomplishment, self esteem, career challenge, respect, and the need for independence (Boateng, 2014). Additionally, 65% of women entrepreneurs indicated that family circumstances and economic pressure motivated them to become entrepreneurs, 20% cited economic independence, 11.6% mentioned socio economic status improvement, and 4.4% specified life changes as the reason for becoming entrepreneurs (Aziz et al., 2013; Boateng, 2014).

The continuous rise in entrepreneurship among women could be ascribed to reasons such as passion for their ideas, freedom to make their schedules, be the boss, and the need to address social and philanthropic causes (Broto, 2014). Becoming a woman entrepreneur usually depends on both internal and external factors (Goyal & Yadav, 2014). Internal factors include an entrepreneur's personal traits and skills, external attributes consist of one's family, environment, and governmental factors (Goyal &

Yadav, 2014). Women need an enabling environment to grow as entrepreneurs, especially in developing nations (Goyal & Yadav, 2014). Some Nigerian women and girls seem to be motivated to become entrepreneurs due to household needs such as food, clothing, children's education, unemployment, and the pressure on young girls to fend for themselves (Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013).

Barriers to Women Entrepreneurs

Women entrepreneurs face several challenges that must be addressed to empower them to rise to their rightful positions (Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013). The ability to balance work and family, for example, tends to be more difficult for women than it is for men due to family responsibilities such as childcare and other household activities that could hinder their advancements (Sumaira & Muhammad, 2012). Additionally, the conventional gender roles that have largely shaped the family due to traditionally held belief of men as breadwinners and women as homemakers also has an effect on women's careers (Sumaira & Muhammad, 2012). Due to race, religion, and socio political background, the women poverty rate in Nigeria is very high (Sumaira & Muhammad, 2012).

Most women are still uneducated compared to their men counterparts (Sumaira & Muhammad, 2012). There are about 1.4 billion poor people in the world, and 70% of them are predicted to be women (Adeelanjum et al., 2012). In the past few decades, some women have come to understand the benefits associated with entrepreneurship and have decided to become a part of it (Adeelanjum et al., 2012). As a result, there has been an increase in women entrepreneurship in countries around the world (Adeelanjum et al.,

2012). In the United States, for example, women entrepreneurs own about 25% of total business, and women entrepreneurs in Canada and France own about one third and one fifth of the total businesses in the country respectively (Adeelanjum et al., 2012).

In Pakistan, some women are mainly protected, not permitted to move about freely on their own, or mix with men individually (Adeelanjum et al., 2012; Seenivasan, 2014). For those who are willing to allow their women and girls to go out and obtain an education, for example, they often encounter transportation issues and other barriers that limit their ability to move about freely to achieve their goals (Adeelanjum et al., 2012; Al Mutairi & Fayez, 2015). Although Pakistani women make up about 50% of the economy, for example, their economic involvement remains low, as women owned enterprises only represent 3% of the 3.2 million enterprises in the country (Adeelanjum et al., 2012; Tambunan, 2015). Also, their role within the family has been seen as a social duty instead of a contribution to the economic development of the country (Adeelanjum et al., 2012; Nyamwanza et al., 2012).

These issues are higher in magnitude, unique to women entrepreneurs, are more distinct, multifaceted, and hard hitting, especially for women entrepreneurs in emerging economies (Goyal & Yadav, 2014). Women's work and contributions seem to have been ignored and or taken for granted because many societies have not recognized women's involvement in the development and growth of their countries' economies (Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013). In addition to work life balance, some women became entrepreneurs once they become married and have children, because when children are added to the equation, it poses a different set of issues for women than it does for men (Sumaira &

Muhammad, 2012).

Pakistani women entrepreneurs, for example, are faced with environmental and traditional challenges such as cultural, religious, policymaking, and other institutional dynamics that limit their business and economic growth (Adeelanjum et al., 2012). Major limitations to women entrepreneur in Pakistan include inadequate education, lack of support, lack of financial resources, restricted access to information, lack of trust in their ability to succeed, and lack of business resources growth (Adeelanjum et al., 2012). Nigerian women like women in other developing nations also have manifold responsibilities such as motherhood and homemaking, which means taking on home based and low risk enterprises as a way to earn some income (Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013).

Although some women entrepreneurs become self employed due to flexibility and independence, some Nigerian women become entrepreneurs as a way to conquer economic disadvantage, gender discrimination, and poverty and its effects (Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013). Some women entrepreneurs find it easy to participate in trade and service sectors where they have low representation in the small scale sectors of the economy (Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013). These small scale sectors of the economy are ascribed to low level education, inadequate financial and human capital, as well as the lack of potential future opportunities, because, initiatives such as NEEDS, SEEDS, and LEEDS, unfortunately, do not seem to be making a difference (Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013).

Other government initiatives such as the National Gender Policy, which was

created to support the participation of women in both public and political affairs also does not seem to be making a difference (Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013). Some scholars have observed that the issue of gender inequality in Nigeria is not about initiatives or provisions within the constitution, but about implementation (Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013). Consequently, some women entrepreneurs in Nigeria are usually overlooked, undervalued, and hindered because of barriers, as most Nigerian women, for example, are not seen as fit and proper to own and engage in any significant investment that would enable them to grow financially independent (Ekpe et al., 2014).

The reason may also be that the definition of poverty has influenced the sorts of poverty initiatives designed and implemented by different economies (Nyasulu, 2010). Regardless of the many definitions associated with poverty, some agree that the definition ascribed to poverty usually forms the basis on which poverty interventions are drawn (Nyasulu, 2010). The inadequate definition ascribed to poverty for years has resulted in temporal and unsustainable poverty alleviation initiatives in many countries, as the leading definition of poverty could be seen more as the outcome of poverty rather than poverty itself (Nyasulu, 2010; UNDP, 2014). Some argued that the emergent definition of poverty have been a result of the interests advocated by the groups defining it (Cobbinah, Black, & Thwaites, 2013; Nyasulu, 2010). The definitions of poverty and the poverty alleviation strategies may have not always been in the interest of the poor themselves, but in the interests of the regime and the organizations that are involved in the poverty alleviation (Nyasulu, 2010; Otega & Mohammed, 2014).

Sixty five percent of the majority of the population in most developing countries

continues to live below poverty levels, even though billions of dollars are spent on poverty alleviation programs (Cobbinah et al., 2013; Nyasulu, 2010). There seems to be an increasing trend in poverty in several nations that create the need to reexamine the definition of poverty (Nyasulu, 2010; Williams, 2014). This review of poverty definition could be a major difference between the underprivileged and the marginalized group (Ighodalo, 2012; Nyasulu, 2010) in regards to making financing available to aspiring women entrepreneurs. Most definitions of poverty seem to point mostly to the causes of poverty, which in turn, effects poverty initiatives and approaches. A fresh look at the definition may encourage sustainability and possibly poverty reduction because poverty has everything to do with the human spirit in certain conditions regardless of the person's geographic location (Ighodalo, 2012; Nyasulu, 2010). This could contribute to reason low numbers of women entrepreneurs in Nigeria can obtain financing to start their enterprises.

Sustainable development and poverty eradication should not be seen as a way to meet people's needs, rather, a way to establish a supportive environment where all can realize and enjoy basic human rights (Nyasulu, 2010), among which is the ability to become an entrepreneur. For that reason, there is a need to address the glass ceiling occurrence, which tends to affect most women in and out of the workplace (Bosse & Taylor, 2012). The glass ceiling phenomenon is a metaphor used to explain the invisible barriers that tend to hinder the advancement of talented women within the organization, out of frustration; these women leave the organization to become entrepreneurs (Bosse & Taylor, 2012). Although these women become the chief executive officers (CEO) of their respective business, they tend to meet other forms of systemic gender biases such as limited credit availability from banks and reduced access to equity capital, which prevent them from attaining their full entrepreneurship potential; a concept known as the second glass ceiling (Bosse & Taylor, 2012).

Business Financing Issues

The World Bank (2014) reported that although access to bank accounts and credit could be an economic gateway for women entrepreneurs, they face more challenges than their men counterparts in gaining access to financial services. The inclusive database known as the Global Findex, used as a tool to assess how individuals borrow, save, and manage risks in 148 nations, showed that women are less likely than men to have bank accounts (World Bank, 2014). Women are 20% less likely than men to have access to formal financial institutions in emerging economies and 17% less likely to have taken out a loan in the past year (World Bank, 2014). Further, World Bank's Gender at Work Report showed that women are more economically excluded from nearly every global measure (World Bank, 2014).

Lack of financial education seems to be another limitation for women to gain access to and benefit from financial services, and women in some countries may only have access to financial service by name (World Bank, 2014). Although an account might be opened using a woman's name at a formal financial institution in Pakistan for example, the decision as to how that money is used is usually made by the male relative (World Bank, 2014). Some countries allow women to open an account; they are however required to have permission from a male relative before accessing the account (World Bank, 2014). Some women in Nigeria face similar challenges as it relates to gaining access to funds and finances for their businesses (Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013).

Some institutions require collateral in exchange for access to business loans, something that some women entrepreneurs do not have, as a result, some women are forced to rely on informal sources such as traditional moneylenders, families, and friends for their business loans (Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013). Some women entrepreneurs' depend on predacious moneylenders while others become a part of informal savings groups (Goyal & Yadav, 2014; Olarenwaju & Olabisi, 2012). By accessing funds in this manner, women run the risk of borrowing at a higher interest rate; the lenders may not have the funds available at the time of need, and the burden of repayment may also be greater (Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013). Access to financing is an important business constraint to some women entrepreneurs (World Bank, 2012).

Fifty four percent of Bosnian women entrepreneurs, for example, shared that hindrances such as the absence of properties that is registered in their names and the traditional views held about the role of women prevented them from gaining access to formal credit (World Bank, 2012). Also, Italian women, for example, pay more for overdraft amenities than their men counterparts do, even when no evidence exists that women pose more risk than men do (World Bank, 2012).

Women entrepreneurs, especially those in the rural areas lack access to credit, information, advice, and services, as a result, they are prevented from expanding their businesses (Fapohunda, 2012). Sixty one percent of the startup capital of women entrepreneurs came as a gift from their mothers and grandmothers, 10% admitted to

receiving startup capital from other relatives such as husband's inlaws, brothers, and aunts, while others admitted to starting their businesses with no startup capital (Boateng, 2014). To protect their interest, most women entrepreneurs in the informal sector have had to form associations, enabling them to gain access to credit and savings offered amongst themselves (Fapohunda, 2012).

Ninety percent of women entrepreneurs shared that joining such associations enabled them to gain access to some capital used for their businesses, and 77.3% of women entrepreneurs specified that absence of finances is the reason for the lack of business expansion (Fapohunda, 2012). Further, only 10% of the participants surveyed within the informal sector were aware that banks provided loans to small scale businesses (Fapohunda, 2012). Although several governmental programs exist to aid small scale women entrepreneurs, women, majority being illiterate, often do not receive proper assistance (Fapohunda, 2012), because education is a key element of entrepreneurship development (Ismail et al., 2012).

Cultural and Environmental Issues

In addition to the family and personal challenges, women entrepreneurs are exposed to societal norms and beliefs, which contribute to their challenges (Sumaira & Muhammad, 2012). In some developing countries where families are connected and depend on each other for assistance, some women entrepreneurs are unable to save and grow their businesses because of the need to provide for extended family members (Goyal & Yadav, 2014). Individuals within a society tend to ascribe certain values and expectations based on sexual category, which often affect the career choices made by women (Sumaira & Muhammad, 2012).

In some instances, to live up to the societal expectation, some women take on the responsibility of simultaneously serving as an ideal domestic caregiver while working to exceed business expectations (Sumaira & Muhammad, 2012). When women become entrepreneurs, they can gain the needed flexibility to manage their dual role more than they could if they were to be in an employed position (Sumaira & Muhammad, 2012; Tambunan, 2015). Managing their dual role may serve as a barrier because the business may not be a priority, but may have to compete with other roles the women have to manage (Seenivasan, 2014; Sumaira & Muhammad, 2012).

Some cultural issues to women entrepreneurs in certain economies include lack of control over financial resources and patriarchal background, which serve as a huge inhibition to economic development (Olarenwaju & Olabisi, 2012). Husbands and fathers in the patriarchal homes also contribute to challenges faced by women entrepreneurs as they hamper the exploration of business opportunities by women and girls (Garba, 2011). Among the issues affecting women entrepreneurs, factors such as self and societal issues ranked the highest, followed by financial, economic, political, and environmental matters (Adeelanjum et al., 2012). Lack of confidence among women entrepreneurs in their entrepreneurial abilities has been ascribed to negative self perception, mainly as a result of cultural and social factors (Boateng, 2014). In some parts of Nigeria, laws and initiatives legislated to improve the opportunities, and educational availability to the girl child have been hindered by a lack of enforcements (Ekpe et al., 2014; Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013). This is in addition to cultural and religious prejudices against women

which are prevalent in all aspects of the Nigerian society as well (Ekpe et al., 2014; Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013).

Although women constitute about half of the Nigerian population, they have been sidelined in political arenas, to the extent that women have not held more than 15% of elected offices in the country (Ekpe et al., 2014). The collective lives of women, in general, have been affected by continuous social exclusion even in matters that pertain to them (Ekpe et al., 2014). In most areas of the country, most women were and are still seen as inferior and their participation in governmental affairs has been highly discouraged (Ekpe et al., 2014).

This issue has continued even after policies and initiatives aimed at encouraging active participation of women in government, economics, and social issues were implemented (Ekpe et al., 2014). There is also a need for women to become a part of the decision making process, especially on the issues that affect them, however, women involvement in decision making at both the federal and state levels are still insignificant (Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013). When given the opportunity to be in managerial positions in Nigeria, women made a difference.

For example, Professor Dora Akunyili transformed the National Agency for Food and Drug Administration and Control (NAFDAC), Ifueke Omogui transformed the Nigerian tax system (Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013). Obiageli Ezekwesili, who is the managing director of World Bank, helped shape world economies, and Dr. Ngozi Okonjo Iweala, who was nominated for the topmost seat at the World Bank (Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013). When allowed to excel in their roles women bring a set of distinct traits that differentiates them from their men counterparts (Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013). Women execute about 66% of the global work, harvest 50 % of the food, but earn 10 % of the income, and own only 1% of the property (World Bank, 2012).

A study of 141 economies around the world to understand how regulations and institutions affect women and men, showed that no legal discrepancies existed on the basis of gender in most high income economies (World Bank, 2012). Women embody 49.6% of the total worldwide population, yet, only 40.8% of that population is represented in the formal workforce (World Bank, 2012). The reason could be the dissimilarities in the way men and women are treated under the law, as most institutions and regulations associated with the capacity to work or create and run a business tend to be different between men and women (World Bank, 2012).

While there is no lack of women entrepreneurs in places such as sub Saharan Africa, they are more likely to engage in businesses that are smaller and in informal sectors (World Bank, 2012). The reason is that some women in those societies are usually not able to legally act on their own; they also tended to have less secure rights to property (World Bank, 2012). Also, some women are denied employment within the formal sector mainly because they have family responsibilities, lack skills needed for the role, as well as cultural, and societal barriers (Fapohunda, 2012). As a result, they are forced into the informal sector, which is the only hope of gaining access to employment and income opportunities (Fapohunda, 2012).

Due to the dominance of women in the informal sector, policies and developments geared towards this sector have a direct effect on the women entrepreneurs,

as about 60% of the population in developing countries earn their income within the informal sector (Fapohunda, 2012). The Nigerian informal economy, for example, employs about 46% of the women workforce, largely due to the low capital required to gain entrance (Fapohunda, 2012). The role and participation of women within the informal sector are still undervalued because they seem to be invisible along with their needs (Fapohunda, 2012). In addition to the benefits associated with a woman's access to property rights as it relates to entrepreneurship, women who have access to land, for example, can improve the family welfare and children's health (World Bank, 2012). In Columbia, negotiations linked to the right to work, income control, the ability to freely move about, and live in a spousal violent free environment, can be negotiated using property and social rights (World Bank, 2012).

Lack of Required Skills and Education

Women entrepreneurship is vital for several reasons, for example, most food distributed globally is produced by women micro business owners (Davis, 2012). When women entrepreneurs thrive in their businesses, it empowers them to overcome life's setbacks, and other discrimination against them (Broto, 2014). If women entrepreneurs are to become successful and empowered, there is a need to train and educate them because the lack of education and training can be a barrier to them (Broto, 2014). Lack of education is frequently cited as one of the factors inhibiting the development of women entrepreneurs, therefore, contributing to women's inability to access resources that are available to them (Broto, 2014). Eighty nine percent of the women surveyed had no formal education, of the 11% with formal education, only 4% completed elementary school, and only 7% had up to middle school level education (Broto, 2014). Instead of spending time in formal education, some parents thought that it would be best for their young girls to study under them, which they believed would allow for the transfer of skills from mothers to daughters (Boateng, 2014).

Due to the absence of education, most women entrepreneurs did not keep a record of their business activities and others did not know how much was involved in conducting their businesses (Boateng, 2014; Seenivasan, 2014). This lack of education limits their business growth and expansion abilities, the business, would have to stay within a range where they can keep all the transactions and turnovers in their memories (Boateng, 2014; Dikki, Muhammad, Dogarawa, & Chechet, 2014). Further, there seems to be a global scarcity of business training for women entrepreneurs who contribute so much to the global economy. Consequently, formal and informal professional opportunities for women entrepreneurs are much fewer than there are for the men (Davis, 2012).

This lack of formal and informal education for women has been noted as a global occurrence because the lack of training for women entrepreneurs restricts their ability to launch, develop, and grow economically (Chinomona & Maziriri, 2015; Davis, 2012). It also restricts their ability to acknowledge gaps in the market, which would allow them to diversify, and exploit market opportunities (Davis, 2012; Onuorah & Oliobi, 2013). In addition to the importance of learning and professional development to business growth and operation, education can also assist women entrepreneurs to fight undue discrimination and ignorance towards them (Davis, 2012; Mandipaka, 2014). Since some

women entrepreneurs have no formal education or business training, it sometimes makes it difficult to deal with ignorance and discrimination geared towards them (Davis, 2012; Douglas, 2014).

Education would also allow them to care for and counsel others who may be going through discrimination or ignorance (Davis, 2012). Studies in Ghana, Kenya, and Zimbabwe, for example, showed that offering women entrepreneurs access to targeted business training have empowered them to grow their businesses successfully (Davis, 2012). It is important to note that training does not usually mean a university level degree in business or management, but training that is relevant and needed to achieve specific business goals. This, however, does not diminish the need for general education as that is important as well (Davis, 2012).

What some women entrepreneurs are in need of are specific business skills training that would make a difference in the way they conduct their businesses, moving forward (Davis, 2012; Dikki et al., 2014). For example, women entrepreneurs in India formed an association known as the Self Employed Women's Association (SEWA) where its members are offered business skills training (Davis, 2012). This popular training is offered in the areas of administration, finance, and other business related skills (Davis, 2012). Similarly, training specific to women entrepreneurs in rural Greece in areas such as information technology (IT), communications skills, negotiation tactics, resource utilization, and other essential business skills was very successful (Davis, 2012). As a result, the women were reported as feeling more confident, motivated, and could do better in their various businesses (Davis, 2012). Some believe that women entrepreneurs in some emerging economies are not uneducated; they are sometimes more educated than their men counterparts (Davis, 2012). The issue, however, is that they lack specific business training, which enables business growth and development (Davis, 2012).

Nonetheless, it seems like training business women do not seem to be a priority in most emerging countries (Davis, 2012; Idris & Agbim, 2015). It can be argued that the business training required for women entrepreneurs are no different from the training acquired by their men counterparts. Due to the prevalent discrimination against women entrepreneurs, gender specific training is needed for women entrepreneurs as a way for them to grow in their current environment (Davis, 2012; Mandipaka, 2014). For example, the fact that women have the need to balance domestic work, child tending, and entrepreneurship determines the type of training they need (Davis, 2012; Ingwu & Okey, 2013).

Informal learning such as coaching and mentoring from other successful business people, which is another way to gain business knowledge is often not available to women entrepreneurs (Davis, 2012). Informal learning commonly received at networking events and business associations are usually not structured or managed, but can produce astonishing and specific results (Davis, 2012). These results can include new business knowledge, business identification, business growth, and new markets (Davis, 2012). Likewise, entrepreneurship education and entrepreneurship goals had a huge impact on entrepreneurial motivation and intentions, as education cannot be overlooked if an entrepreneur wants to grow (Broto, 2014).

Lack of entrepreneurial experience, inadequate professional and business skills,

as well as a low level of education have been identified as challenges to rural women entrepreneurs (Broto, 2014). Studies conducted in 40 countries showed that some women pursued entrepreneurship not because they had a business idea that is innovative, but because restrictive regulations have made it difficult for them to have access to job opportunities (World Bank, 2012). Further, receiving appropriate education helps women entrepreneurs seek out sources of innovative ideas which can be converted into innovative enterprises (Broto, 2014).

The absence of training and formal education have been recognized as a fundamental barrier to employment and advancement of women in the Nigerian society (Fapohunda, 2012). Some parents are still sending only boys to school, as they see no reason to educate girls (Fapohunda, 2012). Other factors such as early marriage and child labor within the household also limit girls from attending schools; some do not have the chance to go through elementary school (Fapohunda, 2012). Of those who attended, and graduated from elementary school, some did not continue their education (Fapohunda, 2012). Women enrollment in secondary (high schools) and universities, tend to drop as they move up the education hierarchy (Fapohunda, 2012). It is worthy to note that 11.3% of participants surveyed indicated that they had no formal education, 41% had elementary school education, 32.7% had only secondary (high school) education, and 14.7% had some form of higher education (Fapohunda, 2012).

The education levels of women within the informal sector are usually lower than the education level of those in the formal sector (Fapohunda, 2012). Low education attainment also restricts women's ability to be trainable (Fapohunda, 2012). Issues concerning policy and economic situations together with social cultural factors make it difficult to increase women and girls levels of education (Fapohunda, 2012). There is a need for role models who can motivate young women on the importance of education; the curriculum should also include skills that are usable within the society (Fapohunda, 2012).

Inadequate Microfinance Training

Microfinance has been seen as a means for business growth and income generation among entrepreneurs, however, once funds are acquired for such enterprise, there is a need for proper business application of the resources, which could lead to positive business growth (Ekpe et al., 2010). Some women entrepreneurs in developing nations tend to lack the ability to save; a tool that could protect income, act as collateral for loans, or be reinvested in business (Ekpe et al., 2010; Seenivasan, 2014). Further, some women entrepreneurs lack training and entrepreneurial process which are key sources of human capital development, because it allows individuals the opportunity to improve their skills, abilities, and attitudes (Ekpe et al., 2010; Idris & Agbim, 2015).

Additionally, some women entrepreneurs in developing nations are in unique situations that involve low level education, poverty, and societal discrimination, thus, there is a need for training, as it would provide them the entrepreneurial skills and experience needed to grow their businesses (Ekpe et al., 2010; Onuorah & Oliobi, 2013). Microfinance institutions' clientele seem to lack specialized skills and as a result, are unable to make proper use of the acquired funds, hence, the need for training (Ekpe et al., 2010; Oluwatoyin, 2013). Since education is linked to training, some women

entrepreneurs in high income countries are usually better educated than those in low income countries (Ekpe et al., 2010; Stephen, 2014). In these countries, skills training and post secondary education positively affect business performance (Ekpe et al., 2010; UNDP, 2014).

Although microfinance has been recognized as a poverty reduction tool in most rural areas globally, its effects on rural areas in Nigeria has been difficult to determine (Ifelunini & Wosowei, 2012). Access to finance for individuals who are economically active in rural areas, especially women entrepreneurs, remains a major issue in Nigeria, despite the fact that women entrepreneurs are vital to Nigeria's economic development (Ifelunini & Wosowei, 2012). Some poor households do not benefit from microfinance; instead, it is the borrowers whose income are above poverty lines which usually benefit, since poor people tend to lack the basic education or experience required to appreciate and manage low level business activities (Ifelunini & Wosowei, 2012; Stephen, 2014). Although some poor people desire to better themselves and their families, they try to avoid risks, therefore, they continue to struggle for survival, to protect what they already own (Ifelunini & Wosowei, 2012; UNDP, 2014).

When effectively and efficiently coordinated by developing nations, microfinance could contribute to a positive reduction of poverty among people from poor rural households (Ifelunini & Wosowei, 2012; Stephen, 2014). A combination of financial and microfinance training would help in alleviating poverty among microfinance borrowers (Vijaykumar & Naidu, 2015). Easy accessibility to financing, for example, could enable farmers to gain access to modern farming equipment such as irrigation systems, extension services, and insecticides, which could result in increased agricultural productivity (Ifelunini & Wosowei, 2012). The idea behind microfinance institutions (MFIs) was to alleviate poverty and improve individual's standard of living by offering financing to the poor, and women organizations (Okibo & Makanga, 2014). It is not enough to establish these facilities (buildings or institutions) without ensuring that those for whom it was created uses it fully (Ifelunini & Wosowei, 2012).

Some of the targeted clientele, particularly women entrepreneurs are either unaware of the availability of microfinance opportunities or are uneducated on how to access and manage the accessed microfinance funds (Ekpe et al., 2010). Training has now become an integral part of the microfinance lending in countries such as India, where the government has realized the importance of training microfinance recipients (Vijaykumar & Naidu, 2015). By realizing the need, India has established training institutes in each district within the country under the umbrella of the Ministry of Rural Development (Vijaykumar & Naidu, 2015). Participants are offered short term training on basic business and finance skills that include tailoring, carpentry, dairy, beekeeping, beauty parlors, and more (Vijaykumar & Naidu, 2015). Most of these trainees are from the rural area, and the training is offered at no cost to the participants (Vijaykumar & Naidu, 2015).

As part of poverty reduction initiatives provided by Pamoja Women Development Programme (PAWDEP) a microfinance institution located in Kenya, the organization trains and educates its clients on how to invest the accessed loans (Okibo & Makanga, 2014). As a result, the PAWDEP has observed an increase in loan repayments (Okibo & Makanga, 2014). Training certifies that borrowers learn crucial financial, marketing, and *soft skills*, which allows a micro entrepreneur the ability to effectively apply those skills to their various businesses (Vijaykumar & Naidu, 2015). Furthermore, an effective microfinance for all borrowers (youth included) requires careful repackaging to include entrepreneurial skills training as well as financial services and basic life skills (Vijaykumar & Naidu, 2015).

Asking borrowers to become independent entrepreneurs without adequate training may lead to failure (Vijaykumar & Naidu, 2015). Consequently, some microfinance institutions have started to offer what is known as plus activities (Vijaykumar & Naidu, 2015). These services include health care and social services, as well as business training (Vijaykumar & Naidu, 2015). Although financial services are vital to poverty alleviation, they only seem to address one of the many issues that affect the poor (Vijaykumar & Naidu, 2015). Most poor people tend to have relatively high disease rate while others do not possess the necessary requirements needed to efficiently make use of the borrowed funds (Vijaykumar & Naidu, 2015).

Other microfinance institutions offer to train on issues such as health, sanitation, clean environments, family planning, as well as product development and budgeting (Vijaykumar & Naidu, 2015). Services such as credit, savings, training, social capital, opportunity, and attitude towards risks have a positive correlation with the performance of women entrepreneurs in Nigeria (Ekpe et al., 2010). For these programs to be effective, it is important for the microfinance institutions to establish and implement an ongoing training for the borrowers throughout the life of the loan that way borrowers can

continue to stay motivated about their business growth (Vijaykumar & Naidu, 2015). One of the constraints of funds is a lack of access to collateral (Vijaykumar & Naidu, 2015). To mitigate this issue, the Jua Kali Savings Association, an organization located in Kenya, collaborated with the Kenyan Corporative Bank to voluntarily train its members and in turn, could act as guarantors for members in the future (Vijaykumar & Naidu, 2015).

Another common constraint among women entrepreneurs includes the absence of knowledge and information sharing on business related topics and issues (Vijaykumar & Naidu, 2015). Group members interact with each other during and after training, others interact on a weekly basis, thus signifying that information sharing occurred mostly during training sessions (Vijaykumar & Naidu, 2015). Training recipients indicated that they were about 4% more likely to reinvest their profit back into the business, 3% to 4% more likely to maintain business sales record (Vijaykumar & Naidu, 2015). Additionally, they were 7% more likely to maintain a record of withdrawals, and 5% more likely to report any implementation geared towards business improvement and growth (Vijaykumar & Naidu, 2015).

Some women were reported as being unable to judge the profitability of their business due to the absence of rudimentary accounting, technical, and business management skills, as well as other social, cultural limitations (Maru & Chemjor, 2013). For that reason, training is vital to the empowerment of women microfinance entrepreneurs in developing countries as some are confronted with issues such as poverty, low educational levels, and other societal discrimination (Maru & Chemjor, 2013). Access to training would provide the basic skills and experience needed for business because some women who become entrepreneurs seem to have difficulty growing their businesses due to insufficient working capital and inadequate technical and managerial skills (Maru & Chemjor, 2013). Some women entrepreneurs seem to lack marketing procedures, information, project planning skills, or are faced with hostile business environments (Maru & Chemjor, 2013).

Women entrepreneurs require training to support the growth of their businesses in the areas of finance management as well as sales and the general administration of their business (Kaka & Abidin, 2014). Providing training to women entrepreneurs could add to the sustainability and soundness of their businesses as appropriate training is important to women entrepreneurs, particularly microfinance recipients (Dikki et al., 2014; Kaka & Abidin, 2014). Some women entrepreneurs have low educational backgrounds and could benefit from training that addresses issues such as entrepreneurial readiness, income generation, and business investments (Kaka & Abidin, 2014; Oluwatoyin, 2013).

The importance of an entrepreneurs' ability to contribute to job creation and the improvement of the livelihood of women entrepreneurs, their families, and communities due to access to microfinance cannot be overstated (Al-Shami, Majid, Rashid, & Hamid, 2014). Financial services alone cannot sustain the small businesses of women entrepreneurs (Al-Shami et al., 2014). In addition to offering microfinance services to women entrepreneurs, there is a need to integrate nonfinancial services, which would serve as a tool to help entrepreneurs to use the financial resources effectively (Al-Shami

et al., 2014).

Nonfinancial services such as training have the ability to augment the capacity of micro and small enterprise growth and its ability to create jobs in places such as South Africa (Al-Shami et al., 2014). It is important to note, however, that microfinance services alone are not able to reduce poverty within a society without the help of its government as it relates to the provision of basic infrastructural facilities (Ifelunini & Wosowei, 2012). These facilities include good roads, efficient transportation system, and adequate power supply (Ifelunini & Wosowei, 2012).

Summary and Conclusion

The purpose of this review was to study the literature surrounding what information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome barriers that influenced their business and economic development. The 5M framework as stated by Brush et al. (2009) provided the framework for this review. An assessment of the 5M framework offered insights into how motherhood is used as a metaphor to illustrate that the family and household may have a greater influence on women than it would on men (Brush et al., 2009). Also, macro and meso environment expressed factors such as cultural, economic, and societal norm expectations on women and the media's reflection of women entrepreneurs, including national policies, strategies, economic influences, services, and initiatives (Brush et al., 2009).

In the review of the literature, I also assessed topics such as entrepreneurship, particularly women entrepreneurs, small scale businesses, women's' motivations for becoming entrepreneurs, as well as barriers and challenges influencing women entrepreneurs. Most women entrepreneurs, particularly those in developing nations, face challenges such as business financing, cultural and environmental issues, and lack of required skills and education. Women entrepreneurs in Enugu State should be given equal treatment as their men counterparts and therefore, should encounter minimum and controllable barriers relating to their small scale businesses. The information presented in this review has provided a basis from which to understand the phenomenon under study; the information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome possible barriers that influence their business and economic development.

In Chapter 3, I will provide the methodology that was used for the study and a description of the qualitative research and the rationale for selecting it over quantitative research. Additionally, I will describe and present the rationale for choosing to conduct a mini ethnographic case study.

Chapter 3: Research Methodology

The purpose of this qualitative mini ethnographic case study was to explore what information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome possible barriers that influence their business and economic development. I collected and analyzed data related to the 15 participant women entrepreneurs. The information gathered in this study may illuminate the need for federal, state, or local government to focus on and help women entrepreneurs in Nigeria develop economically and reduce poverty levels (Ekpe et al., 2010; Idris & Agbim, 2015; Ighodalo, 2012). The results of this study may also help alleviate the need for women entrepreneurs in Nigeria to depend on their husbands, partners, and relatives (Ekpe et al., 2010; Nkpoyen & Eteng, 2012; Ogidi, 2014).

In this section, I will provide the research design, the rationale for conducting a mini ethnographic case study, and the research questions that guided this inquiry. I will also explain the selection of participants; data collection strategies; and data analysis, processing, and interpretation practices. Finally, I will present the role of the researcher, ethical considerations, and the summary.

Research Design and Rationale

The two general approaches associated with data collection and research interpretation are qualitative and quantitative research studies (Pathak, Jena, & Kalra, 2013; Peter, 2015; Rossetto, 2014). Qualitative research places emphasis on understanding a research inquiry as a humanistic or idealistic approach, and quantitative research is based on a numeric approach and methods that can be objectively made and propagated by other researchers (Erlingson & Brysiewicz, 2013; Morse & McEvoy, 2014; Pathak et al., 2013). Qualitative research produces nonnumeric data and is used as a way to comprehend the beliefs, experiences, attitude, behaviors, and dealings of individuals (Ketokivi & Choi, 2014; Pathak et al., 2013; Westerman, 2014).

Qualitative inquiry is an emergent, inductive, interpretive, and naturalistic approach to research that allows the study of people, cases, occurrences, social situations, and processes in their natural setting to make known in descriptive terms the meaning that individuals ascribe to their experiences of the world (Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013; Trotter, 2012; Yilmaz, 2013). The qualitative research methodology is appropriate when the researcher is exploring a new field of study or intends to discover and theorize conspicuous issues (Jamshed, 2014; Trotter, 2012; Whiteley, 2012). I conducted this study using a qualitative research method; specifically, a mini ethnographic case study research design, as it allowed for an in-depth understanding of the research question.

Several qualitative data collection methods have been developed to allow for an in-depth and extensive understanding of the issues through their textual explanations, the most common types being interviewing and observation (Hietanen, Sihvonen, Tikkanen, & Mattila, 2014; Jamshed, 2014; Singh, 2014; Vohra, 2014). It is important to note that qualitative research does not have its basis within one particular methodology, and it does not belong to a particular discipline (Cronin, 2014; Harland, 2014; Yilmaz, 2013). There are a variety of theoretical patterns, methodologies, research approaches, and methods associated with qualitative research studies (Peter, 2015; Thomson et al., 2014; Yilmaz, 2013). They include descriptive study, case study, field research, direct observation,

ethnography, narrative inquiry, grounded theory, and others (Jamshed, 2014, Tanggaard, 2014; Wegener, 2014).

Researchers study what is assumed to be a socially-constructed dynamic realism through a setting that qualitative research deems valuable, flexible, expressive, all inclusive, and context sensitive, allowing for an in-depth description of the case under study from the view of the individuals involved (Almutairi et al., 2014; McCoy, 2012; Jamshed, 2014). The intent of the qualitative research is to understand how meaning is created and is given to social experiences (Cole, 2013; Ghaffar-Kucher, 2015; Jamshed, 2014). The researcher can form a close, compassionate relationship with the focus or case under study (Jamshed, 2014; Mistry, 2012; Shrivastava, Shrivastava, & Ramasamy, 2014).

Qualitative research is used to address *how* questions and not how many and allows the researcher to gain real understanding from the viewpoint of those being studied (Camfield & Palmer-Jones, 2013; Prowse & Camfield, 2013; Smith & Noble, 2014). A qualitative research paper can become irrelevant based on the following reasons: vague statement of research question, unclear paper structure, the use of improper methodologies, sample selection bias, unsuitable explanation of methods and analysis, and many more (Gibbins, Bhatia, Forbes, & Reid, 2014; Rocha Pereira, 2012; Tanggaard, 2014).

The focus of my study was to explore what information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome barriers that influenced their business and economic development. The design choice for this study was a mini ethnographic case study. A mini ethnographic case study allows the researcher to gain a rich and full understanding of the case under study with the participants in their natural environment (Case, Todd, & Kral, 2014; Small et al., 2014; White et al., 2009). I chose a mini ethnographic case study design to address the research question; this approach was suitable because it helped me to explore the social construct of the reality the participants experience. A case study enables a researcher to understand the modern phenomenon in a tangible way (Sepehr & Aghapour, 2012; White et al., 2009; Winther, 2013).

A case study also is a detailed, intensive study that enables a researcher to gain insight into broader, yet specific issues that are related to a case or cases and uses a combination of data collections methods to move past shallow explanation to a deeper empirical understanding of the case or cases under study (Barden, 2013; Peña, 2013; White et al., 2009). White et al. (2009) suggested that one of the important characteristics associated with a case study are its boundedness and specificity. Simply put, case studies makes provision for the complexities of real life settings and the varied techniques used in case studies produce textual, narrative, and numerical data (Alsaidi & Mo, 2014; White et al., 2009; Winther, 2013).

Ethnography, on the other hand, tries to gain an in-depth understanding of the participants in a given environment and the meaning they attribute to the phenomena through rigorous and exhaustive study of the chosen location (Bensaid, 2015; Storesund & McMurray, 2009; White et al., 2009). Rigor in ethnography comes through the experience of being in the field because there are no shortcuts (Horst, Hjorth, & Tacchi, 2012; Tanggaard, 2014; White et al., 2009). This design does the work of describing

culture by studying situations in real time as they occur in their natural setting (Barden, 2013; Cruz & Higginbottom, 2013; Higginbottom, Pillay, & Boadu, 2013).

Ethnography describes culture having evolved from anthropology for the purpose of cultivating a rich and comprehensive description of the community under study by closely focusing on small groups or individual establishments within their natural setting (Barden, 2013; Tanggaard, 2014; White et al., 2009). Based on the depth and intensity associated with case studies and ethnography, the combination of both approaches is capable of producing vivid, rich, and thick descriptions gained from participants (Peter, 2015; Tsang, 2014; White et al., 2009). Further, due to the nature of case studies, they are much more comparable to ethnography than not because case study design evolved out of ethnography (Verner & Abdullah, 2012; White et al., 2009; Zivkovic, 2012). Case study design could be combined with ethnography because a case study will allow the researcher to gain rich and full understanding of the case under study in their natural environment (Boblin, Ireland, Kirkpatrick, & Robertson, 2013; Harland, 2014; White et al., 2009).

The use of mini ethnographic case study methodology for this research was critical because, as Pathak et al. (2013), Storesund and McMurray (2009), and White et al. (2009) asserted, it allows the voice of the voiceless to be heard in a way that it is meaningful to the participants. Ethnography is valued for its ability to understand and interpret meaning and practice of everyday life and as a result, have become increasingly diverse (Bensaid, 2015; Granot, Brashear, & Motta, 2012; Horst et al., 2012). There are different perspectives associated with both case studies and ethnographies (Beatty, 2014;

Johnston, 2013; White et al., 2009). For example, cases are objects; therefore, the objects of inquiry are alike and yet separate enough in both case studies and ethnographies that they can be treated similarly as they relate to the cases that share a common phenomenon (Dhanda, 2013; Gürcüm & Arslan, 2015; White et al., 2009).

Descriptive in nature, the purpose of this research was to study women entrepreneurs through in-depth interviews, direct observation, reflective journaling, and field notes. I developed interview questions based on the research question and generated qualitative themes to ascertain any existence of alignment between the participants' lived experiences and the interview outcome. As previously stated, I relied on other sources of data collection method such as direct observation, reflective journal entries, and field notes. I triangulated all the data from these data collection instruments, an approach that is primarily a characteristic of case study research method.

The mixed research methodology incorporates both qualitative and quantitative methods of inquiry within a study (Agerfalk, 2013; Fielding, 2012; Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013). The mixed research method enables a researcher to exploit the benefits associated with both research paradigms; however, the understanding is that combining both are complex, time consuming, and demanding (Covell, Sidani, & Ritchie, 2012 Fielding, 2012; Venkatesh, Brown, & Bala, 2013). The mixed research method was not suitable for my study unlike quantitative studies that seek to validate relationships through measurements of concepts, variables, and hypotheses, qualitative approaches such as mini ethnographic case study seek to provide a description, interpretation, and exploration of a particular phenomenon (Agerfalk, 2013; Alfonso et al., 2012; Ridde &

de Sardan, 2015). Other qualitative research methods such as phenomenology, grounded theory, and narrative research approaches were not suitable for this study because the goal of this study was to explore and gain rich and full understanding of the case under study in the natural environment where it is occurring (Englander, 2012; Klehr, 2012; White et al., 2009).

Using qualitative research approach enables a researcher to provide data that is relevant (Ghaffar-Kucher, 2015; Ivey, 2012; Yin, 2014). Case study research aims to derive a close or an in-depth understanding of a single or a small number of cases, set in the real world context (Pena, 2013; Yin, 2014; Zachariadis, Scott, & Barrett, 2013). It also intends to produce an invaluable and deep understanding and an insightful appreciation of the cases, which can result in new learning and the real world behavior and the meaning attached to it (Alsaidi & Mo, 2014; Sepehr & Aghapour, 2012; Yin, 2014).

Role of the Researcher

Unlike quantitative research where statistical procedures are applied to ensure validity and reliability of the research findings, qualitative researchers employ methods and strategies to ensure the trustworthiness of the findings (Nobel & Smith, 2015; Sanjari, Bahramnezhad, Fomani, Shoghi, & Cheraghi, 2014; Street & Ward, 2012). For example, a researcher is to account for personal biases that may affect the findings of the study (Fielding, 2012; Smith & Noble, 2014; Tanggaard, 2014). Accounting for and acknowledging biases as well as constant reflection ensures adequate depth and significance of data collection and analysis (Kennedy-Lewis, 2012; Walker, Read, &

Priest, 2013; Wegener, 2014).

Qualitative research allows the participants to have a voice in the research process as it heightens the contribution of everyone connected to the study (Englander, 2012; Pathak et al., 2013; Trotter, 2012). A quantitative study also enables the participants to be empowered through the research process, as they are actively involved in the study and can voice their individual experiences in the form of interviews (Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013; Pathak et al., 2013; Rowley, 2012). Unlike quantitative research, the rapport between the participant and the researcher in a qualitative research process is usually informal (Kendall & Halliday, 2014; Mikecz, 2012; Pathak et al., 2013).

The researcher is also responsible for ensuring that participants have the opportunity to validate the findings through member checking (Harper & Cole, 2012; Loh, 2013; Paull, Boudville, & Sitlington, 2013). I connected and met with the potential participants, by contacting them through telephone and in person to request participation in the study. With the understanding that bias can occur at any stage in the research process, I mitigated bias in my study by implementing a qualitative mini ethnographic case study design which was an appropriate design for this study. Additionally, it is important to note that researchers conducting case study research are susceptible to bias; as this type of research approach requires that the researcher understand the framework of the issue before hand (Smith & Noble, 2014; Tanggaard, 2014; Yin, 2014). To mitigate these issues, a researcher should endeavor to disclose initial findings and perceptions (Lambotte & Meunier, 2013; Mikkelsen, 2013; Smith & Noble, 2014). For this study, I collected data through in-depth semistructured interviews, direct observation, journal

entries, and field notes.

In addition to the interview, I took on the role of direct observer, as it enabled me to form relationships with the participants. The major strength associated with direct observation is that it could be inconspicuous and mainly does not require direct interaction with participants. It, therefore, can show the discrepancies between what people said during the interview and casual conversations and what they essentially do (Paradis, Leslie, & Gropper, 2015; Singh, 2014; Ward, Ghali, Graham, & Lemaire, 2014). The role of a direct observer also permitted me to be seen as an insider, which could afford me access to information that is usually available to those considered insiders.

I also used reflective journal entries as a data collection method; doing so enabled me to engage in self analysis and reflection, which are important parts of field research. This practice gives the researcher an opportunity to reflect on their role concerning the phenomenon that is being observed through writing (Buda & McIntosh, 2012; Hayman, Willkes, & Jackson, 2012; Walker et al., 2013). Although I used purposeful convenience sampling for this study, most of the participants were unknown to me prior to the study. Also, while I am an entrepreneur, my business is based in the United States, it is unrelated to the businesses of the participants. An entrepreneur is one who starts up, runs, and grows a business (Atef & Al-Balushi, 2015; Jacques, 2012; Seenivasan, 2014). I run a marketing consulting firm, and I did not share my entrepreneurial experiences with the participants.

Methodology

For this study, I adopted the qualitative method to explore the information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome possible barriers that influence their business and economic development. Qualitative research can be used as a means to add a different dimension to studies that cannot be obtained through measurement of variable alone (Fryer, Mackintosh, Stanley, & Crichton, 2012; Pathak et al., 2013; Saunders & Rojon, 2014).

Participant Selection

A purposeful convenience sampling of 15 women entrepreneurs from three local markets in Enugu State, Nigeria was used to ensure that all participants shared a common experience as entrepreneurs in the marketplace. Purposive sampling stems from the understanding that participants have precise knowledge or experience which is seen as an interest to the investigation (Bagnasco et al., 2014; Higginbottom et al., 2013; Palinkas et al., 2013). More especially, I used the criterion sampling technique as discussed by Duan, Bhaumik, Palinkas, and Hoagwood (2014), Ishak and Baka (2014), and Palinkas et al. (2013). Purposeful sampling is commonly used in qualitative research as it enables the researcher to identify and select information rich cases related to the case under study (Palinkas et al., 2013; Robinson, 2014; Roy, Zvonkovic, Goldberg, Sharp, & LaRossa, 2015).

With the different types of purposeful sampling strategies, criterion sampling may be the most commonly used (Fugard, & Potts, 2015; Ishak & Baka, 2014; Palinkas et al., 2013). Purposeful sampling involves the ability to choose persons or groups of people that are especially well informed about or are proficient with the case under study (Higginbottom et al., 2013; Robinson, 2014; Palinkas et al., 2013). Purposeful sampling helps to fine tune and narrow down the population, finalize the sample, and understand the scopes associated with the context (Bagnasco et al., 2014; Poulis et al., 2013; Robinson, 2014). When research sampling strategies are joined, it may lead to a more appropriate finding, which could be consistent with recent developments (Duan et al., 2014; Palinkas et al., 2013; Poulis et al., 2013).

I asked 15 women entrepreneurs from three local markets in Enugu State, Nigeria to describe their experiences including any challenges in starting their businesses in the past or currently, as they strive towards economic development. Since these women were unknown to me, I went to three local markets in Enugu State and asked five women from each marketplace if they would be willing to participate in my study. I contacted potential participants by telephone and in person to request participation in the study. Once they agreed, I explained what the study entailed and how it would affect them.

These women are expected to be able to share and articulate their experiences and perspectives of any challenges they may have faced now or in the past as it relates to business and economic development through entrepreneurship. Marshall, Cardon, Poddar and Fontenot (2013), Trotter (2012), and Zachariadis et al. (2013) noted that qualitative methodologists do not seem to agree on a precise sample size; however, they agreed that the number of interviews needed to attain saturation could be affected by various factors. Some of those factors include the nature and scope of the researcher, the number and quality of interviews per participant, researcher experience, and sampling procedure

(Dworkin, 2012; Marshall et al., 2013; O'Reilly& Parker, 2012). Marshall et al. (2013), Guetterman (2015), and Griffith (2013) indicated that there are variations in sample size in all research designs. Grounded theory and single case studies, for example, were inclined to have several studies with small sample sizes as well as various studies with large sample sizes (Barratt, Ferris, & Lenton, 2015; Catallo, Jack, Ciliska, & MacMillan, 2013; Petty et al., 2012).

Concerning grounded theories that had smaller sample sizes (20 or fewer interviews) with no justification for the sample size used, Cocks and Torgerson (2013), Robinson (2014), and Marshall et al. (2013) suggested questioning whether saturation was reached. On the other hand, regarding grounded theory studies that had 40 or more interviews, Marshall et al. (2013), Morse (2015), and Roy et al. (2015) questioned if enough time was devoted to analyzing and reporting in depth, rich and thick content, given the amount of information gathered from the data collection process. The benefits associated with small sample size is that enough time is devoted to analyzing and reporting in depth, rich and thick content given the amount of information gathered from the data collection process (Barratt et al., 2015; Marshall et al., 2013; Peter, 2015).

One of the disadvantages concerning small sample size is lack of transferability (Marshall et al., 2013; O'Reilly& Parker, 2012; Trotter, 2012). Similarly, the advantages of large sample sizes are that it can ensure that saturation is reached (Fram, 2013; Marshall et al., 2013; Olds & Howe-Walsh, 2014). The disadvantages could be attributed to not devoting enough time to analyzing and reporting indepth, rich and thick content given the amount of information gathered from the data collection process (Bagnasco et al., 2014; Marshall et al., 2013; Sabbour, Lasi, & Tessin, 2012).

Sample sizes that are selected based on purposeful sampling strategy are usually determined in connection with data saturation (Dworkin, 2012; Marshall et al., 2013; Oppong, 2013). This is because, theoretical saturation conveys the perception that purposive sampling has a component of the process associated with it, which indirectly involves a process of data collection that works together with data review and analysis (Cleary, Horsfall, & Hayter, 2014; Dworkin, 2012; Fram, 2013). The data collection process can end when no additional insight into the research problem being addressed is found (Cleary et al., 2014; Dworkin, 2012; Lamas, Anundsson, Stare, & Jacobsson, 2014). Some scholars have suggested several ways to determine when the data are saturated in qualitative research (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Lamas et al., 2014; Walker, 2012).

For example, some scholars recommended using percentages or other quantitative procedures, while others recommended experimenting with codebooks in qualitative research (Edwards, 2014; Van Teijlingen et al., 2012; Walker, 2012). Supporting the affirmation that no concrete solution exists across qualitative research methods concerning ways to determine when the data is saturated (Altin, Passon, Kautz-Freimuth, Berger, & Stock, 2015; Snelgrove, 2014; Walker, 2012). Data saturation is defined as a collection of data in a study until no new information can be obtained from the data (Edwards, 2014; Fusch & Ness, 2015; Walker, 2012). The availability, location, and flexibility of the participants did not minimize the participation in this study because I conducted the study in the local markets where their businesses were located. All participants I selected for this study were women entrepreneurs living in Enugu State,

Nigeria and have owned a small scale business for at least three years.

Instrumentation

Given that the researcher is the primary data collection tool, reflexivity is vital for qualitative research (Lips-Wiersma & Mills, 2013; Rhodes, Dawson, Kelly, & Renshall, 2013; Rossetto, 2014). As a result, the researcher is to be aware of their prejudices (Kozlov, Zverev, & Zvereva, 2014; Rhodes et al., 2013; Rocha Pereira, 2012). Rather than strive to bracket them out, it is important that the researcher manages and mitigates them (Kendall & Halliday, 2014; Radley & Chamberlain, 2012; Rhodes et al., 2013). Other data collection instruments that I used for this study included a semistructured interview, direct observation, reflective journal entries, and field notes. I used information from the women entrepreneurs as the basis from which to assess possible barriers to their business and economic development.

Semistructured interviews. An interview is the most common form of data collection in qualitative research, a crucial moment in the research process, but yet, entails several challenging aspects (Haahr, Norlyk, & Hall, 2013; Jamshed, 2014; Peredaryenko & Krauss, 2013). It is a form of a framework that requires its practices and standards to be recorded, archived, challenged, and reinforced, it also requires that knowledge is gained, but most importantly, gives the interviewer a lot of extra information that can be added to verbal answer given by the participant (Irvine, Drew, & Sainsbury, 2013; Jamshed, 2014; Peredaryenko & Krauss, 2013). It is also used when the type of research being conducted will benefit from an open framework (Anyan, 2013; Cairney & St Denny, 2015; Pathak & Intratat, 2012).

Some scholars suggested that researchers use unstructured interviews when conducting field work that is long term, because it allows participants to express their views in their way and pace (Dana, Dawes, & Peterson, 2013; Jamshed, 2014; Mikecz, 2012; Peredaryenko & Krauss, 2013). It also allows them to share their views with minimal structure on participants' response or when a more useful information can be obtained from focused yet conventional two way communication with the interviewee (Dana et al., 2013; Jamshed, 2014; Mikecz, 2012; Peredaryenko & Krauss, 2013). Semistructured interviews are in-depth interviews that allow the participants to answer present, and open ended questions (Gibbins et al., 2014; Jamshed, 2014; Onwuegbuzie & Byers, 2014). Semistructured indepth interviews are mostly used when interviewing one person or a group of persons and lasts about 30 minutes to an hour; it also seems to provide a more useful data when the sample size is relatively small (Fryer et al., 2012; Jamshed, 2014; Pathak & Intratat, 2012).

A major advantage associated with face to face semistructured interviews is the provision of social cues such as voice, intonation, and body language (Altin et al., 2015; Irvine et al., 2013; Shamma & Hassan, 2013). This form of interview is largely based on semistructured interview guide, a representation of topics or questions that need to be explored by the researcher (Baskarada, 2014; Jamshed, 2014; Nguyen, 2015). The use of an interview guide serves the purpose of ensuring that the interview time is wisely spent and that the interview focuses on the topic of discussion (Granot et al., 2012; Jamshed, 2014; Sullivan, 2012). To effectively capture the interview data, researchers record the interview once proper permission is attained, because recording the interview enables the

researcher to focus on the content of the interview (Jamshed, 2014; Redlich-Amirav & Higginbottom, 2014; Zargham-Boroujeni, Jafarzadeh-Kenarsari, Ghahiri, & Habibi, 2014).

A disadvantage of a semistructured interview could arise from a novice researcher's inability to recognize where to ask prompt questions or probe responses during the interview. Once the interview is completed, the researcher needs to transcribe the interview and analyze the data (Doody & Noonan, 2013; Onwuegbuzie & Byers, 2014; Van Teijlingen et al., 2012). Interviews are also liable to be biased, as the participant may want to please the researcher by saying what he or she believes the researcher may want them to say. Additionally, the researcher's views could create bias by expressing surprise or disapproval about a comment made by a participant (Jamshed, 2014; Smith & Noble, 2014; Tanggaard, 2014).

In addition to serving as a tool for interview questions, the interview protocol can include scripts of what the researcher will say, before, during, and after the interview (Dima & Bucuță, 2016; Jacob & Furgerson, 2012; Lauckner, Paterson, & Krupa, 2012). It can serve as a tool to remind the researcher when informed consent can be collected, as well as when to ask about information that the researcher is interested in (Cheraghi, Ghiyasvandian, & Aarabi, 2015; Foti, Eleazar, & Furphy, 2014; Jacob & Furgerson, 2012, Sanjari et al., 2014). As a result, the interview protocol becomes a practical guide for leading qualitative researchers through the interview process, in addition to containing a set of research questions (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012; Lauckner et al., 2012; Zargham-Boroujeni et al., 2014). Interview questions were designed to gather information on subjective and objective measures of the barriers and their influence on women entrepreneurs. Nine questions about the past and present barriers were used to guide the interview. I asked participants to respond to questions such as reasons for becoming entrepreneurs, sources of startup capital, whether they have access to formal financial institutions or microloans, and others. Questions relating to other forms of business training, mentoring, and coaching was important to this study because some women entrepreneurs often lack entrepreneurial skills and education needed for business development and growth. The ability to ask questions concerning other forms of business training allowed me to control for other learning experiences, such as personal learning and professional service consultations.

Direct observation and field notes. Observation can be used as a form of data collection when due process and attention to details are applied (Baškarada, 2014; Bloomer et al., 2012; Walshe, Ewing, & Griffiths, 2012). It comprises of data collection that occurs by methodically watching or identifying one or more events or exchanges to address or inform one or some research questions (Denham & Onwuegbuzie, 2013; Klehr, 2012; Tanggaard, 2014). Observation also allows the researcher to observe and document behaviors as it is happening within the environment by observing interactions of those within the setting (Baggs et al., 2012; Crede & Borrego, 2013; Leslie et al., 2014). It also allows the researcher to focus on natural setting, contributing to the explanation and the understanding of the phenomena under study (Crede & Borrego, 2013; Lambotte & Meunier, 2013; Rodríguez & Bélanger, 2014).

The reason behind observation as a data collection method is to offer a detailed and indepth description of the setting being observed, for example, cultural and personal factors about the population under study could be better understood (Tobin et al., 2015; Walshe et al., 2012; Zhao & Ji, 2014). Several methods associated with the observation that a researcher can employ, include participant observer, an essential method of ethnographic research; enables the researcher to be immersed in the research process (Bloomer et al., 2012; Evans, 2012; Jaimangal-Jones, 2014). As a participant observer, the researcher becomes a part of the environment in addition to being a researcher, therefore, the researcher and the subjects are cognizant of their research association (Bedwell & Banks, 2013; Bloomer et al., 2012; Zhao & Ji, 2014).

The participant observer method of data collection is suitable when the researcher strives to gain a social understanding through time spent with those who reside in the area under study, by developing a relationship with them (Bloomer et al., 2012; Mehl, Robbins, & Grobe 2012; Tomko et al., 2014). Since this type of observation usually carries on for an extended period, there is an increased risk associated with the researcher's tendency to lose focus and go native (Granot et al., 2012; Lopez-Dicastillo & Belintxon, 2014; Mackellar, 2013).

The nonparticipant observer form of data collection enables the researcher to conduct the research as an independent non judgmental individual who does not become a part of the group under study (Alkerwi et al., 2010; Bloomer et al., 2012; Walters & Godbold, 2014). The nonparticipant observer can join and rejoin the group when necessary, through conversation and interactions as a way to build relationships with the subjects (Bloomer et al., 2012; Rodríguez & Bélanger, 2014; Tomko et al., 2014).

Unlike participant observation, nonparticipant observation tends to be more formal, and it enables the researcher to employ both the role of an observer and a researcher (Baggs et al., 2012; Bloomer et al., 2012; Zhao & Ji, 2014). The benefits of non direct observation are that subjects can sometimes feel more comfortable to share more information with the clients because they feel that the researchers are not a part of the team (Bloomer et al., 2012; Jaimangal-Jones, 2014; Walters & Godbold, 2014). Being an outsider could allow the observer to take notice of subtle changes and distinctions that occurred with different groups of research subjects, something that may elude an insider (Bloomer et al., 2012; Bughardt et al., 2012; Redlich-Amirav & Higginbottom, 2014). The researcher needs to carefully consider the setting where the observation will take place as he or she usually does not have control over who would be in the field at any point during the research process (Bloomer et al., 2012; Shrivastava et al., 2014; Small et al., 2014).

Conducting field ethnography is unique because the setting is an unfolding ongoing process that comprises numerous actors with varied interests in a range of platforms (Tanggaard, 2014; Wegener, 2014; Zilber, 2014). Additionally, the depth of comprehension that is sought with ethnography usually requires that multiple data collection methods such as participant observation, interviews, and documentary analysis are employed (Cole, 2013; Higginbottom et al., 2013; Ivey, 2012). Field level ethnography can present its challenges, however, as it tends to develop in exceptional and surprising ways, the researcher must ensure that several moments of reflectivity occur during that process (Buda & McIntosh, 2012; Higginbottom et al., 2013; Mikkelsen, 2013) the nature of ethnographic research makes reflexivity important (Kara, 2013; Higginbottom et al., 2013; Mistry, 2012). Since the research process can be a challenging undertaking, researchers should never forget the reason for the research and the ethical boundaries, by maintaining perspective (Covell et al., 2012; Higginbottom et al., 2013; Kennedy-Lewis, 2012). Further, it is important for researchers to reflect purposefully both formally and informally, as a way to maintain perspective and gain a deeper understanding of the study (Ghaffar-Kucher, 2015; Higginbottom et al., 2013; Wegener, 2014).

Reflective journaling can become a part of the research method. It can also be a place where the researcher could question themselves regarding the method, framework, as well as the assumptions used throughout the research process (Baskarada, 2014; Kendall & Halliday, 2014; Peredaryenko & Krauss, 2013). As a result, it can help a researcher make his or her thoughts, experiences, and feelings a visible aspect of the research process (Baskarada, 2014; Kendall & Halliday, 2014; Peredaryenko & Krauss, 2013).

Reflective journaling can be used as a way to alleviate some of the challenges associated with observation because conducting an observation can make a researcher feel like an intruder into the lives of others (Denshire, 2014; Higginbottom et al., 2013; Miller, 2014). To alleviate that feeling and gain perspective of the situation, researchers must reflect on the feelings and ruminate the circumstances that led to that feeling through reflective journaling (Applebaum, 2014; Cumming-Potvin, 2013; Higginbottomet al., 2013). Naturalistic observation occurs in the field for ethnographers; the field is the cultural setting as it allows the researcher to study the subjects in their terms and space (Bedwell & Banks, 2013; Brown, Tragesser, Tomko, Mehl, & Trull, 2013; Chikweche & Fletcher, 2012).

It also enables the researchers to spend quality time with participants in their natural setting, allowing for an indepth understanding of the participants beyond what was articulated during the interview process (Campos, Graesch, Repetti, Bradbury, & Ochs, 2009; Chikweche & Fletcher, 2012; Evans, 2012). Listening to and observing informal conversation amongst the participants proves to be important, as researchers can quote the participants verbatim (Chikweche & Fletcher, 2012; Fear et al., 2014; Jaimangal-Jones, 2014). Researchers must be satisfied at the end of the study knowing that they have conducted sufficient observation, enough to capture a variety of themes associated with the study (Denham & Onwuegbuzie, 2013; Lopez-Dicastillo & Belintxon, 2014; Mackellar, 2013). These themes can include rich and thick data from participants' nonverbal communications as more can be gleaned from what an individual did not utter than what was said (Denham & Onwuegbuzie, 2013; Lämås, Anundsson, Stare, & Jacobsson, 2014; Leslie, Paradis, Gropper, Reeves, & Kitto, 2014).

Reflective journaling. Self analysis and reflection are important parts of field research as biases can be mitigated through journaling or memoing throughout the research process (Rhodes et al., 2013; Smith & Noble, 2014; Whiteley, 2012). Reflection can be defined as an expertise enhancing metacognitive tacit procedure where processes are informed by personal experience (Anderson, 2012; Applebaum, 2014; Charon & Hermann, 2012). Reflexivity allows the researcher to turn the lens back to him or her (Berger, 2013; Charon & Hermann, 2012; Cumming-Potvin, 2013).

As part of journaling or memoing, the researcher can choose to outline a situational map to discover networks of influencers and others involved in the research process (Denshire, 2014; Miller, 2014; Rhodes et al., 2013). The aim of journaling is to document and contemplate on experiences as a way of thinking, understanding, and scholarship (Hayman et al., 2012; Hietanen et al., 2014; Siwale, 2015). When used as part of research, journaling can be instrumental in two ways: first, as a way to document and contemplate on research practice, or as a data collection tool, where information is recorded for future analysis (Hayman et al., 2012).

Reflective journaling helps bring the unconscious into conscious, and can also be an active interior state that uses cognitive, effective, resourceful, and innovative means to perceive, represent in language, and as a result explain one's lived experience (Al-karasneh, 2014; Charon & Hermann, 2012; Dean, Sykes, Agostinho, & Clements, 2012). It is a researcher's conscious and thoughtful effort to be attuned to his or her participants as well as the way the process of the research is presented (Berger, 2013; Radley & Chamberlain, 2012; Snyder, 2012).

That way, the researcher can contemplate on ways in which who they are may either assist or impede the process of making meaning of the phenomena under study (Berger, 2013; Edgar, Francis-Coad, & Connaughton, 2013; Hendrix, O'Malley, Sullivan, & Carmon, 2012). It also helps to clarify thoughts and concepts, consequently developing a connection between the various parts of the research process in addition to bridging the gap as it relates to theory and practice (Lamb, 2013; Raterink, 2016; Schuessler, Wilder, & Byrd, 2012). The process of reflective journaling involves cognitive activity, one that encompasses a sophisticated way of thinking (Lamb, 2013; Sheridan, Kotevski, & Dean, 2014; Youssef, 2012).

Journaling helps a researcher evaluate, reassess, and qualify their experiences in the research process (Applebaum, 2014; Lamb, 2013; Miller, 2014). For researchers, the ability to gain insights about research while recording their experiences has the likelihood of developing a variety of research related skills such as critical thinking, analysis, and creativity (Denshire, 2014; Lamb, 2013; Miller, 2014). Benefits associated with keeping a reflective journal include self discovery, personal well-being, and the ability to support student success (Camfield & Palmer-Jones, 2013; Denshire, 2014; Everett, 2013).

When combined with other data collection methods, journaling can enable a researcher to collect rich qualitative data as practicing journaling enables researchers to share their thoughts, ideas, feelings, and experiences, through writing (Charon & Hermann, 2012; Cumming-Potvin, 2013; Hayman et al., 2012). Some disadvantages to journaling include poor participation, lack of clarity about content expectation, as some have reported not knowing the types of information that are required to be added to the journal (Hayman et al., 2012; Lew & Schmidt, 2011; Toros & Medar, 2015). Others have argued that it lacks objectivity, and the researcher can over indulge in self or exaggerate what is recorded (Lamb, 2013; Raterink, 2016; Toros & Medar, 2015).

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

Conducting a mini ethnographic case study research requires that multiple

methods of data collection be employed (Beatty, 2014; Small et al., 2014; White et al., 2009). Six sources of evidence that are practicable for this type of study's data collection process include documentation, archival records, interviews, direct observations, participant observations, and physical artifacts (Aluwihare-Samaranayake, 2012; Baskarada, 2014; Yin, 2014). This data collection process should follow three principles (a) use of multiple sources, (b) the creation of ethnographic and case study databases (for the organization of evidence collected), and (c) maintenance of evidence collected to allow for the reliability of the data collected (Yin, 2014). For the purpose of this study, the data collection process followed four distinct protocols: semistructured interviews, direct observation, reflective journal entries, and field notes. These sources of information were used to gather data related to possible barriers influencing the business and economic development of small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, now or in the past.

Interviews allow participants to respond to open-ended questions in their words and enable the researcher to comprehend participants' lives, as they are lived (Birchall, 2014; Doody & Noonan, 2013; Lunnay, Borlagdan, McNaughton, & Ward, 2015). The contextual accounts of participants' experiences and their interpretations of these experiences are often generated through interviews (De Massis & Kotlar, 2014; Doody & Noonan, 2013; Rowley, 2012). The exchange of information between the researcher and the participants during interviews may benefit the participants in a way that affords them the opportunity to explore events in their lives (Doody & Noonan, 2013; Snelgrove, 2014; Terry, Garey, & Carey, 2014). I conducted indepth semistructured interviews as a way to explore what information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome barriers that influenced their business and economic development. In addition to questions concerning their experiences as women entrepreneurs, I conducted an indepth interview as a way to gather initial demographic information (age, education level, business type, business training, start up capital and the means in which it was obtained). I conducted interviews with participants utilizing exploratory, open- ended questions to gather rich and thick data about their experiences as women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria. I also conducted direct observation (see Appendix C), as a way to understand the daily lives of the participants, as well as the use of field notes and reflective journal entries as a way to better understand the participants' challenges and experiences as well.

Once the consent forms were given to the participant, I conducted interviews with them. The length of each interview, however, was dependent on the participant's response to the interview questions. I conducted 15 interviews for this study, one interview per participant, using the same interview questions and protocol (see Appendix A and B), while at the same time recording each interview session to ensure accuracy and easy retrieval with the permission of the participant. As suggested by Cheraghi et al. (2015), Jamshed (2014), and Lamas et al. (2014), I took notes during the interview as a way to capture additional thoughts and ideas that were generated during the interview.

The data collection method described above enabled me to obtain information regarding the research question. The central research question guiding this study was as

follows: What information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome possible barriers that influence their business and economic development? Since qualitative research creates mountains of data, it is important that the researcher creates strategies for planning, organizing, collecting, managing, storing, retrieving, and writing about the data created.

As a result, the researcher is encouraged to make use of qualitative research software such as Ethnograph, ATLASti, or NVivo, to help maintain all the data that was collected during field research (Gorecki, Brown, Briggs, & Nixon, 2010; Johnson, Dunlap, & Benoit, 2010; White, Oelke, & Friesen, 2012). To ensure the ease of data retrieval, I organized all research data using an electronic filing system, which were arranged in chronological order according to date, type, and time of data collection. Once I completed the interview process, I transcribed the electronic data and interview notes. After I transcribed the data, I summarized the responses and then returned to my participants to verify my interpretation through member checking, after which I began the coding process.

The research data are securely stored on my personal computer using an electronic encryption (password protection) in addition to printed hard copies, and another electronic storage media as a backup. I sent letters of appreciation to the participants once the study was completed to thank them for participating in the study. The participants' names were represented using pseudonyms, as a way to protect their identities. I ensured that no hard copies and electronic storage media were accessible by anyone other than me. The research data are in a safe and fireproof location to prevent the

loss of data due to unforeseeable circumstance. The data is retained for a minimum of 5 years and then destroyed as directed by Walden University.

Data Analysis Plan

The aim of data analysis in qualitative research is to deduce the data and the subsequent themes to help understand the phenomenon under study (Baskarada, 2014; Sangster-Gromley, 2013; Sargeant, 2012). Data analysis is most often confused with content analysis, which is conducted to categorize and explain the result (Sanjari et al., 2014; Sargeant, 2012; Vaismoradi, Turunen, & Bondas, 2013). Content analysis is the method used to classify written or oral material into categories that are identifiable (Cho & Lee, 2014; Vohra, 2014; Wahyuni, 2012). This type of analysis can be effectively used in examining any communication material, including open ended survey questions, narrative responses, observation, interviews, focus groups, and others (Cho & Lee, 2014; Griffiths, 2016; Lindhardt et al., 2015).

Qualitative content analysis is a research method for a subjective explanation of the content of a text data through a logical taxonomy process of coding and pattern identification (Cho & Lee, 2014; Ritter, Broers, & Elger, 2013; Zargham-Boroujeni et al., 2014). It is also a method for thoroughly cataloging the meaning of qualitative material (Bozkurt et al., 2015; Brown, Hughes, & Delaney, 2015; Cho & Lee, 2014). The qualitative content analysis enables a researcher to utilize the inductive, deductive approaches or a combination of the two when conducting the analysis (Cho & Lee, 2014; Onwuegbuzie, Leech, & Collins, 2012; Reilly, 2013).

An inductive method can be useful when very little information is known about

the case under study, therefore, codes, categories, or themes are directly extracted from the data (Allemann & Sund-Levander, 2015; Brown & Gardner, 2015; Cho & Lee, 2014). Content analysis also allows the researcher to mine noticeable as well as underlying information from the data (Cho & Lee, 2014). Conducting a qualitative research analysis involves a researcher's ability to uncover and understand what the data is trying to inform him or her (Cho & Lee, 2014; Rowley, 2012; Zivkovic, 2012). Coding and labeling a qualitative study allows for the emergence of themes, as it requires that a researcher can define the sentences, phrases, and paragraphs attained during the interview process and arrange it in such a way that commonalities and themes among the data will be identified (Cho & Lee, 2014; Dasgupta; 2015; Sangster-Gromley, 2013).

With the ongoing need for operational and candid strategies to be used by qualitative researchers to analyze data, a method for data identification, labeling, and coding known as content analysis was developed (Collier, Moffatt, & Perry, 2015; Elo et al., 2014; Griffiths, 2016). Content analysis is exclusively used to classify, organize, and summarize data, and can be used when a researcher has collected qualitative data through, interviews, focus groups, observation, and documentary analysis (Elo et al., 2014; Vaismoradi et al., 2013; Vohra, 2014). Sargeant (2012) noted another type of analysis, known as interpretive analysis, which can lead to an indepth understanding of the study results. The interpretive analysis consists of three stages, which include deconstruction, interpretation, and reconstruction. These three stages occur after interview transcription, so the data is ready for analysis (Callary, Rathwell, & Young, 2015; Lauckner, Paterson, & Krupa, 2012; Sargeant, 2012).

Deconstruction is similar to content analysis, as it involves the breaking down of data into several parts to understand what is included in it (Bozkurt et al., 2015; Hale, Pathipati, Zan, & Jethwani, 2014; Sargeant, 2012). This process requires the researcher to read, reread the interview transcripts, and reduce the data into categories or codes that can describe the content of the transcribed data (Griffiths, 2016; Sargeant, 2012; Wahyuni, 2012). After deconstruction, the researcher would endeavor to make sense of, and understand the coded data, a process known as interpretation (Dasgupta, 2015; Sargeant, 2012; Singh, 2014). This process enables the researcher to make comparisons of the categories and codes across all transcripts (Lindhardt et al., 2015; Ritter et al., 2013; Sargeant, 2012). During the reconstruction process, the researcher is to recreate and repackage the noticeable codes and themes in a way that showcases the links and understandings gained in the interpretation stage, but largely explains it based on the existing understanding and theoretical perspectives (Behboudi-Gandevani, Farahani, & Jasper, 2015; Sargeant, 2012; Vaismoradi, Jordan, Turunen, & Bondas, 2014). At this stage, Sargeant (2012) noted that one or two general ideas and notions usually emerges as the main idea, and the rest would appear in the form of subthemes that contribute further to the main theme.

Several approaches to qualitative research data analysis exist (Baskarada, 2014; Gale, Heath, Cameron, Rashid, & Redwood, 2013). Some analysis seems to be concerned with the language and how it is used in social interaction such as discourse analysis and ethnomethodology, others pay attention to the meaning and language as in narrative method and phenomenology (Gale et al., 2013; Lin & Mao, 2015; Seidi, Alhani, & Salsali, 2014). Others seek to develop theory through a series of procedures and interconnected stages as in the case of grounded theory (Brown, Hughes, Keppell, Hard, & Smith, 2013; Gale et al., 2013; Thomson et al., 2014). Several of these approaches are associated with specific and precise discipline whereas others are supported by philosophical ideas that shape the process of analysis (Cheraghi et al., 2015; Gale et al., 2013; Hale et al., 2014). It is important to note that theme development is a common characteristic of qualitative data analysis, as it involves the systematic search for patterns to generate full descriptions that can illuminate the phenomenon under study (Almutairi et al., 2014; Gale et al., 2013; Lips-Wiersma & Mills, 2013).

Particularly, most qualitative researchers use the constant comparative method that was developed as part of grounded theory (Fram, 2013; Gale et al., 2013; Paradis et al., 2015). In addition to constant comparative method which I used, I also gained an understanding of the credibility of the research results by conducting an indepth review of participant responses (Gale et al., 2013; Lips-Wiersma & Mills, 2013; Onwuegbuzie et al., 2012). After which I proceeded to conduct a more detailed analysis to identify common themes, patterns, and meanings as stated by Gale et al. (2013), Lips-Wiersma and Mills (2013) and Onwuegbuzie et al. (2012). Coding can be conducted digitally using CAQDAS as it is a useful way to track new codes automatically, some researchers however, employ pen and paper as a preferred method until they reach the later stage in coding process (Gale et al., 2013; Marshall & Friedman, 2012; Rodik & Primorac, 2015). I first transcribed the audio recording of each interview into Microsoft Word and then imported it into ethnograph software and Microsoft Excel for data analysis. This process was useful because it sped up the procedure and ensured that data could be easily retrieved in the later stage (Cope, 2014; Gale et al., 2013; Rademaker, Grace, & Curda, 2012).

It is important to note that computer software does not analyze the data but simply serves as an effective way to store and organize data in a way that makes it available to be analyzed (Choi et al., 2014; Gale et al., 2013; Schlitz, Ha, Marks, & Lauhon, 2012). This is unlike quantitative statistical analysis software which can make calculations with the right instructions (Choi et al., 2014; Gale et al., 2013; Schlitz et al., 2012). I analyzed interview transcripts manually to extract specific and important statements, phrases, and sentences concerning what information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome barriers that influence their business and economic development. I generated a list of themes associated with possible barriers to business and economic development of small scale women entrepreneurs from the analysis. Yin (2014) suggested five analytical techniques that I can use to analyze a case study research. They include; pattern matching, explanation building, time series analysis, logical models, and cross case synthesis (in the case of multiple case studies).

For this study, I employed the pattern matching technique, as it enabled me to capture the barriers to women entrepreneurs. I triangulated the data from the interview transcripts, direct observations, field notes, and journal entries concerning the barriers women entrepreneurs'experienced, to validate the phenomenon under study: barriers to the business and economic development of women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria. Once I completed the data analysis, I evaluated the data for accurate interpretation and research findings to ensure that the themes and findings that emerged during the data analysis were consistent with the conceptual framework of the study, the research question, and the literature review on the research phenomenon. This process is recommended by Imenda (2014).

I hope to publish the research results to all stakeholders, including the small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria, government and nongovernmental organizations, community leaders, and educational institutions using effective platforms such as conference presentations, training, seminars, and journal articles. I engaged the participants' in the data analysis and interpretation process. The interview questions helped to address the research question: What information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome possible barriers that influence their business and economic development?

Issues of Trustworthiness

Some of the criticisms associated with qualitative research studies, in general, include threats to validity and research because validity is about trustworthiness, utility, and dependability that the evaluator and the various stakeholders place on it (Gibson, Benson, & Brand, 2013; Zachariadis et al., 2013; Zohrabi, 2013). Validity is also concerned with whether the research is true, believable, and testing what it said that it would test (Baskarada, 2014; Kendall & Halliday, 2014; Zohrabi, 2013). Validity is a key criterion for assessing the quality and acceptability of any research (Street & Ward, 2012; Venkatesh et al., 2013; White et al., 2012).

Consequently, the quality of the instruments used in a study is very important, as

the conclusions drawn from the research will be based on the information that was obtained using the instruments, therefore, it is vital that the data and the instrument used be validated (Kendall & Halliday, 2014; Saunders & Rojon, 2014; Zivkovic, 2012). A research design is supposed to represent a logical set of statements, thus, the quality of any given design could be judged using some logical tests (Yin, 2014).

Credibility

The four criteria for judging the quality of research designs, as discussed by Loh (2013), Wynn and Williams (2012), and Yin (2014), include construct validity (the use of multiple methods of data collection), internal validity (performed during the data analysis process), external validity (the use of a theoretical foundation to assess the application of the study), and reliability (considerations for instrumentation design). For case studies, Yin (2014) suggested ensuring that the tactics used in the tests mentioned above be applied to all aspects of the study, not just in the beginning. In addition to adding depth to data collection during the study as a way to ensure trustworthiness in research, data triangulation also helps with researcher's bias mitigation (Bekhet & Zauszniewski, 2012; Hyett et al., 2014; Street & Ward, 2012). Member checking, as well as sense making, is another way to ensure trustworthiness, credibility, and quality in research (Reilly, 2013; Snyder, 2012; White et al., 2012). The use of long term observation is another way to improve the research validity and findings, because, making repetitive observations over an extended period can help with a study's validity as well as data saturation (Saunders & Rojon, 2014; Tanggaard, 2014; Zohrabi, 2013).

An understanding of a researcher's bias should also help the researcher achieve

validity in the study, because, although all researchers have values, beliefs, and worldviews, it is important that data collection, analysis, and interpretation are conducted in a way that is neutral and unbiased (Kardish et al., 2015; Klehr, 2012; Smith & Noble, 2014). This process can be achieved by following all ethical rules and regulations, accurately performing the evaluation, and reporting the results honestly (Sepehr & Aghapour, 2012; Smith & Noble, 2014; Zivkovic, 2012). I checked and cross checked the results of this study with the 5M framework (Brush et al., 2009) as described in Chapter 2 as well as existing literature on possible barriers influencing the economic development of women entrepreneurs.

Transferability

Transferability in research involves thick descriptions of the study, that way; judgment can be made on the study's transferability (Gibson et al., 2013; Houghton et al., 2013; O'Reilly & Parker, 2012). It is the researcher's responsibility to offer a thorough description that would allow the reader to make a cognizant decision about the transferability of the research findings to their precise setting or background (Da Mota Pedrosa et al., 2012; Houghton et al., 2013; Stewart, 2012). This thick description should include the research method and an example of raw data to enable the reader to consider their explanations and decide whether to transfer the findings to another setting (Baskarada, 2014; Houghton et al., 2013; White et al., 2012).

The findings from this study may not be transferable to women entrepreneurs experiencing similar issues in other cultural backgrounds or countries. As stated before, transferability is always left up to the reader to decide, therefore, each reader may choose which findings are transferable (Da Mota Pedrosa et al., 2012; Houghton et al., 2013; Wahyuni, 2012). The expectation, however, is that participants provide candid and detailed responses concerning their personal feelings and experiences, which should enable most individuals to find the study valuable.

Dependability

Dependability is often compared to the notion of reliability in quantitative research; it refers to how constant the data is as well as rigor in qualitative research (Gibson, Benson, & Brand, 2013; Houghton et al., 2013; Morse & McEvoy, 2014). I ensured the dependability of the study through rigor and an audit trail. I documented clear information about each research steps that was taken to report the outcome of the study. The information I tracked using my audit trail included interviews, direct observation, data analysis procedures, and the process that involves data theme identification. The audit trail resulted in a clear portrayal of the specific research path that I chose, the decisions I made, and the process I employed to evaluate and manage the data.

Confirmability

Confirmability refers to the impartiality and precision of the data; it is also closely connected to dependability, as the process is needed to establish both are similar (Gibson et al., 2013; Houghton et al., 2013; Walker et al., 2013). I maintained qualitative objectivity within the study through my reflective journal entries, audit trail, and data triangulation. Some of my reflections that I documented included my reflection concerning my personal experiences and the acknowledgment of how my cultural experiences and biases informed and influenced the research process.

Ethical Procedures

Some of the ways to protect participants in a qualitative research include, obtaining a voluntary consent, full research disclosure and intention, privacy and consideration for vulnerable population, as well as privacy and confidentiality (Kendall & Halliday, 2014; Sanjari et al., 2014; Yin, 2014). Another important factor involves ensuring that the researcher accesses harms, risks, and benefits associated with the research (economic, legal, psychological, social, physical, dignitary, and others), to participants, and others are minimized, and that participants are impartially selected, that way all groups are well represented in the study (Aluwihare-Samaranayake, 2012; Harriss & Atkinson, 2013; Peter, 2015).

To ensure that the participants are protected for this study, I took the following steps. First, participants were informed about the nature of the study, the consequences associated with their participation in the study, as well as their role in the study. They were informed that their participation in the study was strictly voluntary, and therefore, have the right to refuse to answer any of the questions asked or to decide not to participate at any point throughout the study. As a result, they have the right to collect the interview notes, and I deleted the interview recording in their presence. I did not compensate or offer any incentives to the participants for their involvement in this study.

I informed the participants about the confidentiality procedures. I ensured that personal identifying information such as name, address, e-mail address, and others was not revealed in the study results nor would the information provided in the results be connected back to the participants. By Walden University's directives on the destruction of research data and signed consent forms, I will store them in a safe place for a minimum of 5 years prior to properly destroying them. To minimize the possibility of exposing participants to any form of harm or ethical violations during the study, the research questions and interview protocols that were designed for the study exclusively focused on the possible barriers to business and economic growth of the participants.

Although the interview took place in the local marketplace in Enugu State, Nigeria, the participants' privacy were not compromised in any way. Further, I coded the responses from the interviews chronologically and presented the data collected anonymously, as it allowed me to maintain the anonymity and confidentiality of the participants. Once I transcribed the interview recordings, and the study was completed, participants interviews were shredded and destroyed.

I made the final report available to the participants for member checking as discussed by Bowtell, Sawyer, Aroni, Green, and Duncan (2013), Paull et al. (2013), and Peter (2015), that way, the participants had the opportunity to review the report and ensured that my interpretation was accurate. It is important to note that members of vulnerable or protected groups did not participate in this study. The only observable risk to participants could have involved the potential exposure of business owner's financial information, however, I minimized this risk by using both the confidentiality information as well as the above described security measures. It is also important to note that I did not collect any data for the full study until I received approval from the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB). My IRB approval number is 04-07-16-0463518.

Summary

In this chapter, I reviewed and explained the qualitative research methodology most suitable for this study and provided my rationale for selecting a mini ethnographic case study research methodology for this study. I described the role of the researcher; the rationale for data collection and analysis; the types of data; and the procedures used to collect, store, and analyze data. Additionally, I described the setting and the criteria that were used to select participants and explained the strategies that were used to improve the reliability and validity of the study. I concluded with the measures that I used for ethical protection of the participants and the data.

Chapter 4 contains a review of the process of data collection and a description of how I plan to organize the data. Data analysis will be presented first according to each source of evidence for each case and then by cross case analysis. I use the specific analytic techniques of coding and categorization at the first analysis level. At the second analysis level, the data that I categorized is studied and analyzed for themes, patterns, and

relationships to decide if the theoretical intention of the study is supported or if an opposing explanation needs to be considered. I will present a description of my research study findings of the research question and the theoretical intention that will be discussed also. I conclude this dissertation with a discussion of my research findings in Chapter 5 about the conceptual framework and the literature review. In Chapter 5, I also include my recommendations and discuss implication for social change. Finally, it will include my reflections on the process of mini ethnographic case study research and the conclusion.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of the qualitative mini ethnographic case study was to explore what information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome possible barriers that influence their business and economic development. In this chapter, I will detail the research data and findings of this study, providing relevant conclusions based on the results. Included in this chapter are the study settings, demographics, data collection, data analysis, and evidence of trustworthiness.

Using purposeful sampling, I selected 15 women entrepreneurs from Enugu State, Nigeria, who participated in semistructured interviews in which they shared their views and lived experiences. Each participant responded to open-ended questions comprising of two research subsections, nine opening questions, and nine interview questions (see Appendix B) in order for me to gather data to answer the research question. All questions prompted in-depth responses from the participants who had the relevant small scale entrepreneurship experience (Bredart, Marrel, Abetz-Webb, Lasch, & Acquadro, 2014).

The comparison of each participant's responses to all the interview questions, direct observation, field notes, and journal entries provided the basis for the analysis and the conclusion reached in the study as it relates to the case under study. As I described in Chapter 3, content analysis formed the basis for data analysis of participants' responses (Cho & Lee, 2014; Ritter et al., 2013; Vohra, 2014; Wahyuni, 2012). After transcribing the interviews, I used Ethnograph (version 6) and Excel to create 18 categories as a way to represent the answers to the research questions. Further, I created subthemes according to themes that were common to research participants. The themes that I identified through data analysis focused primarily on participants' views and lived experience regarding what information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome possible barriers that influence their business and economic development.

Based on the central research question and data analysis of participants' responses, direct observation, analysis of the field notes, and journal entries, I identified six emergent themes from the data to assist in answering the research question. They included: (a) lack of required money or capital for business; (b) the need to make profit or gain; (c) lack of formal business training; (d) low level education; (e) money raised from previous business and dependence on husband and relatives for startup financing; and (f) additional financing to help during tough economic situation.

In the following subsections, I will discuss the research setting, the demographic characteristics of the participants, their responses to the interview questions, direct observation, analysis of the field notes, and journal entries. Additionally, I will discuss the core emergent themes; the conclusions reached; and the relationship of the research findings to the conceptual framework, the research question, and the body of literature. As a result, the presentation of the findings required that the specific responses made by the participants be included. The information originated from the data analysis and presented in this study represents the essence and meanings essential for the understanding of the case under study as well as answering the overarching research question. To protect the privacy of the research participants, I ensured that I did not include any confidential information or any identifiable information that could reveal participants anywhere in this study. I also did not include irrelevant or redundant

information in this study.

The conceptual framework for this mini ethnographic case study stemmed from the 5M framework. The 5M framework developed by Brush et al. (2009) is an extension of Schumpeter's (1934) entrepreneurship theory that explained venture creation. It is organized around three of the 5M concepts, specifically market, money, and management. In this study, I explored and evaluated the other two of the 5M concepts: meso and micro environments, as well as motherhood perspective, representing the greater influence household and family may have on women than on men.

Research Setting

The first marketplace I visited was enclosed with high zinc and wood to support it. Because there was a walkway in the middle, retailers who mainly sat outside of their stalls and shops welcomed customers or observed those passing by. As customers passed by, some retailers called on customers to purchase products from them. There were several people with wheelbarrows transporting goods from one part of the market to the next. The market was very noisy. Every so often; one could hear the wheelbarrow men and women, shouting at an individual or a group of people to allow them to pass in Igbo language (uzo, uzo, uzo) as they transported goods from one part of the market to the next.

Each store often had goods displayed from the outside to the inside so that, customers could appreciate what the retailers had in stock, and make the decision to either buy or move on to the next seller. To make goods available to customers, most retailers who have shops or stalls often displayed their goods by hanging them from the ceiling and makeshift walls both inside and outside the stores. Some of the goods often displayed in the stores and stalls included shoes, toothbrushes, laundry detergents, tomato paste, clothing, salt, cooking oil, soap, thread, hair extensions, milk, cereal, spices, and many other goods. For those shopkeepers who did not have stalls, but perishable retails or seasonal foods stock, they tended to spread clothing or plastic sheet on the ground to display their goods. They were also inclined to retail their goods near intersections where customers could easily locate them.

The market closed at the end of each day at 5 in the evening; shop owners were required to leave the premises and come back the following morning. It is important to note that this market is open 7 days a week; it is also my understanding that this curfew was implemented to protect the retailers from anyone with ill intentions. Requiring everyone to leave at a specified time makes it easy to ensure that the marketplace is safe and secured. There had been reports of robbery or fires set deliberately to someone's shop after the person had left for the day. Since most people have to leave at a set time, individuals, especially customers preferred to leave the marketplace before the retailers. Doing this, allowed the customers access to transportation, as most may have to struggle for the available ones. I know this to be true because a potential participant declined to interview with me as it was half an hour before closing time. Her goal was to ensure that "I close properly for the day."

When I arrived at the second market, the setting was somewhat different from the first market. For instance, the marketplace was more like an open market. Additionally, most of the trading occurred outside; the stalls and enclosures were further inside. To

protect themselves from the sun and rain, most retailers had large multicolored umbrellas. Some of the umbrella's had logos with the words Maggi, Milo, MTN on them, while others were just plain and colorful. Although the market was very close to the bus stop for easy pedestrian access, provisions were made for customers with vehicles to park their cars. Additionally, there were taxis parked by the entrance of the marketplace, as well as a type of taxi that is locally known as keke maruwa that individuals transporting smaller goods used to reach their various destinations. The road was not tarred; there were some unfinished houses around the area. When entering the marketplace, there were individuals selling fruits and vegetables such as watermelon, oranges, peas, lettuce, as well as other types of fruits and vegetables, who either sat or stood near their stalls and welcomed customers to come and purchase goods from them.

As one enters inside the marketplace, the umbrellas and stalls became shops where retailers also welcomed customers to purchase goods from them. Behind them were individuals (mostly men) who sold yam tubers, in front of them were trucks, cars, and individuals who were unloading baskets and bags of what looked like tomatoes, onions, Irish potatoes, and lettuce from the trucks and cars. The first day I visited this marketplace, I had a seller mistake me for someone else, as she welcomed me to come and purchase food stock from her. She asked why I had not been to her shop in such a long time. I smiled, stopped, and explained to her that she seemed to have mistaken me for someone else. She smiled and thanked me. I am not convinced that she believed me.

The third marketplace I visited was somewhat different because unlike the first two marketplaces, one could choose to commence their shopping from the roadside or outside the gate to the inside. As a result, this marketplace had different opening and closing times; one for the roadside market and the other for the market inside the gated area. Furthermore, due to the nature of the market, individuals could decide to park their cars on the street or park their cars within the gated area. Those who choose to park their cars within the gated area had to pay for parking to two men, sitting by the gate. The gate was built in such a way that only one car could come in or leave at the same time. Beside the big gate was a smaller gate, where pedestrians could pass through. Two story buildings, which were also used as shops, surrounded the marketplace.

As I moved towards the marketplace, I saw an opening, which led to the actual market. The inside of this market was structured like the second marketplace I visited; it was quieter than the first and second marketplaces. As I passed by, the retailers, mostly women welcomed me to purchase goods from them. Although these retailers were in shops, the shops were built in a way that made them look and feel like stalls. The shops were open on all sides, that way retailers could observe customers coming from anywhere within the marketplace. This marketplace was also mostly covered to protect customers and retailers from sun and rain; this was achieved by building extensions with wood to connect the zinc. There were fewer people in this marketplace than there were in both the first and second marketplaces. There was no sign of individuals transporting goods using wheelbarrows. The roadside retailers protected both themselves and their goods using multicolored umbrellas. For these retailers, most customers who purchased goods from them did so while still seated in their cars.

Demographics

Through semistructured interviews, 15 participants detailed their views and lived experience regarding the information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria use to overcome possible barriers that influence their business and economic development. To maintain confidentiality and protect the privacy of each participant, I excluded confidential business information that could serve as identifying factors and used pseudonyms to represent them instead of using actual names. The pseudonyms that I assigned to each participant included a numeral of 1–15, with each number representing a participant and each number prefixed by the letter, "P." All participants signed consent forms and were involved until the end of the data collection. The demographics of the study sample revealed that the ratio of married to single to widowed participants were 11:3:1.

Six participants were between ages 27–35 years, seven were between 40–50 years, and others were between 53 and 66 years old. Some of the participants had various entrepreneurial backgrounds, representing diverse industry sectors. Two participants retailed recharge cards; two retailed dry fish; three retailed food stock or food stuff; others retailed foodstuff such as spices, perishables, dry fish, and roast fish; one retailed jewelry; one had a provision store, one was a seamstress, and the other was a marketer. Tables 1, 2, 3, and 4 show the participant demographics. The participants were from diverse business entrepreneurial backgrounds, representing various businesses; there was no preference for any particular business. Based on the requirements for this study, all participants were small scale business owners. They were also independently owned and

operated, providing goods and services to consumers within a local market with an annual profit of 200,000 naira or less (approximately 1,000 dollars or less) and employing between zero to 10 individuals (Otoo, 2012). All participants lived and conducted their businesses in Enugu State Nigeria, owned a small scale business located in Enugu State, Nigeria, and had been in business for 3 years or more.

Table 1

Age	Study participants	Title/Position Study	y participants
27	3	Provision seller	1
29	1	Spice seller	1
30	1	Perishable seller	2
35	1	Food stock/condiments	3
40	2	Okirika jewelry seller	1
42	1	Dry fish seller	2
43	1	Marketer	1
48	1	Roast fish seller	1
50	2	Seamstress	1
53	1	Marketer	1
66	1	Recharge card seller	2

Demographic Overview (N = 15)

Table 2

Educational Attainment (N = 15)

Level of Education	Study Participants	Percentage
Secondary or O Level/High School Diplon	na 9	60%
Primary 4	2	13%
BSc.	2	13%
Commercial	1	7%
Ordinary National Diploma (OND)	1	7%

Table 3

Participants Marital Status (N=15)

Marital Status	Study Participants	
Married	11	
Single	3	
Widowed	1	

Table 4

Years	Study participants	
3	1	
4	1	
5	2	
6	2	
7	2	
8	1	
9	1	
10	1	
15	1	
19	1	
21	1	
30	1	

Participants Years in Business (N=15)

Data Collection

I collected data using multiple data collection sources; I began the data collection process with a review of information from the women entrepreneurs. I asked the women entrepreneurs to provide a detailed account of past and current barriers they have faced as entrepreneurs. In addition to the nine open ended questions (see Appendix B), I also conducted direct observation along with field notes and reflective journal entries. I conducted the interviews at the participant's shops or stall as some had shops while others had stalls. Once I approached each participant, they were willing to interview with me immediately, as long as they could stop at any time to attend to customers. I agreed as it allowed me to appreciate how each of them interacted with their customers. I completed the interview within approximately 1 hour. In addition to recording the participants using an audio recorder, I also took notes during the interview session. I did not encounter any difficulties that resulted in an alteration or impediments, regarding the remainder of my data collection process.

The interview and observation protocol (see Appendix A and C) process that I used to record the study participants responses and activities were effective. I noticed that most participants seemed uncomfortable when asked about their marital status, age, and household information. I particularly noticed a participant's overall attitude and demeanor change when I asked about her age. Although she continued the interview, she asked whether others answered these types of questions. On the other hand, other participants who were hesitant at first later became more involved in the process as the interview progressed. All participants participated willingly, once they signed the consent form.

Data Analysis

I used Ethnograph 6 and Microsoft Excel to analyze the data from the interview transcripts, observations, field notes, and journal entries. Ethnograph 6 enabled me to categorize, arrange, and manage the interview transcripts, observations, field notes, and

journal entries into common themes. I used content analysis to identify common words and phrases in participant responses (Elo et al., 2014; Vaismoradi et al., 2013; Vohra, 2014). Initial categorizations allowed me to organize while allowing the important instinctive trends to emerge. I derived a priori codes from the semistructured interview questions, observations, field notes, and journal entries. The a priori codes used to categorize the semistructured interviews are summarized in Table 5.

Table 5

Semistructured Interviews	Categorizations
Question 1	Motivation
Question 2	Training
Question 3	Helpful Resources
Question 4	Information Learned During Training
Question 5	Raising Business Finances
Question 6	Difficulties in Business
Question 7	Overcoming Difficulties
Question 8	Reason for Business
Question 9	Future Resources

A Priori Codes Used to Categorize the Semistructured Interview Questions

I analyzed the coding structure iteratively to ensure efficiency and effectiveness concerning the information gathered and organized. I entered the identified codes in Ethnograph 6 and Excel, which enabled me to identify common themes. I used data from the semistructured interviews, direct observation, field notes, and journal entries, to validate the codes and themes, in addition to determining pattern matches and discrepancies as described by Yin (2014). My examination of the comments from the participants after member checking and sensemaking (Reilly, 2013; Snyder, 2012; White et al., 2012), did not identify new themes, as the comments were consistent with what was provided during the interview. Tables 6, 7, and 8 are aligned with codes associated with the information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria use to overcome possible barriers that influence their business and economic development and the focus area of the literature review.

Table 6

Second Stage Nodes and Themes Used to Categorize Motivation, Training, and Helpful Resources

Categories	Themes
Motivation	The need to make money
Training	Lacked formal business training
Helpful Resources	The need for additional capital

Table 7

Second Stage Nodes and Themes Used to Categorize Information Learned During

Training, Raising Business Finances, and Difficulties in Business

Categories	Themes
Information Learned During Training	N/A
Raising Business Finances	From relatives and previous business
Difficulties in Business	The need to support family/tough economy

Table 8

Second Stage Nodes and Themes Used to Categorize Overcoming Difficulties, Reasons for Business, and Future Resources

Categories	Themes
Overcoming Difficulties	Spirituality and faith in God
Reason for Business	Does not want to stay idle
Future Resources	Capital

Although some participants indicated that, their motivation for becoming entrepreneurs was because of the need not to be idle, most however indicated that they received no formal training, which explained why most did not know how much they earned each year, as indicated in Table 9.

Table 9

Categories	Study Participants	
Unable to Articulate	6	
Earned Income is Seasonal	5	
Earned Income used for family Issues	2	
Articulated Income Earned	2	

How Much Earned in a Year (N=15)

Only three participants indicated that they were wage earners or *breadwinners* (a colloquial term indicating one who earns the most in the family unit), also, (see definition in Chapter 1), one indicated that she was not sure, and the rest indicated that they supported their husbands. Culturally, men are meant to be the primary wage earners (*breadwinners*) and women their supporters, which is why I believe most women indicated that they support their husbands instead of being the primary wage earners. (Goyal & Yadav, 2014; Sumaira & Muhammad, 2012). Also, P6 at some point indicated that she supported her husband but later revealed that she is the primary wage earner, an indication that culture, as well as the element of not knowing me, may have played a role in the answer they gave in that regard. It is important to note that I made the decision to report the results at this level to maintain confidentiality.

Question 1: Motivation to Become Entrepreneurs

Question 1 was: How would you describe what motivated you to become an entrepreneur? Biko kowa ihe mere iji bido ahia a? Two specific subthemes aligned with

the theme associated with this question: Lack of employment and the love for the business.

Question 2: Training Obtained Prior to Launching Business

Question 2 was: What kind of training would have been helpful to you before launching your business? Kedu udi ozuzu kara inyere gi aka tupu I bido ahia a? Three specific subthemes aligned with the theme associated with this question: Did not see the need for training; this type of business did not require training; and husband, sister, brother, or a relative trained me.

Question 3: Helpful Resources for Further Success

Question 3 was: Now that you have launched your business, what would have been or would be helpful to help you further succeed? Ugbu a I bidoro ahia, kedu ihe kara I nyere gi aka I na enwete gi? Two specific subthemes aligned with the theme associated with this question: The need to purchase equipment for business and money can be used to purchase goods using cash instead of purchasing it on credit.

Question 4: What was Learned During Training

Question 4 was: If you attended any training, what was involved? Oburu na I nweture ozuz tupu I bido ahia, kedu ebe I no mee ya, ubosi ole ka I mere ya? Of those who attended official business training, three specific subthemes aligned with the theme associated with this question: The need to be polite to customers, customer relations, and passion for work.

Question 5: How Business Money was Raised

Question 5 was: How did you raise money for your business? Kedu otu ijiri wete

ego tupu Imalite izu ahia gi a? Two specific subthemes aligned with the theme associated with this question: Received or earned money while still a sales girl and received gratuity payment.

Question 6: The Past and Present Difficulties

Question 6 was: How would you describe the difficulties if any, you experienced in the past or are currently experiencing as an entrepreneur? Kowa ihe ndi ina aga biga ma obu ihe ndi I na ahu, ugba ma obu mgbe gara aga di ka onye na azu ahia? One specific subtheme aligned with the theme associated with this question: Trauma from a robbery in 2012.

Question 7: How Past and Present Difficulties Were Overcome

Question 7 was: How did you overcome those difficulties/barriers? Kowa ote I jiri were gbochi e ihe na eme ka ahia gi hara i na aga nke oma? Two specific subthemes aligned with the theme associated with this question: Encouragement from friends, family, and relatives and there is no way to overcome the issues faced, so will deal with it.

Question 8: Major Influences to Starting a Business

Question 8 was: What were major influences on starting your business? Kedu ihe mere gi iji were bido ahia gi a? Three specific subthemes aligned with the theme associated with this question: Passion or love for business, husband's passing, and the need to make profit or gain.

Question 9: Resources Needed to Improve Business

Question 9 was: What resources do you need but currently do not have access to

that may help to improve your business? Kedu ihe ndi ga enyere gi aka ka ahia gi na aga ni ihu, I na ewehu? One subtheme aligned with the theme associated with this question: The need for human resources.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

Credibility

To mitigate the issues of credibility, I had the participants validate the documented statements during the member checking and sense making process. This process enabled the participants to validate or refute my interpretations of the comments made by the participants. I applied construct validity as described by Saunders and Rojon (2014), Tanggaard (2014), and Zohrabi (2013) by using multiple sources of data (indepth semistructured interviews, direct observation, as well as the analysis of my reflective journal entries and field notes).

Both internal and external validity were applied during data analysis process, as well as the use of the 5M framework (Brush et al., 2009) as a foundation to assess the application of the study as described in chapter 2. An understanding of my biases also helped me to achieve validity of this study. Even with all my values, beliefs, and worldviews, the data collection, analysis, and interpretation were conducted in a way that was neutral and unbiased as described by Kardish et al. (2015), Klehr (2012), and Smith and Noble (2014). These processes supported the authenticity of the themes and findings.

Transferability

Although transferability is always left up to the reader to decide (Da Mota Pedrosa et al., 2012; Houghton et al., 2013; Wahyuni, 2012), the focus of a mini

ethnographic case study is to gain an in-depth understanding of the research question and not to establish transferability of the findings (Alfonso et al., 2012; White et al., 2009). Participants provided honest and detailed responses regarding their personal feelings and experiences. As a result, given similar cultural characteristics elsewhere, the findings may prove applicable to those environments and stimulate positive social change initiative there as well.

Dependability

I ensured dependability within this study through a rigorous audit trial. I documented clear information concerning the specific research steps I took through to reporting the study outcomes. My audit trial tracked information which included transcribed interviews, observations, field notes, journal entries, data analysis procedures, and the analysis process to identify data themes. This audit trial resulted in a clear description of the specific research path I chose, the decisions I made, and the process I took to evaluate and manage the data.

Confirmability

I ensured confirmability and qualitative objectivity through my regular reflective journaling entries. My journal entries consisted of the justifications for my decisions concerning methodology, data analysis, and theme developments that were described in the study results. My journal entries also reflected a systemic analysis of the process used to ensure continuous validity. Finally, I documented my reflections concerning my personal experiences, acknowledging how my perceptions, culture, biases, and experiences informed and influenced the research process as discussed by Fielding (2012), Smith and Noble (2014), and Tanggaard (2014).

Study Results: Interview Questions and Textual Description

In a mini ethnographic study, the interview approach functions as an effective means to describe the context or the framework that is revealed by the shared experiences of the participants (Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013; Pathak et al., 2013; Rowley, 2012). To gain a deeper understanding of the case under study, in-depth, semistructured interviews are an effective data collection method (Haahr et al., 2013; Jamshed, 2014; Peredaryenko & Krauss, 2013). I explored the following opening questions and follow up interview questions to answer the central research question: What information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome possible barriers that influence their business and economic development?

Findings

The following section is a presentation of the study results as recommended for traditional ethnographic reporting methods; it is followed by an evaluation of findings as related to answering the research questions.

Finding 1: How Much Each Participant Makes. Most small scale women entrepreneurs did not know how much they made, as a result, were not able to keep a proper accounting of their yearly earnings. Money earned each day was used to purchase food for the family instead.

Finding 2: Low Level Education. Most women entrepreneurs had low level education. Almost all the participants had an O Level (high school diploma) or below. Of the participants with above O Level (high school diploma), only two earned a bachelor's degree, the other earned a commercial or technical level education, while the other individual earned an Ordinary National Diploma (OND).

Finding 3: Financing For Business. Most small scale women entrepreneurs received startup money from husband, family members, friends, or in laws, only some used money from previous businesses to start their various businesses. Of those who used money from previous businesses, some still received additional financing from a husband or relatives. Only a few knew about microfinance and the individuals who knew about it, did not believe in or trust the system so would not access it, if given the opportunity. Only one small scale woman entrepreneur indicated that she would be interested in it once she was educated about the process.

Finding 4: Training. Most small scale women entrepreneurs did not see the need for training. They believed that due to their type of businesses, they would not benefit from training, explaining that, if anything is to be learned, it can be learned on the job.

Findings 5: Difficulties. The difficulties most small scale women entrepreneurs encountered involved the need to support their families as well as the tough economic situation. Supporting one's family can be a very difficult task, particularly, when coupled with a tough economy. It was even more difficult, as the economic situation affected their business in such a way that it costs a lot more to purchase their goods, but makes it very difficult to sell those good to final consumers.

Major Themes

The following are the major themes found in this study: lack of required money or capital for business, the need to make profit or gain, lack of formal business training, low level education, money raised from previous business, dependence on husband, and relatives for startup financing, and additional financing to help during tough economic situation.

Emergent Theme 1: The Need to Make Money

The motivation for becoming a small scale woman entrepreneur was so that one could make money, which fits within the 5M framework (Brush et al., 2009). The result was expected, given the conceptual framework applied (Chingangbam, 2015; Hani, 2015; Kaushik, 2013). Motivation can be seen as a link between an entrepreneur's intention and action; there could also be a relationship between motivation and performance (Perri & Chu, 2012; Zimmerman & Chu, 2013). Psychologists also see motivation as an investigation into human thoughts and deeds. It allows researchers to understand why individuals act and behave in the manner they do (Cachon, Codina, Eccius-Wellmann, McGraw, & Myers, 2013).

As P6 noted in an interview, "I was motivated to become an entrepreneur because, after marriage, I realized that I needed money to support my family" (personal communication, April 19, 2016). This conversation was confirmed through member checking (P6 personal communication, May 3, 2016). P6 further explained that after marriage, she realized that she needed money and started to look for what to do, particularly, with a primary four education, she understood that her options were very limited, so, she started selling fish, and has done so for 30 years.

In sharing her inspiration for becoming an entrepreneur, P13 stated that "I was motivated to become an entrepreneur, because, I wanted to help my family financially" (personal communication, April 26, 2016). This conversation was confirmed through member checking (P13 personal communication, May 8, 2016). When speaking with P12, she specified that her motivation to become an entrepreneur, came after "I was retrenched from my civil service job" (personal communication, April 26, 2016). Both P1 and P12 mentioned that they did not want to be idle, which is what motivated them to become entrepreneurs (personal communication, April 11, 2016).

Two women came to P2's stall to purchase oil because they pointed at the oil and asked for the price, P2 greeted them and asked how she could help them. They told her the type of oil they wanted to purchase and asked for the price when she told them the price; they seemed shocked at the price by laughing nervously. They also looked at one another in shock and quickly explained that the price was too high for them to pay for the oil. At that point, P2 offered them similar but lower priced oils, which she felt, could be within their price range. The customers rejected the offer and began to bargain for the oil they originally requested. After bargaining for about three to five minutes, they seemed to come to an agreement as to an acceptable price between the customers and P2.

A direct observation of P2 (direct observation of marketplace #1, May 14, 2016) showed her need to make money, as she worked hard to offer her customers a different type of oil, particularly when they showed that they could not afford the price of the oil they originally requested. When a customer visited P7's shop and asked for a cup of periwinkle, P7 packaged it, upon handing it over to the customer, she asked the customer if she needed anything else, the customer hesitated for a second but asked for crawfish. She also packaged that food stock, but once again asked if she needed anything else, and the customer requested palm oil. Upon handing over the palm oil to the customer, she asked the customer one more time if she needed anything else, the customer, however, responded with a no, the customer paid P7 and left. P7 gained additional money from this customer because she probed for more information.

A direct observation of P7 (direct observation of marketplace #2, May 3, 2016) showed her need to earn more money because she was able to persuade a customer to purchase more food items from her. A direct observation of P11 (direct observation of marketplace #3, April 26, 2016) also indicated her need to earn more money, as she ran from one end of the intersection to the next, as well as from one store to the other, to sell calling cards to customers. I identified the theme through interviews as well as through a direct observation of each small scale women entrepreneurs. The theme was further indicated by an analysis of the data in my reflective journal entries that consisted of interview responses as well as observations that indicated women entrepreneurs need to make more money (journal entry, May 7, 2016). As a result, small scale women entrepreneurs need information such as specific business training in the area of marketing and customer service, to address the issue regarding the need to make money.

Reflective journaling allows a researcher to document and contemplate on experiences as a way of thinking, understanding, and scholarship (Hayman et al., 2012; Hietanen et al., 2014; Siwale, 2015). My reflective journal entries were notes written once I returned from each field visit as a way to reflect on my day and tried to make meaning of all my experiences within the marketplace on that day. Table 10 reflects participant's motivation for entrepreneurship. Table 10

Motivation	Study Participants	Percentage	
The need to make money	8	53%	
Self employment or not being idle	4	27%	
Love for business/high demand/other	3	20%	

Motivation for Entrepreneurship (N = 15)

Emergent Theme 2: Lack of Formal Business Training

Most small scale women entrepreneurs who participated in this study lacked formal business training. During an interview with P7, she noted that she did not receive any formal training. She, learned how to sell food stock from her mother when she was young. "As a young girl in primary school, I would sometimes open and or close the shop for my mom before going to school as well as after school, doing this, allowed me to learn how to operate the food stock business" (personal communication, April 19, 2016). P2 stated "my brother started this business, brought me to Enugu, and trained me on how to run the business, I learned other aspects of this business by being here on a daily basis (personal communication, April 11, 2016). This conversation was confirmed through member checking (P2 personal communication, May 14, 2016).

P4 asserted that "I did not attend any training because I felt that this type of business could be started without asking anyone for help or going for any training, as you can see, there is nothing to learn about how to sell tomatoes" (personal communication, April 13, 2016). When speaking to P9 about having access to formal business training, she noted that "since my husband started the business, he knew more about it, so he trained me on how to run the business" (personal communication, April 19, 2016). Furthermore, a direct observation of P7 showed a lack of specific business training as she had a difficult time calculating a total of what a customer purchased from her, and the change she was to return to a customer who purchased food stock from her. Although there were food stock and other belongings in the shop, I looked around the shop for a calculator but did not see any in view (direct observation of marketplace #2, May 7, 2016). I identified the theme through interview and observation of each small scale women entrepreneurs. The theme was further indicated by an analysis of the data in my reflective journal entries that consisted of interview responses, observation, as well as member checking that concerned women entrepreneurs need to gain specific formal business training (journal entry, May 7, 2016).

Entrepreneurship education is the process of providing individuals with the concepts and skills to recognize opportunities that others did not see and to have the insight, self worth, and knowledge to act where others have hesitated (Gwija, Eresia-Eke & Iwu, 2014). Financial, as well as managerial issues, have been cited as major contributing factors to business failures (Tambwe, 2015; Xesha, Iwu, & Slabbert, 2014). Furthermore, SME success depends on new and established relationships, because, without strong relationships, it becomes impossible to be successful as a business owner (Xesha et al., 2014). Meaning that, business owners need to maintain long term customer and employee relationships that will help them even during tough times (Lekoko, Rankhumise, & Ras, 2012; Xesha et al., 2014). Small scale women entrepreneurs need

information regarding formal business training and its impact on small scale enterprises, especially when it has been identified that specific business training was not attained before launching a small scale business.

Additionally, relationships with other business owners would allow small scale women entrepreneurs to share struggles, resources, and best practices, which can carry them through challenging and difficult times, and can offer them a competitive edge (Lekoko et al., 2012; Xesha et al., 2014). This understanding fits within the 5M framework (Brush et al., 2009). The 5M framework specified that venture creation is largely structured around three basic concepts; specifically market, money, and management. In addition to the 3Ms, motherhood, meso, and macro environment, and should be considered when reflecting on the uniqueness of women entrepreneurship (Brush et al., 2009). The management aspect of the 3Ms seemed to be lacking, as most participants indicated that they lacked formal business training. The result was expected, given the conceptual framework applied (Tambwe, 2015). Table 11 reflects participant's lack of formal business training.

Table 11

Formal Business Training	Study Participants	Percentage	
Yes	4	27%	
No	11	73%	

Lack of Formal Business Training (N = 15)

Emergent Theme 3: Lack of Required Money or Capital for Business

All small scale women entrepreneurs indicated that they needed access to financing for their businesses. The result was expected, given the conceptual framework applied (Ferdousi, 2015). During an interview with P11, she expressed the need for access to financing; she asserted that "with money, I can buy directly from MTN, get a pin, and get the equipment to start printing. This equipment includes a printer; the amount of financing required may exceed one million Naira (personal communication, April 26, 2016). Additionally, P10 shared that she desired access to financing because "I need money to purchase English weaving machine that is used to make zigzag stitches for customers clothing" (personal communication, April 21, 2016).

P15 equally stated that, "I need more money so that I can begin to borrow credit directly from carriers (MTN, Glo, Airtel, Etisalat, and the rest), that way, customers can borrow credit directly from me instead of going directly to the carriers. I can load up to 50 thousand naira worth of credit on my phone, customers can borrow from me, and I can sell to people from around the globe. Payments can be made into my account from anywhere through mobile payment." (personal communication, April 26, 2016)

This conversation was confirmed through member checking (P15, personal communication, May 4, 2016). P9 also shared her need for financing, particularly, the need to access loans, she is, however, not familiar with the process of obtaining a loan. Further discussion with P9 revealed her understanding of the process involved with loan distribution, as she stated that "I also believe that loans are only shared among the rich, therefore, it does not make its way to poor people like us, but I would like to take

advantage of it if the opportunity arises" (personal communication, April 19, 2016). A direct observation of P1's store, including how empty the shelves were, due to the robbery that occurred in 2012, as explained by P1 during my interview with her, reflected the need for financing as a way to reestablish her shop (direct observation of marketplace #1, April 8, 2016).

Additionally, a direct observation of P13, whose stall had less than needed food stock, reflected the need for financing as a way to rebuild her stock (direct observation of marketplace #3, April 26, 2016). Most entrepreneurs who retail food stock usually have a variety of food items within their stores for customers to choose. For instance, food stock retailers usually have two to three selections of rice, garri, and beans. P13 on the other hand, only had a small basin of each, additionally, to ensure that she earns some money each day; she started selling 60 naira bread, an unrelated good, that should typically not be a part of her food stock. I identified the theme through interview and observation of each small scale women entrepreneurs. The theme was further indicated by an analysis of the data in my reflective journal entries that consisted of interview responses and observation that concerned women entrepreneurs need to gain access to required capital (journal entry, May 7, 2016).

Careful screening and monitoring, a microenterprise loan in addition to appropriate business skills, information, and technologies, noted Ferdousi (2015), are recommended for entrepreneurs; therefore, the need for proper business skills, information, and technologies are ways to ensure that the loan is utilized correctly (Ferdousi, 2015). Small scale women entrepreneurs are in need of information such as microfinance loans, appropriate business skills, networking information, as well as information and technology to address the issue regarding the lack of required money or capital for business.

This assertion fits within the 5M framework (Brush et al., 2009), which specified that venture creation is largely structured around three basic concepts; specifically market, money, and management, in addition to the 3Ms, motherhood, meso, and macro environment. It should be considered when reflecting on the uniqueness of women entrepreneurship (Brush et al., 2009). The money aspect of the 3M seems to be lacking as all small scale women entrepreneurs indicated the need for financing as a way to successfully run their various businesses.

Emergent Theme 4: Money Raised from Previous Business, Husband, and Relatives for Startup Financing

Some small scale women entrepreneurs specified that they raised money from previous businesses, their husbands, and relatives. The result was expected, given the conceptual framework applied (Mumuni & Insah, 2013). In an interview with P12, she stated that the finance for her business "came from friends, family, well wishers, as well as my husband (P12 personal communication, April 26, 2016). P1 asserted that she received help from friends and family, "I also saved money from whatever I earned while I was still learning the trade, in addition to the money I received from my brother. The money from all these sources came to a total of thirteen thousand naira" (personal communication, April 11, 2016).

P15 shared that "the money for my business came from friends, families, and well

wishers which were given to me when I had my daughter; I decided to invest it in my business" (personal communication, April 26, 2016). This conversation was confirmed through member checking (P15 personal communication, May 8, 2016). Both P3 and P13 asserted that the money for their current businesses came from their previous businesses (personal communication, April 11, 2016; personal communication, April 26, 2016). P2 also indicated that her brother started the business, however, "he handed it over to me at a later time (personal communication, April 11, 2016). This dialogue was confirmed through member checking (P2 personal communication, May 14, 2016).

I identified the theme through interviews with each small scale women entrepreneurs in which I inquired where they obtained financing for their businesses. The theme was further indicated by an analysis of the data in my reflective journal entries that consisted of interview responses, observation, as well as member checking that concerned women entrepreneurs need to raise money for business (journal entry, May 7, 2016). Eighteen percent of individuals surveyed by Mumuni and Insah (2013) indicated that they received money from family, friends, susu, and moneylenders. Finance seems to be the most important characteristic of any enterprise, both big and small (Gayathridevi, 2014); some participants indicated that they lacked finances, mainly due to non availability of long term financing, the long procedure to gain financial help, too many dependents, or complicated banking procedures. In addition to money raised from previous businesses, small scale women entrepreneurs need information on ways to finance their various businesses through formal financial institutions, instead of relying on their husbands and relatives for startup financing. Hence, women entrepreneurs are usually forced to gain access to business financing through family, friends, and moneylenders (Gayathridevi, 2014). Furthermore, financing is a big issue for women entrepreneurs (Gayathridevi, 2014). This assertion fits within the 5M framework (Brush et al., 2009), which specified that venture creation is largely structured around three basic concepts; specifically market, money, and management, in addition to the 3Ms, motherhood, meso, and macro environment, and should be considered when reflecting on the uniqueness of women entrepreneurship (Brush et al., 2009). Both the motherhood and the macro or meso environment are involved, as the family (motherhood) seemed to have a greater influence on the participants in regards to how business financing was raised (Brush et al., 2009). The strategic, economic influence and initiatives (meso environment) seemed to have influenced the need to continue their entrepreneurial activities from money raised from previous business (Brush et al., 2009).

Table 12 shows money raised from previous business from husbands and other relatives.Table 12

Money Raised from	Study Participants	Percentage
Previous Business	4	27%
Husband	4	27%
Relatives	7	47%

Money Raised from Previous Businesses, Husband, and Relatives (N = 15)

Emergent Theme 5: Low Level Education

Most participants stated that they had attained a low level education (see Table 2). Sixty percent holds an O level or high school diploma, only 13% completed a primary 4 level education, 13% earned a Bachelors (B.Sc.) degree, and 14% e some level of college education, which fits within the 5M framework (Brush et al., 2009). The result was expected given the conceptual framework applied (Mandipaka, 2014). Participants level of education ranged from primary four level to bachelor's degree "I earned an O Level or high school diploma level education" (P8 personal communication, April 26, 2016). "I read up to a primary 4 level education" (P6 personal communication, April 19, 2016). This discussion was confirmed through member checking (P6 personal communication, May 8, 2016).

"I earned a bachelor's degree" (P3 personal communication, Aprill 11, 2016; P15 personal communication, April 26, 2016). This conversation was confirmed through member checking (P15 personal communication, May 14, 2016). "I hold an Ordinary National Diploma, also known as OND or an associates degree level education" (P4 personal communication, April 13, 2016). "I earned a commercial or attended a technical school" (P14 personal communication, April 26, 2016). A direct observation of P2, who earned an O Level or a high school education was reminded by her co retailers that she does not have "a good education", therefore, should be careful who she speaks with, is also an indication of low level education among small scale women entrepreneurs (direct observation of marketplace #1, April, 11, 2016).

I identified the theme through an interview with each small scale women entrepreneurs, in which I inquired about their level of education. Mandipaka (2014) found that women entrepreneurs face barriers such as family pressures, which hinders the success of women entrepreneurs. I further indicated the theme through an analysis of my reflective journal entries that consisted of interview responses, observation, as well as member checking that concerned women entrepreneurs level of education (journal entry, May 3, 2016).

Lack of education is another barrier to the success of women entrepreneurs. Being unexposed to markets as well as discrimination against women entrepreneurs in a male dominated society, all contribute to what hinders the success of women entrepreneurs (Mandipaka, 2014). This understanding fits within the 5M framework (Brush et al., 2009), which specified that venture creation is largely structured around three basic concepts; specifically market, money, and management, in addition to the 3Ms, motherhood, meso, and macro environment, should be considered when reflecting on the uniqueness of women entrepreneurship (Brush et al., 2009). As the macro or meso environment aspect which expresses factors such as cultural, economic, and societal norm expectations for women, and the media's reflection of women entrepreneurs, national policies, strategies, economic influences, services, and initiatives were involved when discussing small scale women entrepreneurs low level education attainment (Brush et al., 2009). Women who aspire to become small scale entrepreneurs, but have been identified as having low level education, require information regarding access to specific business training in the areas of accounting, marketing, and customer relations, before

launching their entrepreneurial endeavors.

Emergent Theme 6: Additional Financing to Help During Tough Economic Situation

All small scale women entrepreneurs mentioned additional capital as a way to combat difficulties in their various businesses. The result was expected, given the conceptual framework applied (Mahmood, Khalid, Sohail, & Babak, 2012). "Capital is a major issue One can bargain for fish with enough capital, but it is difficult to bargain when the retailers feel like they are doing you a favor by selling the fish to you on credit. They can sell a 300 naira fish for 500 naira when one is buying on credit. Basically, with capital, there is no insult" (P14 personal communication, April 26, 2016). "Things have become expensive due to the current economic situation, a basket of tomatoes is very expensive, the price of fuel has increased, transportation has also increased" (P4 personal communication, April 13, 2016).

P12 explained how the cost of doing business had risen in recent month, which resulted in low inventories (personal communication, April 26, 2016). Furthermore, a direct observation of P14 indicated that the prices of goods particularly, a basket of tomatoes has increased. While there, news came to P14 that the price of a basket of tomatoes had risen even higher than it was a few hours before. So she decided to change the price of the one she already had out to sell to customers to make profit (direct observation of marketplace #3, May 8, 2016).

Additionally, a direct observation and personal communication with P4 also indicated how the cost of doing business had risen. During my interview with P4, she was selling tomatoes, when I returned to meet with her again; I observed that she was selling okra, a different food item. When I inquired the reason from her, P4 explained that "the price for a basket of tomatoes had risen so high (23,000 naira, instead of its original price of 10,000 naira) I paid for it earlier in the month. I decided to sell okra in the meantime, that way; I do not eat into my capital" (direct observation of marketplace #1, April 30, 2016; personal communication April 30, 2016).

A direct observation of P1's customers as well as their exclamations and complaints when it came time to pay for their purchased goods, also, indicated the difficult economic times and the hardship most individuals are currently experiencing within the country. They made statements such as "my goodness, I just bought that for 200 naira a few days ago, how come it is now 250 naira?" "Wow, the price of goods changes on a daily basis, only God can help us with this situation." Others joined in and shared their experiences about how they purchased a cup of rice for 80 naira, against 60 naira that it was, just the week before", requesting that the new government do something to ease people's pains. P1 responded by saying, "they have added money to everything and we have to sell it at this new price to make profit" (direct observation of marketplace #1, May 14, 2016).

I identified the theme through interviews with each small scale women entrepreneurs. The analysis of my reflective journal entry further indicated the theme as I watched the price of transportation to and from the marketplaces increase during this field work (April 26, 2016). The motivation behind becoming an entrepreneur is usually to make money for personal use and to contribute to family income (Mahmood et al., 2012). This contention fits within the 5M framework (Brush et al., 2009), which specified that venture creation is largely structured around three basic concepts; specifically market, money, and management. In addition to the 3Ms, motherhood, meso, and macro environment, and should be considered when reflecting on the uniqueness of women entrepreneurship (Brush et al., 2009).

As the macro environment aspect, which expresses factors such as cultural, economic, and societal norm expectations of women entrepreneurs, national policies, strategies, economic influences, services, and initiatives should be considered when discussing additional capital to help women entrepreneurs during tough economic situation (Brush et al., 2009). As a result, small scale women entrepreneurs need information such as specific business training in the areas of marketing, customer relations, accounting procedures, as well as the need to strategically invest their money even during tough economic times.

Minor Themes

Minor themes are minor ideas that emerged from the data analysis. The one minor theme that emerged from the data involved my encounter with gatekeepers. Minor themes are important because they are an important aspect of the participants' lived experience.

Emergent Theme 7: Gatekeepers

The minor theme that emerged from this data was the role of gatekeepers in the marketplace. Gatekeepers have assumed some roles, which is mostly seen as their way of protecting individual and organization's interest such as hospitals, nursing homes, and

schools (Gallo et al., 2012). A direct observation of P2 (direct observation of marketplace #1, April 11, 2016) indicated that gatekeepers exist within this marketplace as the individuals near P2 were very interested in knowing my reason for being there. There seemed to be a level of agitation or apprehension when some individuals saw me with my pen and paper within each of the marketplaces.

When I arrived at P2 stall for example, although P2 welcomed me and was willing to participate in my study, the individuals (mainly men) around her stall were very vocal about my presence there. It is important to note that they did not have any rights over whom P2 spoke with or her activities within the marketplace, however, they insisted on knowing my reason for being there. The gatekeepers did by speaking very loudly, to ensure that they disrupted my conversation with her. I later learned that the reason behind the nervousness and agitation had its origin with government agents and tax collectors who often came into the marketplace to collect taxes. Participants might have thought that the government had asked me to come and study them so that they could come back at a later time to tax them, which might explain why most individuals tended to observe my every movement when I passed by their shops or stalls. Each time I noticed their nervousness; I smiled and, if they asked, I would quickly explain my reason for being there. Once they were satisfied with my explanation, some would engage me, and others would carry on with their activities.

My first encounter with P12 was her questions to me "are we safe?" Based on my previous experience with gatekeepers in the other marketplaces, I quickly realized that she was asking that question based on the pen and paper I was holding. I quickly seized

the opportunity to engage with her. I explained what I was there for, and she and those around here seemed to relax after my explanation (P12 personal communication, April 26, 2016). My other gatekeeper encounter occurred near P3's stall, where a man selling spices, whose stall was next to P3's stall, he, again wanted to find out my reason for being there. I politely explained that I was there for research; I also showed him the book containing my field notes as further evidence to explain my reason for being there.

That, however, was not enough for him, as he stood as close to me as possible to listen in on my conversation with P3. The place was very noisy, due to the nature of the marketplace. As a result, it was a little difficult for him to hear what I was saying so, he tried to observe what I was doing instead. Once he realized that we were no longer paying attention to him, he concentrated on selling his spices instead (direct observation of marketplace #1, April 11, 2016). I further indicated the theme through an analysis of the data in my reflective journal entries that consisted of interview responses and observation that concerned the way gatekeepers handle individuals they are suspicious of until they feel safe around that person (journal entry, April 29, 2016). Small scale women entrepreneurs need information can also enable them to understand that although they may not have formal education, they do possess specific business skills that could empower them to handle any issues they may encounter as small scale women entrepreneurs within and outside the marketplace.

A direct observation of P9 (direct observation of marketplace #2, April 23, 2016) indicated this lack of trust, as I overheard some individuals within the area asking about my reason for being in their midst. For example, I heard one say, "you all need to watch that girl, are you sure she is here for research? She was probably sent here by someone to spy on us." Another individual also followed me around, observing my every move. She listened to everything I said and made sure that she saw what I was doing while I was there. Additionally, I believe that my ability to speak the Igbo language allowed me speedy entrance into all the groups I encountered while in each of the marketplaces. For example, although I spoke the Igbo language, my dialect was different from most of the gatekeepers I come across at each of the marketplaces.

Language served as an icebreaker, as most individuals I met endeavored to guess my state of origin once they heard me speak, and as a result, would try to find something in common with me. While I was meeting the acquaintance of the gatekeepers in Marketplace two, a man came by, heard my dialect and said "it looks like you are from our side." In this context, this usually means an individual who is from a particular part of the eastern states. Since this was not the first time I had that said to me, I said yes. He proceeded to ask "which area, in particular, are you from?" When I mentioned my local government and village, although he was not too familiar with both, he made every effort to locate its neighboring villages and towns to continue the conversation. I had similar conversations and experiences with individuals I met in all three marketplaces.

In some situations, gatekeepers can work to a researcher's best interest, as they can act as decision makers for certain participants within a community, and can have an influence over whether or not an individual participates in a study (Gallo et al., 2012). This understanding fits within the 5M framework (Brush et al., 2009), which specified

that venture creation is largely structured around three basic concepts; specifically market, money, and management. In addition to the 3Ms, motherhood, meso, and macro environment, and should be considered when reflecting on the uniqueness of women entrepreneurship (Brush et al., 2009).

The gatekeepers can be seen as a macro environment aspect. This environment expresses factors such as cultural, economic, and societal norm expectations of women entrepreneurs, and should be considered when discussing gatekeeper's influence on women entrepreneurs within the marketplace (Brush et al., 2009). Although I did not encounter a gatekeeper in each stall or shop that I visited, the ones I came across were very significant. Table 13 depicts my encounter with gatekeepers in each marketplace. Table 13

Encounter with Gatekeepers in Each Marketplace

Gatekeepers in Each Marketplace	Number of Gatekeepers	
Marketplace #1	2	
Marketplace #2	1	
Marketplace #3	1	

Unexpected Themes

Unexpected themes are those themes that emerged during data analysis that was not foreseen. The following are the themes that emerged from the data that were unexpected. Small scale women entrepreneurs as supporters and not primary wage earners in the family (*breadwinners*; a colloquial term indicating one who earns the most in the family unit), and the number of women entrepreneurs who did not know how much they made each year.

Emergent Theme 8: Small Scale Women Entrepreneurs as Supporters and Not Primary Wage Earners (Breadwinners)

Women entrepreneurs as supporters of their husbands, instead of breadwinners; this was an unexpected result. The reason for the high percentage could be cultural as men are seen as primary wage earners or *breadwinners* and women as supporters. As a result, the participants shared that they were supporting their husbands and families with their earnings. Additionally, most of these participants did not know me personally; therefore, some may not have been comfortable sharing that type of personal information with me (reflective journal entry, May 3, 2016). An unexpected result emerged during an interview with P6. She indicated that she supported her husband, but later admitted that she is the breadwinner. She also admitted to being able to build two flats, one in the village and one in Enugu, in addition to training four children up to university level (P6 personal communication, April 19, 2016).

When asked whether they were the primary wage earners (breadwinners), most participants indicated that they supported their husbands. All participants except participant's one, six, eight, and fourteen all indicated that they supported their husbands. " I am not the primary wage earner (breadwinner), I actually support my husband" (P2 personal communication, April 19, 2016). This conversation was confirmed through member checking (P2 personal communication, May 7, 2016). P8 however, indicated that she was the primary wage earner. "I am the primary wage earner (breadwinner), particularly since my husband's death; that role has automatically fallen on my shoulders" (P8 personal communication, April 11, 2016). Only one participant indicated that she supports herself.

The theme was further indicated by an analysis of the data in my reflective journal entries that consisted of interview responses and member checking that showed women entrepreneurs as supporters of their husbands and not primary wage winners. This theme fits within the 5M framework (Brush et al., 2009), which specified that venture creation is largely structured around three basic concepts; specifically market, money, and management (Brush et al., 2009). In addition to the 3Ms, motherhood, meso, and macro environment, and should be considered when reflecting on the uniqueness of women entrepreneurship (Brush et al., 2009).

The women entrepreneurs' unwillingness to share who the wage earner (breadwinner) actually was can be seen as a macro environment aspect of the 5M, which expressed factors such as cultural, economic, and societal norm expectations of women entrepreneurs and should be considered when discussing its influence on women entrepreneurs (Brush et al., 2009). Abonge (2012) indicated that small scale women entrepreneurs meet basic household needs based on the income from their various enterprises, thus, contributing to the survival of the household. Fifty three percent of participants indicated that they support their husbands, which indicates that small scale women entrepreneurs need information such as specific business training and networking. This information may provide them with the needed confidence to express who the primary wage earner (breadwinner) within the household is, regardless of cultural stipulations.

Table 14 shows small scale women entrepreneurs as supporters and not primary wage earners.

Table 14

Primary Wage Earner	Study Participants	Percentage	
Primary Wage Earners	4	27%	
Supports Husband	10	67%	
Supports Self	1	7%	

Participants as Supporters and not Primary Wage Earners (N = 15)

Emergent Theme 9: The Inability of Small Scale Women Entrepreneurs to

Articulate Yearly Income

Another major surprise in this study is that most small scale women entrepreneurs in this study were not sure what their yearly income was. When asked how much each of them made in a year, the responses varied, as some indicated that they were not sure, others indicated that it depends on the season, yet, others admitted to using the money as it comes in on a daily basis for food and family issues. This discovery fits within the 5M framework (Brush et al., 2009). The result was expected, given the conceptual framework applied (Mandipaka, 2014; Mauchi, Mutengezanwa, & Damiyano, 2014).

The conceptual framework specified that venture creation is largely structured around three basic concepts; specifically market, money, and management, in addition to the 3Ms, motherhood, meso, and macro environment, which should be considered when reflecting on the uniqueness of women entrepreneurship (Brush et al., 2009). The motherhood aspect, which represents the family and household perspective, draws attention to the fact that the family may have a greater influence on women than it would on men as regards to the money made on a daily basis (Brush et al., 2009).

"I think I make about two thousand naira each month, but I am not sure (P1 personal communication, April 11, 2016). "I am not sure, stated P8, because any money made is used for food each day, I have no husband, so I am responsible for food" (personal communication, April 19, 2016). "I have not calculated how much I make each month or yearly, for that reason, I am not sure" (P15 personal communication, April 26, 2016). A direct observation of P8 indicated that they do not conduct proper accounting as I saw her give some money to someone to buy something without recording it (direct observation of marketplace #2, May 7, 2016).

The inability of small scale women entrepreneurs to determine their yearly income is a result of lack of training (Aliata & Baba, 2013) because, with specific accounting business training, they can maintain a daily log, that way, they can record all their activities. If the money is used for anything as all participants indicated, they can at least have a record of income made (Aliata & Baba, 2013). As a result, small scale women entrepreneurs need information such as specific business training in the areas of accounting procedures and financing strategies, as well as knowledge regarding capital reinvestment, to address the issue concerning their inability to articulate yearly earned income. Table 15 shows participant's inability to articulate yearly income.

Table 15

How Much Earned on a Yearly Basis	Study Participants	Percentage
Unable to Articulate	6	40%
Earned Income is Seasonal	5	33%
Earned Income used for family Issues	2	13%
Articulated Income Earned	2	13%

Participant's Inability to Articulate Yearly Income (N = 15)

Summary

In this chapter, I presented the summary of the research data. The data was associated with the overarching question of the study: what information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome possible barriers that influence their business and economic development. The research method was mini ethnographic case study with indepth interviews, observations, field notes, and reflective journal entries completed with a purposeful sample of 15 women entrepreneurs in Enugu State over a 30 day period. This chapter included the findings of my research study, the demographic information, data collection process, data analysis summaries, evidence of trustworthiness, and the study results. Additionally, I provided a description of the themes and categories that was discovered and used during the data analysis process.

The interview transcripts, observations, field notes, and reflective journal entries were analyzed and coded to identify key themes in the research. The emerging themes discussed in this chapter include: (a) lack of required money or capital for business, (b) the need to make profit or gain, (c) lack of formal business training (d) low level education, (e) money raised from previous business, dependence on husband, and relatives for startup financing, and (f) additional financing to help during tough economic situation. There were no discrepant cases within the interview statements.

In Chapter 5, I will present the discussion, conclusions, and recommendations, and from my study. In this chapter, I will also include a discussion that is focused on the interpretation of data and limitations of the study, research implications for social change, and recommendations for future researchers. In addition to the summary and conclusion of the study, in Chapter 5 I will also include reflections on my personal experience with the research process. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of the qualitative mini ethnographic case study was to explore what information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome possible barriers that influence their business and economic development. I chose to conduct this research, using a mini ethnographic case study because the research question called for an in-depth understanding of the influence of business and economic development regarding small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria. I gathered data from multiple sources including interview transcripts, direct observation, field notes, and reflective journal entries.

Interpretation of Findings

The research question for this study guided the nature of the study. One overarching question guided the discussion of patterns and themes found in the interviews, direct observations, field notes, and reflective journal entries about the information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria use to overcome possible barriers that influence their business and economic development. Concepts such as educational level, training, the motivation for business, helpful resources, and difficulties in business were assessed to gauge an understanding of the themes relevant to participants' view of barriers to business and economic development of women entrepreneurs.

The study findings confirmed the results of other studies noted in the literature review. The literature showed the possible barriers that influence the business and economic development of women entrepreneurs in Enugu State Nigeria. As noted by Nyamwanza, Mapetere, Mavhiki, and Dzingirai (2012), women entrepreneurs have a difficult time managing their profit, in spite of their business having the potential to make money, some still have not been able to reinvest their money into their various businesses.

Women entrepreneurs, however, use the money made from their various businesses to solve other nonbusiness related issues and very little is invested into the business (Nyamwanza et al., 2012). Most women entrepreneurs end up losing track of their daily transactions and are unable to account for their expenses and profits at the end of each month. This contention is that this occurs as a result of lack of managerial skills, such as bookkeeping, inventory management, personal management, and basic marketing (Nyamwanza et al., 2012).

Some scholars argued that once women entrepreneurs are properly educated and trained, they will be more mindful of issues relating to entrepreneurial activities, be more adaptable to change, and less passive about issues that are unfavorable to them (Nyamwanza et al., 2012). Other scholars noted that some women entrepreneurs do not keep records or accounts, nor do they have access to bank accounts; as a result, they end up spending capital because they are unable to differentiate between capital and profit (Nyamwanza et al., 2012). The result of this study supports this contention, as most participants admitted to having some training; only four (or 27%) of the participants attended formal business training as others received informal training from parents, brothers, in laws, or their husband. Small scale women entrepreneurs need information regarding formal business training and its impact on small scale enterprises, particularly when it has been identified that they did not receive any or proper business training

before launching their small scale businesses.

Access to training would provide information such as basic skills and experiences needed to launch a new business because some women who become entrepreneurs seem to have difficulty growing their businesses due to insufficient working capital and inadequate technical and managerial skills (Maru & Chemjor, 2013). One way to address this would be to offer entrepreneurship extension services in universities that are specifically for women entrepreneurs within the field, or financial management within the community; this way, they can learn since most may not have the resources to hire professional trainers (Nyamwanza et al., 2012). One result of the study revealed that most small scale women entrepreneurs did not see the need for training. They believed that due to their type of businesses, they would not benefit from training. These women also believed that if anything is to be learned, it can be learned on the job. For example, only 27% of participants attended formal business training, and 73% received training from their brother, husband, in law, or relatives.

Only a few (20%) of the small scale women entrepreneur participants admitted to being the primary wage earners (breadwinners), while others (73%) supported their husbands, most paid for services that concerned their children and families. Some women entrepreneurs also admitted to being able to pay for services such as medical and school fees, school uniforms, and stationaries for their children, while others had the ability to pay house rent (Njau & Komba, 2014). Culturally, men are to be breadwinners and women their supporters; however, the lack of gainful employment has forced women to take up the role of breadwinners (Ofor & Ben-Chendo, 2011). Also, unlike some men who tend to keep a portion of their income for their personal use, some women's income are strongly linked with the developments in the health of their children as well as their nutritional status (Ofor & Ben-Chendo, 2011). Further, although men are seen as the providers and family protectors, in recent times, most women have now become heads of households, with some becoming entrepreneurs (Ukpata & Onyeukwu, 2014). Doing this enables them to provide income for the upkeep of the family (Ukpata & Onyeukwu, 2014). As a result, specific business information such as training and networking opportunities may provide some small scale women entrepreneurs the self assurance they need to express their role within the household.

A large proportion of women are more exclusively inhibited by financial barriers than their male colleagues and the results of this study support this contention (Kwong, Jones-Evans, &Thompson, 2012). As identified in this study, almost all participants acknowledged their need for information on how to obtain finances as something that would have been helpful to succeed, as well as a resource they are currently in need of to improve their various businesses. Access to capital is important for business; however, the level of education tends to affect access to capital (Cheluget, 2015).

The result of this study showed that 60% of participants received an O/level or high school level education, 13% received less than primary school education, and another 13% received a bachelor's degree. As a result, women who aspire to become small scale entrepreneurs, but have been identified as having low level education, need information regarding access to specific business training. This specific business training information in the areas of accounting, marketing, and customer relations could help small scale women entrepreneurs launch and grow successful businesses. Supporting the assertion by Boateng (2014) and UNDP (2014) that women entrepreneurs are characterized as having limited or no formal education, as well as insufficient human assets. Further, small scale sector of the economy are ascribed to having low level education, inadequate financial and human capital, in addition to the lack of potential future opportunities (Boateng, 2014; UNDP, 2014).

Due to lack of education, some women entrepreneurs depend on predacious money lenders, while others become a part of informal savings groups (Goyal & Yadav, 2014; Olarenwaju & Olabisi, 2012). This assertion is consistent with my findings, as some participants would rather belong to a local savings group, known as *akawo*, than to become a part of the formal financial institutions, as most believed that nothing good could come from the bank. For example, some participants indicated that they rather manage the amount of money they currently own, than gain access to microfinance loans as they may seize a person's business for nonrepayment, therefore placing the individual in an even worse situation than they were before borrowing the money. The above theme revealed that small scale women entrepreneurs need information on how to gain access to formal institutions to obtain the various benefits these institutions offer.

Some small scale women entrepreneurs also acknowledged that loans should be given only to individuals who are financially responsible, as some entrepreneurs have used their microfinance loans to solve family issues, and as a result, did not use it for the intended purpose and were unable to pay back the loan. Small scale women entrepreneurs need information such as specific business training in the area of accounting, financing, and business management; these women can gain insights on how to properly manage their businesses, realize a profit, and make the necessary payments on borrowed loans. Other small scale women entrepreneurs indicated the high interest associated with microfinance loans, which is the reason for not accessing them. One participant indicated that she would want information on how to access microfinance loan, but was not fully educated about the benefits of these loans. Several governmental programs exist to aid small scale women entrepreneurs; however women, the majority who are illiterate, often do not receive appropriate assistance (Fapohunda, 2012). With proper education and training, a key element of entrepreneurship development, these women entrepreneurs are likely to thrive (Ismail et al., 2012; Njau & Komba, 2014).

Businesses are more likely to grow and increase if owners and managers are educated because the educational level of an entrepreneur will significantly determine its survival and growth as higher education contributes to higher business growth (Brijlal, Naicker, & Peters, 2013). Some participants indicated the need to not remain idle; the need to support their families, and the need to make money as their prime motivators for becoming entrepreneurs. Push factors such as marriage, unemployment, and poverty also played a role in the choice of becoming entrepreneurs (Ismail et al., 2012; Tambunan, 2015; Umaira & Muhammad, 2012). Additionally, individuals who became entrepreneurs based on push factors tend to be less financially successful than those who built their business based on pull factors (Ismail et al., 2012), which seems to be the case for most participants in this study.

When asked how much they each earned in a year, some women entrepreneurs

indicated that they did not know, mainly because they used any money they earned to provide food for the family on a daily basis. Small scale women entrepreneurs need information such as specific business training in the area of accounting and financing, as well as capital reinvestment, to address the issue concerning the ability to articulate yearly earned income. As Goyal and Yadav (2014) stated, in some developing countries where families are connected and depend on one another for assistance, some women entrepreneurs are unable to save and grow their businesses because of the need to provide for extended family members. These findings are supported by Boateng (2014) and Seenivasan (2014) because most women entrepreneurs did not keep a record of their business activities and others did not know how much was involved in conducting their businesses due to the absence of education.

Further, when asked about how finances were raised for their various businesses, 40% of the participants asserted that money came from previous businesses. The remaining participants shared that money came from a husband, in law, brother, friends, and well wishers. This discovery led me to believe that small scale women entrepreneurs need information on ways to finance their businesses. They also require information on how to gain access to formal financial institutions to obtain loans to finance their businesses, instead of relying on their husbands and relatives for startup financing. As a result, small scale women entrepreneurs are in need of information such as specific business training in the area of accounting procedures and financing opportunities, as well as capital reinvestment to address the issue concerning the ability to articulate how finances were raised for their businesses. This idea supported the theme that 61% of the startup capital of women entrepreneurs came as a gift from their mothers and grandmothers, 10% from other relatives such as husbands, in laws, brothers, and aunts, while others admitted to starting their businesses with no startup capital at all.

Although the fear of the economy was not mentioned in the literature as one of the barriers to the business and economic development of women entrepreneurs, the results of this study revealed a deep concern about the economy by most of the participants. As a result, small scale women entrepreneurs need information such as specific business training in the area of marketing, customer relations, accounting procedures, as well as how to strategically reinvest their money even during tough economic times. An example of this important theme can be found in my study results. A participant who sold fresh tomatoes during my interview with her was selling fresh okra on my next visit. When I inquired concerning the reason, she explained that the price of a basket of tomatoes had increased in such a way that it was no longer feasible for her to sell tomatoes for the time being. To not remain idle or use her business money for something other than its intended use, she invested her money towards selling fresh okra.

Limitations of the Study

The limitations of this study were not as expected in regards to small scale women entrepreneurs feeling frustrated and as a result not wanting to engage in a conversation with me. Most women were more than willing to conduct an interview with me. I, unfortunately, had to pass on some small scale women entrepreneurs who were willing to conduct an interview with me but who were not within the scope of this study. After my first meeting with the women entrepreneurs, they were happy to welcome me back to their stalls or shops asking if I needed additional information from them for my research.

Although most women entrepreneurs were not overwhelmed by my presence, there was a sense of curiosity among their neighbors, mostly men, who saw me in the women's stalls or shops and wanted to know my reason for being there. Additionally, none of the women entrepreneurs acted in a way that was unusual or out of the ordinary; they were all willing participants and allowed me to conduct my direct observations, as well. While most participants endeavored to share their lived experiences with me, the one limitation I encountered was the participants' reluctance to share information such as marital status, date of birth, how much they earned, and how many individuals they have living in each of their households. This is information they considered private; although they later shared the information with me once we became familiar with one another, initially I had some participants ask if others answered all the questions, I was asking them.

Although 15 women entrepreneurs were purposefully selected from Enugu State, Nigeria to participate in the study, there is a chance that the views of the participants selected might not represent the views of all women entrepreneurs in Enugu State. Another limitation associated with this study included the geographical location of the research focus. Focusing only on Enugu State posed a limitation regarding gaining a stronger insight of the information about barriers influencing the business and economic development of women entrepreneurs on a broader scale as the research results, for example, may not be transferable to the entire country or other research sites. The primary aim of all qualitative research is not to generalize the research finding, but to leave the transferability decision up to the reader (Houghton et al., 2013; Kolb, 2012).

The research participant selection criteria also created a limitation. I selected women entrepreneurs who ran small scale business enterprises that were independently owned and operated. These women entrepreneurs also provided goods and services to consumers within a local market and employed between one to 10 individuals with an annual profit of 200,000 naira or less (approximately 1,000 dollars or less). It is important to note that their business experiences varied from one person to the next.

Recommendations

The following are recommendations for future research I make based on my analysis of the data provided by the participants of this study, from direct observation of the participants, and from my reflective journal entries. While the findings of this study are not intended to be transferable as transferability is always left up to the reader to decide (Houghtonet al., 2013), there is an evidence to suggest that small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria require a lot of information to overcome possible barriers that influence their business and economic development. The results of this study indicated that there is a need to develop ways in which small scale businesses, particularly, small scale women entrepreneurs can thrive in Enugu State through obtaining information necessary to initiate, grow, and sustain their companies.

The focus of this study was on women entrepreneurs in Enugu State and the research findings revealed fascinating factors that affect the business and economic development of small scale women entrepreneurs. To further address the information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome possible barriers that influence their business and economic development, it may be useful to expand the scope of this study to include other women entrepreneurs whose businesses are considered medium scale or large scale, as some of these women entrepreneurs may also benefit from this study. There is a need for future researchers to investigate if there is any significant difference in the information needed to identify barriers that influence the business and economic development of small scale and medium scale or large scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State. The federal, state, and local governments have a role to play in ensuring the wellbeing of small scale businesses.

Governments owe small scale businesses the responsibility of providing both financial and infrastructural support (Latha & Murthy, 2009). This support should include business friendly policies that encourage small scale women entrepreneurs. The need to provide information regarding formal business training as well as appropriate access to financing for business cannot be overly emphasized. Women play an important role in the development of their families and communities economically (Ekpe et al., 2010); there is a need to nurture and maintain this important resource.

The results from this study also revealed that financial institutions charge a high interest rate, as well as the stringent requirements enacted on individuals in need of loans; as a result, small scale women entrepreneurs are unable to gain access to loans. A government, however, needs to intercede on behalf of small scale women entrepreneurs by providing information needed to address the challenges associated with gaining access to loans. Although the focus of this study was on small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, the research findings may also be beneficial to medium scale businesses, as most participants indicated a lack of finances as being a major issue for their businesses, something medium scale business women might equally need for their business and economic development and sustainability.

Further, the research findings also revealed the importance of information regarding formal business training. All participants who had obtained formal business training expressed its importance and impact on their businesses. "I completed training; I believe that it is important to go to training before starting any business." (P3, personal communication, April 11, 2016) Small scale women entrepreneurs need to be educated and given sufficient information and knowledge about business and entrepreneurship. Additionally, information concerning barriers that influence the business and economic development of women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, namely, poverty alleviation strategies, are inadequate. As Boateng (2014) stated, entrepreneurship mainly contributes to the development of an economy; while at the same time being a multifaceted and multilayered phenomenon that can be affected by culture and social traditions.

The inadequate definition ascribed to poverty has resulted in temporal and unsustainable poverty alleviation initiatives in many countries, as the leading definition of poverty could be seen more as the outcome of poverty rather than poverty itself (Nyasulu, 2010; UNDP, 2014). This is still the case worldwide as several of the study participants indicated that they used the money made to support their families on a daily basis. Still, the economic situation in Nigeria has been particularly difficult that includes the price of goods and services on the increase and the price of fuel; most participants felt like their only option was to wait and see how everything turns out.

Although previous studies (Fapohunda, 2012), highlighted this additional information, strong evidence did not exist regarding a major contribution to information regarding barriers to the business and economic development of women entrepreneurs. It is important that future researchers investigate and explore how the economic situation of a country affects the business and economic development of women entrepreneurs. In general, this study might be beneficial to key stakeholders, including small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, local, and state government leaders, government and nongovernmental agencies, policy makers at the local government, state and national levels, as well as educational institutions. The sample of participants used in this study may not effectively represent all the small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State. It may be essential for future researchers to repeat this study in other marketplaces, within or around the same region, to compare and contrast the research findings with the results of this study. Also, the research criteria for participant selection for this study were specific for the current research; future researchers may consider adjusting the research criteria and sample size to expand the scope of the study.

Finally, future researchers may consider exploring the relationship between small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State and socioeconomic development. It is important to note that all of the participants in this study acknowledged that access to more financing could improve the business of the women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria. An examination of this phenomenon through experimental analysis may provide a holistic perspective regarding the relationship between small scale women entrepreneurship and socioeconomic development, particularly in developing and underdeveloped countries. To effectively disseminate the research findings, other strategies I might adopt includes journal article publications, conference presentations, and joining women initiative campaigns.

In essence, the results of this research point to the fact that there is a need to actively engage small scale women entrepreneurs and collaborate with key stakeholders to ensure that the recommendations proposed are successfully implemented. It was also interesting to see that most participants did not attend training; these participants failed to realize that although their businesses might not have required training, attending training would have helped in other aspects of business growth such as networking, mentoring, and business strategies. There is a need to share information such as basic sales and marketing tools like flyers and sales incentives with small scale women entrepreneurs so that they will not see financing as the only way to grow their businesses. Furthermore, women entrepreneur need to be introduced to other benefits associated with training as one may have access to huge sums of finance, but may not see a significant growth in her business and identify the cause because of lack of specific business and other managerial training.

It seemed like most participants claimed to be supporting their husbands when they were, in fact, the primary wage earners (breadwinners). I believe this could be because culturally, men are to be the primary wage earners (breadwinners). As a result, most women would hide their true roles. They are not aware of the impact of hiding their identities, and the impact it has on their role as wives, mothers, helpers, and women entrepreneurs. Most of them also did not know how much they earned each year; this is once again as a result of lack of formal business training. With information regarding formal business training, one can learn discipline as well as basic accounting procedures needed to calculate what is earned, even when one needs to use that money to support the family. Prospects may look good initially, but will go back to the way it once was because sustainability, which is the basic issue, has yet to be achieved.

Implications for Social Change

The purpose of the qualitative mini ethnographic case study was to explore what information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome possible barriers that influence their business and economic development. There are various ways in which this study might contribute to positive social change. First, the results of this study may provide an enlightened outlook about the barriers to small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, and may result in empowering and equipping them with the information and tools needed to avert future barriers. An understanding of the information regarding barriers to small scale women entrepreneurs may lead to business and economic growth for some women entrepreneurs as they will gain access to tools such as formal business training, networking opportunities, business capital offerings, and other resources needed to grow and sustain their businesses. This information, understanding, and access may lead to significant reduction in poverty among women entrepreneurs in Enugu State.

Secondly, the research findings revealed that 73% of small scale women entrepreneurs support their husbands, and only 20% of them are primary wage earners (breadwinners). I believe that the reverse may be the case. Due to conventional gender roles that have shaped the family with the traditionally held belief of men as primary wage earners (breadwinners) and women as homemakers (Sumaira & Muhammad, 2012), most women felt obligated to share that they supported their husbands instead of stating that they were actually the primary wage earner (breadwinners). This was evidenced by one response I received from a participant who at first indicated that she supported her husband, but later explained that she was actually the primary wage earner (breadwinners), as her husband had been out of work for the past 12 years and currently did not make enough money to be the family's primary wage earner (breadwinner). Some research participants also indicated that being an entrepreneur allowed them to meet the need of their family in a unique way and not have to ask their husbands for money when any of their children needed anything. Additionally, being entrepreneurs had allowed some of them the ability to train their children up to university level, thus contributing to the society by producing educated youths and young adults.

By adopting the recommendations of this study based on the research findings, it may illuminate the need for federal, state, or local government to focus on and provide information to small scale women entrepreneurs in Nigeria to develop economically. The federal government of Nigeria may also benefit from this study as the research results may foster understanding and insights to help guide officials in developing and implementing an appropriate policy that could assist in poverty alleviation among women. It may also help the government to develop policies that would educate the family on the importance of skills and knowledge acquisition for every member of the family, which could then result in economic development and poverty reduction. It may also help in reducing poverty levels as well as the need to overly depend on husbands, partners, and relatives for economic support.

The results and implications of this research may provide information to small scale women entrepreneurs in Nigeria on how to acquire entrepreneurial skills, strategies, knowledge, and education that could help them develop economically. The current dependency of small scale women entrepreneurs on their husbands, partners, or relatives due to cultural belief may also be reduced. Finally, the results of this study may also contribute to a curriculum to educate children concerning family economic roles.

Reflection

In spite of the vital role women entrepreneurs play in regards to the economic development of their families, communities, and countries, they seem to have low business performance compared to their male colleagues (Ike, 2012). This poor business performance is caused by factors such as lack of savings, credit, education, information, training, and social capital (Ike, 2012). Some women entrepreneurs, especially in developing nations, lack information and training (Ike, 2012). As a result, the current research is crucial particularly in Enugu State, where information about challenges small scale women entrepreneurs face as well as the positive impact of business and economic developments of these women entrepreneurs is less developed and have rarely been explored.

As a woman, a Nigerian American, and, more importantly, an entrepreneur, I find that the fact that women entrepreneurs lack information needed to overcome possible barriers such as inadequate training, few financing opportunities, the prevalence of low level education, and other factors which influence their business, and economic development is worrisome. I sought to conduct this study to gain a better understanding of the research phenomenon which in turn would form the basis of the proposed strategies that may help to address the issue. Fifteen women entrepreneurs based in Enugu State, Nigeria participated in this study. Before conducting this research and throughout the research process, I had no preconceived notion as related to the research topic. I strove to maintain integrity while striving to eliminate bias throughout the research process.

The research participants shared their views and lived experiences regarding what information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome possible barriers that influence their business and economic development. During data analysis, I strove to identify the core emergent themes as well as subthemes that contributed contextually to the study. It is important to state that the research findings from the data analysis represented the core and meanings that were both significant and helpful to understand the research phenomenon. Additionally, this qualitative mini ethnographic study and the research findings are peculiar to Enugu State; as a result, the research finding may not be a representation of other geographical regions. Furthermore, I was enlightened and encouraged by the findings of the study; it was particularly rewarding to observe participants as they willingly expressed and shared their lived experiences to improve the wellbeing of other women entrepreneurs in Enugu State.

During the interview, participants displayed passion and a deep sense of responsibility as they provided answers to the interview questions. Some participants noted that the case under study was not only timely but also needed at this time in the country. Some also mentioned that they agreed to participate in this study because they believed it was for the wellbeing of other women entrepreneurs.

The findings of this study were more convincing for me as a women entrepreneur to advocate for a swift and effective implementation of the research recommendations by key stakeholders. Besides a few participants who mentioned business difficulties, I was touched when I heard about other difficulties most participants endured during the interview. For example, P8 became emotional when discussing the business and personal difficulties she faced since the death of her husband. She explained how the family became poverty stricken due to her husband's lengthy illness and death. She also described how difficult life became for the family after his death and how the children sometimes went to bed without food.

I remember reflecting in my journal entries about her difficulties, and how similar her situation was to my grandmother's situation. As the story went that, my grandfather died leaving my grandmother with nine children to raise all by herself. Most of the children were still very young when this incident happened. So I imagined her trying to raise small children with little to no money like my grandmother had to do. When I came back to Nigeria to stay with my grandmother as a young child, I saw some after effects of this incident because there were times when life was still somewhat difficult for the family, even after so many years had gone by and some of the children had grown up. My grandmother had to feed all her children with her meager primary school teacher salary; sometimes she had to borrow money to make ends meet. This, she did until her children grew up, completed their education, secured employment, and started helping with raising the younger ones, which was a huge relief for my grandmother.

I was impacted by P8's lived experience because it validated what I knew to be true concerning some women in general. As a result, my passion and desire to help women and children, particularly women entrepreneurs who are willing and able to work and to have the opportunity to do so, has been rekindled. In this way, they will not have to endure the pain of watching their children go to bed hungry, as P8 had to endure.

Summary and Study Conclusion

In 2016, women account for more than 40% of the workforce worldwide; yet, women tend to earn less than men, and the reasons seem to be multifaceted (Revenga & Shetty, 2012). Women are more likely than men to work within the home or in the informal economy, particularly women entrepreneurs who are inclined to operate smaller businesses in less lucrative sectors (Revenga & Shetty, 2012). For example, although Nigeria is known for its abundance of dynamic human, vibrant, and natural resources, as well as its various business and investment potentials that it enjoys (Ihugba et al., 2013), the issue of poverty, particularly among women, remains a major economic problem (Ihugba et al., 2013).

Fifty percent of the 150 million populace in Nigeria are women and 70% of them live and work in rural areas (Fapohunda, 2012). In identifying specific information such as lack of required financing, lack of access to formal business training, and the prevalence of low level education, I answered the research question for this study. The purpose of this mini ethnographic case study was to explore what information small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria need to overcome possible barriers that influence their business and economic development. I recruited 15 women entrepreneurs from three different marketplaces in Enugu State, Nigeria, through purposeful sampling. These individuals shared their lived experiences with me through an indepth semistructured interviews; I collected other data through direct observation, field notes, and reflective journal entries.

Building on the 5M conceptual framework of this study, the research findings revealed information regarding existing barriers to women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria and underscored the synergetic relationship between formal business training, and economic and business development of women entrepreneurs. The analysis of participants' responses, direct observation, field notes, and reflective journal entries, revealed that information about education and business training plays a key supportive role in women entrepreneurs' business and economic development, suggesting that formal business training and economic development appear to be mutually dependent.

The study results also revealed that most small scale women entrepreneurs did not see the need for training. They believed that due to their type of business, they would not benefit from training and, if anything is to be learned, skills can be learned on the job. As the findings of this study revealed, information about access to formal business training may help not only women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, but also other women entrepreneurs within the entire country. The findings of this study offer an additional source of information about the need for business and economic development among women entrepreneurs in general. Additionally, the research findings also revealed that the difficulties most small scale women entrepreneurs encounter involves the need to support their families as well as the tough economic situation. Supporting one's family can be a very difficult task when coupled with a tough economy; it is even more difficult as the economic situation affected their business in such a way that it now costs a lot more to purchase goods, but now becomes very difficult to sell these goods at a reasonable price to final consumers. This might explain why some of these women are overly dependent on their husbands, partners, and relatives, and others use business funds for purposes other than its intended use.

Further, the results of this study revealed that most small scale women entrepreneurs received startup money from husband, family members, friends, or in laws; only some used money from previous businesses to start their businesses. Of those who used money from previous businesses, some still received additional finance from husband or relatives. The results of this study also revealed that only a few knew about microfinance and, of the individuals who knew about it, they do not believe in or trust the system and so would not access it if given the opportunity.

Only one small scale woman entrepreneur indicated an interest once she is educated and has attained enough information about the process. It is important to note that the study also revealed that most small scale women entrepreneurs did not know how much they earned on a yearly basis and, as a result, were not able to keep a realistic accounting of their yearly earnings. Money earned each day was used to solve contemporary family related issues instead. This study addressed the gap in the literature regarding research about small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State Nigeria, and information regarding the barriers they face (Ekpe et al., 2010; Ifelunini & Wosowei, 2012). Information regarding barriers such as lack of required businesses training, skills development, time management, and other business related skills tends to impede the business and economic growth and sustainability of some small scale women entrepreneurs (Broto, 2014; Ekpe, 2011). Additionally, based on the implications of this study, the dependency of small scale women entrepreneurs on their husbands, partners, or relatives due to cultural belief may also be reduced.

By offering formal business training information to women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria this study might contribute to social change. Based on the research findings, this results of the study advances important recommendations for action and further research. The recommendations proposed for stakeholders may also help to address the issues and information associated with lack of access to formal business training, lack of access to finances, and the need to support one's family. As a result, government officials might enhance the potential for information needed by small scale women entrepreneurs in Enugu State, Nigeria to be made available about overcoming possible barriers that influence their business and economic development and sustainability.

Most countries appear to understand the need to eliminate all forms of discrimination against women, in the case of Nigeria, the federal government developed several programs in 2004 including a National Economic Empowerment and Development Strategy, a State Economic Empowerment and Development Strategy, and a Local Economic Empowerment and Development Strategy programs (Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013). There is still a need for poverty reduction among women, mainly women entrepreneurs and poor women who tend to have a less to say than men when it comes to using resources and making decision within the household (Revenga & Shetty, 2012). Most Nigerian women possess strong capabilities needed to speed up the growth, development, and sustainability of society; nevertheless, their capabilities have not been fully employed due to various economic and societal barriers (Tajudeen & Adebayo, 2013). Poverty elimination among women can be achieved when women are exposed to information regarding the ability to increase access to economic opportunity. This enables them to have equal voices and rights within society and in the home (Revenga & Shetty, 2012).

References

- Abonge, C. V. (2012). Assessing the impact of women's enterprises on household livelihoods and survival: Evidence from the North West Region of Cameroon. *Greener Journal of Social Sciences*, 2, 147–159. Retrieved from http://www.gjournals.org
- Adeelanjum, M., Khan, N., Naz, H., Raza, S. A., & Fatima, S. (2012). Problems and prospects of women entrepreneurs: A case study of Quetta-Pakistan. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, *3*, 177–183. Retrieved from http://ijbssnet.com
- Ademokun, F., & Ajayi, O. (2012). Entrepreneurship development, business ownership, and women empowerment in Nigeria. *Journal of Business Diversity*, *12*(1), 72–87. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com/jbdopen.html
- Adeola, A. (2014). Challenges of women entrepreneurs: The Nigerian experience. *International Journal of Research*, 1(10), 85–92. Retrieved from http://www.internationaljournalofresearch.org
- Adisa, T. A., Abdulraheem, A., & Mordi, C. (2014). The characteristics and challenges of small business in Africa: An exploratory study of Nigerian small business owners. *Economic Insights-Trends and Challenges*, 66(4), 1–14. Retrieved from http://www.upg-bulletin-se.ro
- Agboola, J. O., Ademiluyi, F. L., & Ademiluyi, A. B. (2015). Social-cultural inhibitions to the development of female entrepreneurship in Osun State, Nigeria. *African Journal of Applied Research*, *1*, 207–218. Retrieved from

http://www.ajaronline.com

Agerfalk, P. J. (2013). Embracing diversity through mixed methods research. *European Journal of Information Systems*, *22*, 251–256. doi:10.1057/ejis.2013.6

Agwu, M. O., & Emeti, C. I. (2014). Issues, challenges and prospects of small and medium-scale enterprises (SMEs) in Port Harcourt City, Nigeria. *European Journal of Sustainable Development*, 3, 101–114.

doi:10.14207/ejsd.2014.v3nlp101

- Ajani, E. N., & Igbokwe, E. M. (2015). Assessment of human capital attributes influencing occupational diversification among rural women in Anambra State, Nigeria. *International Journal of Sustainable Agricultural Research*, 2(2), 31–44. Retrieved from http://www.pakinsight.com
- Alfonso, M., Nickelson, L., & Cohen, D. (2012). Farmers' markets in rural communities: A case study. *American Journal of Health Education*, 43, 143–151. Retrieved from http://www.aahperd.org/aahe/publications/ajhe
- Aliyu, M. A. (2013). The role of household women in sustainable development: A case study of Lafia local government, Nasarawa State– Nigeria. *Journal of Sociological Research*, 4, 447–463. doi:10.5296/jsr.v4.i24850
- Allemann, H., & Sund-Levander, M. (2015). Nurses' actions in response to nursing assistants' observations of signs and symptoms of infections among nursing home residents. *Nursing Open*, 2, 97–104. 10.1002/nop2.22
- Al-karasneh, S. M. (2014). Reflective journal writing as a tool to teach aspects of social studies. *European Journal of Education*, *49*, 395–408. doi:10.1111/ejed.12084

- Alkerwi, A., Sauvageot, N., Couffignal, S., Albert, A., Lair, M.-L., & Guillaume, M.
 (2010). Comparison of participants and non-participants to the ORISCAV-LUX population-based study on cardiovascular risk factors in Luxembourg. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *10*, 80. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-10-80
- Almutairi, A. F., Gardner, G. E., & McCarthy, A. (2014). Practical guidance for the use of pattern-matching technique in case-study research: A case presentation.
 Nursing & Health Sciences, 16, 239–244. doi:10.1111/nhs.12096
- Al Mutairi, A., & Fayez, F. (2015). Factors motivating female entrepreneurs in Kuwait. *Journal of Applied Management and Entrepreneurship*, 20(1), 50–68. Retrieved http://www.greenleaf-publishing.com/productdetail.kmod?productid=4147
- Alonge, H. O., Ige, A. M., & Osagiobare, O. E. (2014). Women empowerment for selfreliance: Educational management strategies in Nigeria case. *Journal of Educational and Social Research*, 4, 517–524. Retrieved from http://www.mcser.org
- Alsaidi, M. S., & Mo, J. P. (2014). System support engineering framework: A tool to achieve strategy transformation. *Technology and Investment*, 5(1), 32–44. doi:10.4236/ti.2014.51005
- Al-Shami, S. S. A., Majid, I. B. A., Rashid, N. A., & Hamid, M. S. R. B. A. (2014).
 Conceptual framework: The role of microfinance on the wellbeing of poor people cases studies from Malaysia and Yemen. *Asian Social Science*, *10*, 230–242.
 doi:10.5539/ass.v10n1p230

Altin, S., Passon, A., Kautz-Freimuth, S., Berger, B., & Stock, S. (2015). A qualitative

study on barriers to evidence-based practice in patient counseling and advocacy in Germany. *BMC Health Services Research*, *15*, 317. doi:10.1186/s12913-015-0979-9

- Aluwihare-Samaranayake, D. (2012). Ethics in qualitative research: A view of the participants' and researchers' world from a critical standpoint. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 11(2), 64–81. Retrieved from https://ejournals.library.ualberta.ca
- Anastasiadis, E., Rajan, P., & Winchester, C. L. (2015). Framing a research question: The first and most vital step in planning research. *Journal of Clinical Urology*, *8*, 409– 411. doi:10.1177/2051415815612049
- Anderson, J. (2012). Reflective journals as a tool for auto-ethnographic learning: A case study of student experiences with individualized sustainability. *Journal of Geography in Higher Education, 36*, 613–623. doi:10.1080/03098265.2012.692157
- Ani, K. J. (2012). Violent traditional gender practices and implication for nation building process in Nigeria. *Public Policy and Administration Research*, 2(5), 44–56.
 Retrieved from http://www.iiste.org/Journals/index.php/PPAR
- Anyan, F. (2013). The influence of power shifts in data collection and analysis stages: A focus on qualitative research interview. *Qualitative Report*, 18(18), 1–9. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v8n5p72
- Applebaum, L. (2014). From whining to wondering: Reflective journaling with preservice educators. *Journal of Jewish Education*, *80*(1), 5–23.

doi:10.1080/15244113.2014.880140

- Ascher, J. (2012). Female entrepreneurship An appropriate response to gender discrimination. *Journal of Entrepreneurship, Management and Innovation*, 8, 97– 114. Retrieved from http://repozytorium.wsb-nlu.edu
- Aslam, S., & Emmanuel, P. (2010). Formulating a researchable question: A critical step for facilitating good clinical research. *Indian Journal of Sexually Transmitted Diseases*, 31(1), 47–50. doi:10.4103/0253-7184.69003
- Atef, T. M., & Al-Balushi, M. (2015). Entrepreneurship as a means for restructuring employment patterns. *Tourism and Hospitality Research*, *15*(2), 73–90. doi:10.1177/1467358414558082
- Ates, O. (2013). Using case studies for teaching management to computer engineering students. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 8(5), 72–81. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v8n5p72
- Aziz, N., Friedman, B. A., Bopieva, A., & Keles, I. (2013). Entrepreneurial motives and perceived problems: An empirical study of entrepreneurs in Kyrgyzstan. *International Journal of Business*, 18, 163–176. Retrieved from http://www.craig.csufresno.edu
- Baggs, J. G., Schmitt, M. H., Prendergast, T. J., Norton, S. A., Retailers, C. R., Quinn, J. R., & Press, N. (2012). Who is attending? End-of-life decision making in the intensive care unit. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, *15*(1), 56–62. doi:10.1089/jpm.2011.0307

Bagnasco, A., Ghirotto, L., & Sasso, L. (2014). Theoretical sampling. Journal of

Advanced Nursing, 70(11), 6–7. doi:10.1111/jan.12450

Bajpai, G. C. (2014). African women entrepreneur: Problems, challenges and future opportunities. *International Journal of Managerial Studies and Research*, 2(5), 17–22. Retrieved from www.arcjournals.org

Barden, O. (2013). New approaches for new media: Moving towards a connected methodology. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 13(1), 6–24. doi:10.1108/14439881311314496

Barrett, F. H. (2013). Supporting the case for qualitative research in physical therapy. *Physical Therapy Reviews*, *18*, 144–145.
doi:10.1179/1743288X12Y.0000000054

- Baskarada, S. (2014). Qualitative case studies guidelines. *Qualitative Report*, 19(40), 1–25. Retrieved http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR19/baskarada24
- Beatty, A. (2014). Anthropology and emotion. *Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute*, 20, 545–563. doi:10.1111/1467-9655.1211

Bedwell, L., & Banks, C. (2013). Seeing through the eyes of students: Participant observation in an academic library. *Partnership: The Canadian Journal of Library and Information Practice and Research*, 8(1), 1. Retrieved from http://condor.lib.uoguelph.ca

Behboudi-Gandevani, S., Farahani, F. K., & Jasper, M. (2015). The perspectives of Iranian women on delayed childbearing: A qualitative study. *Journal of Nursing Research*, 23, 313–321. doi:10.1097/JNR.000000000000084

Bekhet, A. K., & Zauszniewski, J. A. (2012). Methodological triangulation: An approach

to understanding data. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(2), 40–43. Retrieved from http://www.nursing-standard.co.uk

- Belwal, S., Belwal, R., & Al Saidi, F. (2014). Characteristics, motivations, and challenges of women entrepreneurs in Oman's Al-Dhahira Region. *Journal of Middle East Women's Studies*, 10, 135–151. doi:10.2979/jmiddeastwomstud.10.2.135
- Barratt, M. J., Ferris, J. A., & Lenton, S. (2015). Hidden populations, online purposive sampling, and external validity taking off the blindfold. *Field Methods*, 27(1), 3– 21.doi:10.1177/1525822X14526838
- Bensaid, M. (2015). Ethnographic study: Motivation, socialization and writing proficiency. *International Journal of Education and Human Developments*, *1*(1), 1–11. Retrieved from http://ijehd.cgrd.org
- Berger, R. (2013). Now I see it, now I don't: Researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 15, 219–234.
 doi:10.1177/1468794112468475
- Birchall, J. (2014). Qualitative inquiry as a method to extract personal narratives: Approach to research into organizational climate change mitigation. *Qualitative Report, 19*(38), 1–18. Retrieved from

http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR19/birchall75

Bloomer, M. J., Cross, W., Endacott, R., O'Connor, M., & Moss, C. (2012). Qualitative observation in a clinical setting: Challenges at end of life. *Nursing and Health Sciences*, 14(1), 25–31. doi:10.1111/j.1442-2018.2011.00653.x Boateng, C. (2014). Personal attributes and motivation of female micro-entrepreneurs in Ghana: A case of fishmongers in central region. *Research in Hospitality Management*, 4, 147–160 doi:10.5296/ber.v4i1.4114

Boblin, S. L., Ireland, S., Kirkpatrick, H., & Robertson, K. (2013). Using Stakes qualitative case study approach to explore implementation evidence-based practice. *Qualitative Health Research*, 23, 1267–1275. doi:10.1177/1049732313502128

- Boell, S. K., & Cecez-Kecmanovic, D. (2014). A hermeneutic approach for conducting literature reviews and literature searches. *Communications of the Association for Information Systems*, 34, 257–286. Retrieved from http://skb.unifind.de/
- Boell, S. K., & Cecez-Kecmanovic, D. (2015). On being 'systematic' in literature reviews in IS. *Journal of Information Technology*, 30, 161-173. Retrieved from http://www.palgrave-journals.com
- Borg Debono, V., Zhang, S., Ye, C., Paul, J., Arya, A., Hurlburt, L., ...
 Thabane, L. (2013). A look at the potential association between PICOT framing of a research question and the quality of reporting of analgesia RCTs. *BMC Anesthesiology*, *13*(44). doi:10.1186/1471-2253-13-44
- Bosse, D. A., & Taylor, P. L. (2012). The second glass ceiling impedes women entrepreneurs. *Journal of Applied Management and Entrepreneurship*, 17(1), 52–68. Retrieved from http://www.business.nova.edu/JAME
- Bowtell, E. C., Sawyer, S. M., Aroni, R. A., Green, J. B., & Duncan, R. E. (2013). "Should I send a condolence card?" Promoting emotional safety in qualitative

health research through reflexivity and ethical mindfulness. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *19*, 652–663. doi:10.1177/1077800413500927

- Boz, A., & Ergeneli, A. (2014). Women entrepreneurs' personality characteristics and parents' parenting style profile in Turkey. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 109, 92–97. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.12.425
- Bozkurt, A., Kumtepe, E. G., Kumtepe, A. T., Aydin, I. E., Bozkaya, M., & Aydin, C. H. (2015). Research trends in Turkish distance education: A content analysis of dissertations, 1986–2014. *European Journal of Open, Distance and E-learning, 18*(2). Retrieved from http://www.eurodl.org
- Brijlal, P., Naicker, V., & Peters, R. (2013). Education and SMME business growth: A gender perspective from South Africa. *International Business & Economics Research Journal*, 12(8), 55–86. Retrieved from www.cluteInstitute.com
- Broto, R. B. (2014). Impact of education and training on performance of women entrepreneurs: A study in emerging market context. *Journal of Entrepreneurship in Emerging Economics*, 6(1), 38–52. doi:10.1108/JEEE-05-2013-0014
- Brown, J., & Gardner, J. (2015). Qualitative evaluation of a hospital bereavement service:
 the perspective of grieving adults. *Bereavement Care*, *34*(2), 69–75.
 10.1080/02682621.2015.1064582
- Brown, M., Hughes, H., & Delaney, L. (2015). Giving voice to distance learners:
 Methodological decisions and challenges. *European Journal of Open, Distance* and E-learning, 18, 170–185. Retrieved from http://www.eurodl.org

Brown, M., Hughes, H., Keppell, M., Hard, N., & Smith, L. (2013). In their own words:

Student stories of seeking learning support. *Open Praxis*, *5*, 345–354. doi:10.5944/openpraxis.5.4.87

- Brown, W. C., Tragesser, S. L., Tomko, R. L., Mehl, M. R., & Trull, T. J. (2013). Recall of expressed affect during naturalistically observed interpersonal events in those with borderline personality disorder or depressive disorder. *Assessment*, 2(1), 73–81. doi:10.1177/1073191113504618
- Brush, C., Carter, N., Gatewood, E., Greene, P., & Hart, M. (Eds). (2006). Growthoriented women entrepreneurs and their businesses: A global research perspective. Cheltenham, England: Edward Elgar.
- Brush, C. G., de Bruin, A., & Welter, F. (2009). A gender-aware framework for women's entrepreneurship. *International Journal of Gender and Entrepreneurship*, 1(1), 8–24. doi:10.1108/17566260910942318
- Buda, D. M. & McIntosh, A. J. (2013). Dark tourism and voyeurism: Tourist arrested for 'spying' in Iran. Special Issue: New Perspectives on Dark Tourism. International Journal of Culture, Tourism and Hospitality Research, 7(3), 214-226
- Bughardt, G. M., Bartmess-LeVasseur, J. N., Browning, S. A., Morrison, K. E., Stec, C.
 L., Zachau, C. E., & Freeberg, T. M. (2012). Perspectives minimizing observer
 bias in behavioral studies: A review and recommendations. *Ethology*, *118*, 511–
 517. doi:10:1111/j.1439-0310.2012.02040.x
- Bula, H. O. (2012). Evolution and theories of entrepreneurship: A critical review of the Kenyan perspective. *International Journal of Business and Commerce*, 1(11), 81–96. Retrieved from http://www.ijbcnet.com/

Bulawa, P. (2014). Adapting grounded theory in qualitative research: Reflections from personal experience. *International Research in Education, 2,* 145–168.
doi.org/10.5296/ire.v2i1.4921

Cachon, J. C., Codina, J. B., Eccius-Wellmann, C., McGraw, E., & Myers, D. A. (2013).
Entrepreneurial motives and performance: Evidence from North America. *Journal* of Management Policy and Practice, 14(3), 50–77. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com

Callary, B., Rathwell, S., & Young, B. W. (2015). Insights on the process of using interpretive phenomenological analysis in a sport coaching research project. *Qualitative Report*, 20(2), 63–75. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR20/2/callary1.

- Campos, B., Graesch, A. P., Repetti, R., Bradbury, T., & Ochs, E. (2009). Opportunity for interaction? A naturalistic observation study of dual-earner families after work and school. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 23, 798–807. doi:10.1037/a0015824
- Case, A. D., Todd, N. R., & Kral, M. J. (2014). Ethnography in community psychology:
 Promises and tensions. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 54(1–2),
 60–71. doi:10.1007/s10464-014-9648-0
- Charon, R., & Hermann, N. (2012). A sense of story, or why teach reflective writing? Academic Medicine: Journal of the Association of American Medical Colleges, 87, 5–7. doi:10.1097/ACM.0b013e31823a59c7
- Chan, Z. C., Fung, Y. L., & Chien, W. T. (2013). Bracketing in phenomenology: Only undertaken in the data collection and analysis process. *Qualitative Report, 18*(30),

1-9. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR18/chan59

- Cheluget, D. C. (2015). Accessibility of financial credit and the growth of women owed small retail enterprises in Uasin Gishu county. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 7, 233–242. Retrieved from http://www.iiste.org
- Cheraghi, M. A., Ghiyasvandian, S., & Aarabi, A. (2015). Iranian nurses' status in policymaking for nursing in health system: A qualitative content analysis. *Open Nursing Journal*, 9, 15–24. doi:10.2174/1874434601509010015
- Chikweche, T., & Fletcher, R. (2012). Undertaking research at the bottom of the pyramid using qualitative methods. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, 15, 242–267. doi:10.1108/13522751211231978
- Chingangbam, N. D. (2015). Women entrepreneurs in Manipur. *International Journal of Humanities & Social Science Studies*, *2*, 150–156. Retrieved from https://www.ijhsss.com
- Chinomona, E., & Maziriri, E. T. (2015). Women in action: Challenges facing women entrepreneurs in the Gauteng Province of South Africa. *International Business & Economics Research*, 14, 835–850. Retrieved from http://www.cluteinstitute.com/journals/international-business-economicsresearch-journal-iber
- Cho, J. Y., & Lee, E-H. (2014). Reducing confusion about grounded theory and qualitative content analysis: Similarities and differences. *Qualitative Report*, 19(32), 1–20. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol19/iss32/2

- Choi, M., Chang, C. Y., Clough, T., Broudy, D., Killeen, T., MacLean, B., & Vitek, O. (2014). MSstats: An R package for statistical analysis of quantitative mass spectrometry-based proteomic experiments. *Bioinformatics*, *30*, 5224-2526. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btu305
- Clarke, A. E., & Keller, R. (2014, May). Engaging complexities: Working against simplification as an agenda for qualitative research today. Adele Clarke in conversation with Reiner Keller. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 15(2). Retrieved from http://www.qualitativeresearch.net
- Cleary, M., Horsfall, J., & Hayter, M. (2014). Data collection and sampling in qualitative research: Does size matter? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70, 473–475. doi:10.1111/jan.12163
- Cobbinah, P. B., Black, R., & Thwaites, R. (2013). Dynamics of poverty in developing countries: Review of poverty reduction approaches. *Journal of Sustainable Development*, 6(9), 25–35. doi:10.5539/jsd.v6n9p25
- Cocks, K., & Torgerson, D. J. (2013). Sample size calculations for pilot randomized trials: A confidence interval approach. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 66, 197–201. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2012.09.002

Cole, C. E. (2013). Stories from the lived and living fieldwork process. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management*, 8(1), 50–69.
 doi.10.1108/17465641311327513

Collier, D. R., Moffatt, L., & Perry, M. (2015). Talking, wrestling, and recycling: An

investigation of three analytic approaches to qualitative data in education research. *Qualitative Research*, *15*, 389–404. doi:10.1177/1468794114538896

- Cope, D. G. (2014). Computer-assisted qualitative data analysis software. *Oncology Nursing Forum, 41,* 322–323. doi:10.1188/14.ONF.322-323.
- Covell, C. L., Sidani, S., & Ritchie, J. A. (2012). Does the sequence of data collection influence participants' responses to closed and open-ended questions? A methodological study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 49, 664–671. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2011.12.002
- Crede, E., & Borrego, M. (2013). From ethnography to items: A mixed methods approach to developing a survey to examine graduate engineering student retention. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 7(1), 62–80. doi:10.1177/1558689812451792
- Cronin, C. (2014). Using case study research as a rigorous form of inquiry. *Nurse Researcher*, *21*(5), 19–27. doi:10.7748/nr.21.5.19.e1240
- Cruz, E. V., & Higginbottom, G. (2013). The use of focused ethnography in nursing research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(4), 36–43. Retrieved http://www.nursingstandard.co.uk
- Cumming-Potvin, W. (2013). "New basics" and literacies: Deepening reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research Journal, 13*, 214–230. doi:10.1108/QRJ-04-2013-0024
- Davis, P. J. (2012). The global training deficit: The scarcity of formal and informal professional development opportunities for women entrepreneurs. *Industrial and*

Commercial Training, 44(1), 19–25. doi:10.1108/00197851211193381

- Da Mota Pedrosa, A., Näslund, D., & Jasmand, C. (2012). Logistics case study based
 research: Towards higher quality. *International Journal of Physical Distribution* & Logistics Management, 42, 275–295. doi:10.1108/09600031211225963
- Dana, J., Dawes, R., & Peterson, N. (2013). Belief in the unstructured interview: The persistence of an illusion. *Judgment and Decision Making*, 8(5), 512-520. Retrieved from http://journal.sjdm.org/
- Dasgupta, M. (2015). Exploring the relevance of case study research. *Vision, 19*, 147–160. doi:10.1177/0972262915575661
- Dean, B. A., Sykes, C., Agostinho, S., & Clements, M. (2012). Reflective assessment in work-integrated learning: To structure or not to structure, that was our question. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Cooperative Education*, 13, 103–113. Retrieved from http://ro.uow.edu.au
- De Massis, A., & Kotlar, J. (2014). The case study method in family business research: Guidelines for qualitative scholarship. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, 5(1), 15–29. doi:10.1016/j.jfbs.2014.01.007
- de Melo, L. P., Stofel, N. S., Gualda, D. M. R., & de Campos, E. A. (2014). Nurses' experiences of ethnographic fieldwork. *Nurse Researcher*, 22(1), 14–19. doi:10.7748/nr.22.1.14.e1243
- Denham, M. A., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2013). Beyond words: Using nonverbal communication data in research to enhance thick description and interpretation.
 International Journal of Qualitative Methods, *1*, 670–696. Retrieved from

http://www.iiqm.ualberta.ca

- Denshire, S. (2014). On auto-ethnography. *Current Sociology*, *62*, 831–850. doi:10.1177/0011392114533339
- Dhanda, K. (2013). Case study in the evolution of sustainability: Baxter International Inc. Journal of Business Ethics, 112, 667–684. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1565-2
- Dikki, A. C., Muhammad, B. A. S., Dogarawa, A. B., & Chechet, I. L. (2014). Impact of non-services of microfinance banks (MFBs) on the performance of women entrepreneurs in Nigeria. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 6, 158–163. Retrieved from http://www.iiste.org
- Dima, G., & Bucuță, M. D. (2016). The method of interpretative phenomenological analysis in psychodrama research. *Zeitschrift für Psychodrama und Soziometrie*, 1–13. doi:10.1007/s11620-015-0296-7
- Doody, O., & Noonan, M. (2013). Preparing and conducting interviews to collect data. *Nurse Researcher, 20*(5), 28–32. doi:10.7748/nr2013.05.20.5.28.e327
- Douglas, L. M. (2014). Entrepreneurship education on women entrepreneurs at preprimary and primary level in Kenya. *Research on Humanities and Social Sciences*, 4(22), 77–83. Retrieved from http://www.iiste.org
- Duan, N., Bhaumik, D. K., Palinkas, L. A., & Hoagwood, K. (2014). Optimal design and purposeful sampling: Complementary methodologies for implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42, 524–532. doi: 10.1007/s10488-014-0596-7

Dworkin, S. L. (2012). Sample size policy for qualitative studies using in-depth

interviews. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 41, 1319–1320.

doi:10.1007/s105080120016-6

- Edgar, S., Francis-Coad, J., & Connaughton, J. (2013). Undergraduate reflective journaling in work integrated learning: Is it relevant to professional practice?
 Asia-Pacific Journal of Cooperative Education, 14, 147–156. Retrieved from http://www.apjce.org
- Edwards, R. (2014). Sampling and choosing cases in qualitative research: A realist approach. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *17*, 320–322. doi:10.1080/13645579.2014.917889
- Ekpe, D. E., Alabo, E., & Egbe, I. J. (2014). Women, gender equality in Nigeria: A critical analysis of socio-economic and political (gender issues). *Journal Research in Peace Gender and Development*, 4(1), 15–20. doi:10.143003/jrpgd.2014.009
- Ekpe, I. (2011). Women entrepreneurs and economic development in Nigeria:
 Characteristics for success. *International Journal of Business and Social Sciences*,
 2, 287–291. Retrieved from http://www.ijbssnet.com
- Ekpe, I., Mat, N. B., & Razak, R. C. (2010). The effect of microfinance factors on women entrepreneurs' performance in Nigeria: A conceptual framework. *International Journal of Business and Social Science, 1*, 255–263. Retrieved from http://www.ijbssnet.com
- Elo, S., Kaariainen, M., Kanste, O., Polkki, P., Utriainen, K., & Kyngas, H. (2014).
 Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. *Sage Open Journals*, 4(1), 1–10. doi:10.1177/2158244014522633

- Englander, M. (2012). The interview: Data collection in descriptive phenomenological human scientific research. *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, *43*(1), 13–35. doi:10.1163/156916212X632943
- Enugu State Government. (2015). About Enugu State. Retrieved from http://www.enugustate.gov.ng
- Erlingson, C., & Brysiewicz, P. (2013). Orientation among multiple truths: An introduction to qualitative research. *African Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 3(2), 92–99. doi:10.1016/j.afjem.2012.04.005
- Essien, B. S. (2014). The Nigerian business environment and growth constraints of micro and small scale manufacturing industries. *American International Journal of Social Science*, 3(6), 67–76. Retrieved from http://www.aijssnet.com/
- Evans, G. (2012). Practicing participant observation: An anthropologist's account. *Journal of Organizational Ethnography*, *1*, 96–106 doi:10.1108/20466741211220697
- Everett, M. C. (2013). Reflective journal writing and the first-year experience. *International Journal of Teaching & Learning in Higher Education, 25*, 213–222. Retrieved from http://www.isetl.org/ijtlhe/
- Ezibe, A. B. C., Diogu, A. N., Eze, J. U., & Uzoamaka, J. -T. (2013). Developing the active participation of African women in science, technology and innovation: The entrepreneurial approach. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 5(13), 55–62. Retrieved from http://www.iiste.org/
- Fan, X. (2013). "The test is reliable"; "The test is valid": Language use,

unconscious assumptions, and education research practice. *Asia-Pacific Education Researcher*, *22*, 217–218. doi:10.1007/s40299-012-0036-y

- Fapohunda, T. M. (2012). Women and the informal sector in Nigeria: Implication for development. *British Journal of Arts and Social Sciences*, 4(1), 35–45. Retrieved from http://www.bjournal.co.uk/BJASS.aspx
- Farrugia, P., Petrisor, B. A., Farrokhyar, F., & Bhandari, M. (2010). Research questions, hypotheses and objectives. *Canadian Journal of Surgery*, 53, 278–281. Retrieved from http://canjsurg.ca
- Fasanya, I. O., & Onakoya, A. B. O. (2012). Informal sector and employment generation in Nigeria: An error correction model. *Research on Humanities and Social Sciences*, 2(7), 48–55. Retrieved from www.iiste.org
- Fear, R. C., Milan, S. E., Maggiolo, R., Fazakerley, A. N., Dandouras, I., & Mende, S. B. (2014). Direct observation of closed magnetic flux trapped in the high-latitude magnetosphere. *Science*, *346*, 1506–1510. Retrieved from http://science.sciencemag.org/content/346/6216/1506
- Felizardo, K. R., Gabriel F. A., Fernando V. P., Rosane M., & Maldonado, J. C. (2012).
 A visual analysis approach to validate the selection review of primary studies in systematic reviews. *Information and Software Technology 54*, 1079–1091.
 doi:10.1016/j.infsof.2012.04.003
- Felizardo, K. R., Stephen, G. M., Emília, M., & Maldonado, J. C. (2012). A systematic mapping on the use of visual data mining to support the conduct of systematic literature reviews. *Journal of Software* 7, 450–461.

doi:10.4304/jsw.7.2.450-461

- Ferdousi, F. (2015). Impact of microfinance on sustainable entrepreneurship development. *Development Studies Research: An Open Access Journal, 2*(1), 51– 63. doi:10.1080/21665095.2015.1058718
- Fielding, N. G. (2012). Triangulation and mixed methods designs: Data integration with new research technologies. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 6, 124–136. doi:10.1177/1558689812437101
- Foti, M. K., Eleazar, C., & Furphy, K. A. (2014). Teleconsultation with a developing country: Student reported outcomes of learning. *International Journal of Telerehabilitation*, 6(1), 41–49. doi:10.5195/ijt.2014.6140
- Fram, S. M. (2013). The constant comparative analysis method outside of grounded theory. *Qualitative Report*, 18(1), 1–25. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR18/fram
- Frels, R. K., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2013). Administering quantitative instruments with qualitative interviews: A mixed research approach. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 91, 184–194. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00085.x
- Fryer, C., Mackintosh, S., Stanley, M., & Crichton, J. (2012). Qualitative studies using in-depth interviews with older people from multiple language groups: methodological systematic review. *Journal of Advanced Nursing 68*(1), 22–35. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2011.05719.x
- Fugard, A. J., & Potts, H. W. (2015). Supporting thinking on sample sizes for thematic analyses: A quantitative tool. *International Journal of Social Research*

Methodology, 18, 669–684 doi:10.1080/13645579.2015.1005453

- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *Qualitative Report, 20*, 1408–1416. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/fusch1
- Gale, N. K., Heath, G., Cameron, E., Rashid, S., & Redwood, S. (2013). Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *13*, 117. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-13-117
- Gallo, A., Weijer, C. White, A., Grimshaw, J. M., Boruch, R., Brehaut, J. C., ...
 Taljaard, M. (2012). What is the role and authority of gatekeepers in cluster randomized trials in health research? *Trials*, *13*, 116–122. doi:10.1186/1745-6215-13-116
- Garba, A. S. (2011). Stumbling block for women entrepreneurship in Nigeria: How risk attitude and lack of capital mitigates their need for business expansion. *European Journal of Economics, Finance and Administrative Services, 36*, 39–49. Retrieved from http://www.eurojournals.com
- Gayathridevi, C. L. (2014). Barriers of women entrepreneurs a study in Bangalore Urban
 District. International Journal of Trends in Economics Management &
 Technology, 3(2), 24–30. Retrieved from http://www.academia.edu
- Ghaffar-Kucher, A. (2015). Writing culture; inscribing lives: A reflective treatise on the burden of representation in native research. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 28, 1186–1202. doi:10.1080/09518398.2014.974720

- Gibbins, J., Bhatia, R., Forbes, K., & Reid, C. M. (2014). What do patients with advanced incurable cancer want from the management of their pain? A qualitative study. *Palliative Medicine*, 28(1), 71–78. doi:10.1177/0269216313486310
- Gibson, S., Benson, O., & Brand, S. L. (2013). Talking about suicide: Confidentiality and anonymity in qualitative research. *Nursing Ethics*, *20*(1), 18–29. doi:10.1177/0969733012452684
- Gorecki, C. A., Brown, J. M., Briggs, M., & Nixon, J. (2010). Evaluation of five search strategies in retrieving qualitative patient-reported electronic data on the impact of pressure ulcers on quality of life. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 66, 645–652 doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2009.05192.x
- Goyal, P., & Yadav, V. (2014). To be or not to be a woman entrepreneur in a developing country. *Psychological Issues in Human Research Management*, 2(2), 68–78.
 Retrieved from http://addletonacademicpublishers.com
- Granot, E., Brashear, T. G., & Motta, P. C. (2012). A structural guide to in-depth interviewing in business and industrial marketing research. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 27, 547–553. doi:10.1108/08858621211257310
- Griffith, D. A. (2013). Establishing qualitative geographic sample size in the presence of spatial autocorrelation. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, 103, 1107–1122. doi:10.1080/00045608.2013.776884
- Griffiths, T. H. (2016). Application of summative content analysis to a postal questionnaire. *Nurse Researcher*, *23*(3), 30–36. doi:10.7748/nr.23.3.30.s7

Guetterman, T. C. (2015). Descriptions of sampling practices within five approaches to

qualitative research in education and the health sciences. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *16*(2), 1–23. Retrieved from http://www.qualitative-research.net

- Gupta, P. D., Guha, S., & Krishnaswami, S. S. (2013). Firm growth and its determinants. *Journal of Innovation and Entrepreneurship*, 2(1), 1–14. doi:10.1186/2192-5372-2-15
- Gürcüm, B. H., & Arslan, P. (2015). The importance of ethnographic research in textile design. *International E-journal of Advances in Social Sciences*, *1*, 470–480. doi:10.18769/ijasos.08521
- Gwija, S. A., Eresia-Eke, C., & Iwu, C. G. (2014). The link between entrepreneurship education and business success: Evidence from youth entrepreneurs in South Africa. *Journal of Economics*, *5*, 165–175. Retrieved from http://www.krepublishers.com
- Haahr, A., Norlyk, A., & Hall, E. (2013). Ethical challenges embedded in qualitative research interviews with close relatives. *Nursing Ethics*, 2(1), 6–15. doi:10.1177/0969733013486370
- Hale, T. M., Pathipati, A. S., Zan, S., & Jethwani, K. (2014). Representation of health conditions on Facebook: Content analysis and evaluation of user engagement. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *16*(8), e182. doi:10.2196/jmir.3275
- Hall, H., Griffiths, D., & McKenna, L. (2013). From Darwin to constructivism: The evolution of grounded theory. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(3), 17–21. doi:10.7748/nr2013.01.20.3.17.c9492

- Harland, T. (2014). Learning about case study methodology to research higher education. *Higher Education Research & Development, 33*, 1113–1122
 doi:10.1080/07294360.2014.911253
- Harper, M., & Cole, P. (2012). Member checking: Can benefits be gained similar to group therapy? *Qualitative Report*, 17, 510–517. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR17-2/harper
- Harriss, D. J., & Atkinson, G. (2013). Ethical standards in sport and exercise science research: 2014 update. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 34, 1025–1028. doi:10.1055/s-0033-1358756
- Hani, F. F. (2015). Entrepreneurial motivation and challenges: A study on women entrepreneurs in Sylhet City. *Global Disclosure of Economics and Business*, 4, 111–123. Retrieved from http://publicationslist.org
- Hauser, L. (2013). Qualitative research in distance education: An analysis of journal literature 2005–2012. *American Journal of Distance Education*, *27*(3). doi:10.1080/08923647.2013.805641
- Hayman, B., Wilkes, L., & Jackson, D. (2012). Journaling: Identification of challenges and reflection on strategies. *Nurse Researcher*, 19(3), 27–31. Retrieved from http://www.nursing-standard.co.uk
- Hendrix, T. J., O'Malley, M., Sullivan, C., & Carmon, B. (2012). Nursing student perceptions of reflective journaling: A conjoint value analysis. *Nursing*, 2012. doi:10.5402/2012/317372

Hietanen, J., Sihvonen, A., Tikkanen, H., & Mattila, P. (2014). Managerial storytelling:

How we produce managerial and academic stories in qualitative B2B case study research. *Journal of Global Scholars of Marketing*, *24*, 295–310. doi:10.1080/21639159.2014.911496

Higginbottom, G. M. A., Pillay, J. J., & Boadu, N. Y. (2013). Guidance on performing focused ethnographies with an emphasis on healthcare research. *Qualitative Report, 18*(17), 1–16. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR18/higginbottom17

- Holloway, I., Brown, L., & Shipway, R. (2010). Meaning not measurement: Using ethnography to bring a deeper understanding to the participant experience of festivals and events. *International Journal of Event and Festival Management*, *1*(1), 74–85. doi:10.1108/17852951011029315
- Horst, H., Hjorth, L., & Tacchi, J. (2012). Rethinking ethnography: An introduction. *Media International Australia, Incorporating Culture and Policy*, 145(1), 86–93.
 doi:10.1177/1329878X1214500110
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigour in qualitative casestudy research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(4), 12–17. doi:10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326
- Hussein, M. E., Hirst, S., Salyers, V., & Osuji, J. (2014). Using grounded theory as a method of inquiry: Advantages and disadvantages. *Qualitative Report*, 19(27), 1–15. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR19/el-hussein13
- Hundera, M. B. (2014). Micro and small scale enterprises (MSEs) development services in women's entrepreneurial start-ups in Ethiopia: A study conducted in three

cities: Dire Dawa, Harar and Jigjiga. *Journal of Behavioural Economics, Finance, Entrepreneurship, Accounting and Transport, 2*(4), 77–88. doi:10.12691/jbe-2-4-1

- Hyett, N., Kenny, A., & Virginia Dickson-Swift, D. (2014). Methodology or method? A critical review of qualitative case study reports. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, 9. doi:10.3402/qhw.v9.23606
- Idris, A. J., & Agbim, K. C. (2015a). Effects of social capital on poverty alleviation: A study of women entrepreneurs in Nasarawa State, Nigeria. *Journal of Research in National Development*, 13, 208–222. Retrieved from http://www.transcampus.org
- Idris, A. J., & Agbim, K. C. (2015b). Micro-credit as a strategy for poverty alleviation among women entrepreneurs in Nasarawa State, Nigeria. *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, 6(3), 122–143. Retrieved from http://jbsq.org
- Ifelunini, I. A., & Wosowei, E. C. (2012). Does micro finance reduce poverty among women entrepreneurs in south-south Nigeria? Evidence from propensity score matching technique. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 4(21), 76–87. Retrieved from www.iiste.org
- Ighodalo, A. (2012). Poverty and sustainable socio-economic development in Africa: The Nigeria experience. *European Scientific Journal*, 8(26), 51–65. Retrieved from http://eujournal.org
- Ihugba, O. A., Odii, A., & Njoku, A. C. (2013). Challenges and prospects of entrepreneurship in Nigeria. Academic Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies, 2(5), 25–36. doi:10.5901/ajis.2012.v2n5p25

- Imenda, S. (2014). Is there a conceptual difference between theoretical and conceptual. Journal of Social Sciences, 38(2), 85–195. Retrieved from http://www.krepublishers.com
- Ingwu, E. U., & Okey, S. M. A. (2013). Entrepreneurial training needs of illiterate women in Cross River State, Nigeria. *International Education Studies*, 6, 171– 183. doi:10.5539/ies.v6n11p171
- Irvine, A., Drew, P., & Sainsbury, R. (2013). 'Am I not answering your questions properly?'Clarification, adequacy and responsiveness in semi-structured telephone and face-to-face interviews. *Qualitative Research*, 13, 87–106. doi:10.1177/1468794112439086
- Ishak, N. M., & Bakar, A. Y. A. (2014). Developing sampling frame for case study: Challenges and conditions. *World Journal of Education*, 4(3), 29–35. doi:10.5430/wje.v4n3p29
- Ismail, H. C., Shamsudin, F. M., & Chowdhury, M. S. (2012). An exploratory study of motivational factors on women entrepreneurship venturing in Malaysia. *Business* and Economic Research, 2, 2162–4860. doi:10.5296/ber.v2i1.1434
- Ivey, J. (2012). The value of qualitative research methods. *Pediatric Nursing*, *38*, 319–344. Retrieved from http://www.pediatricnursing.org
- Iyiola, O., & Azuh, D. (2014). Women entrepreneurs as small-medium enterprise (SME) operators and their roles in socio-economic development in Ota, Nigeria. *International Journal of Economics, Business and Finance*, 2(1), 1–10. Retrieved from http://ijebf.com

- Jamshed, S. (2014). Qualitative research method-interviewing and observation. *Journal of Basic and Clinical Pharmacy*, *5*(4), 87–88. doi:10.4103/0976-0105.141942
- Jacob, S. A., & Furgerson, S. (2012). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews: Tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. *Qualitative Report*, 17(6), 1–10. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR17/jacob
- Jaimangal-Jones, D. (2014). Utilising ethnography and participant observation in festival and event research. *International Journal of Event and Festival Management*, 5(1), 39–55. doi:10.1108/IJEFM-09-2012-0030
- Johnson, B. D., Dunlap, E., & Benoit, E. (2010). Organizing "mountains of words" for data analysis, both qualitative and quantitative. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 4, 648– 670. doi:10.3109/10826081003594757
- Johnston, A. L. (2013). To case study or not to case study: Our experience with the Canadian Government's evaluation practices and the use of case studies as an evaluation methodology for first nations programs. *Canadian Journal of Program Evaluation*, 28(2), 21–42. Retrieved from http://evaluationcanada.ca/canadian-journal-program-evaluation
- Juntunen, M. (2014). Interpretative narrative process research approach to corporate renaming. *Qualitative Market Research, 17*, 112–127. doi:10.1108/QMR-12-2013-0088
- Kaka, E. J., & Abidin, F. Z. (2014). Poverty alleviation in the northeast Nigeria mediation of performance and moderating effect of microfinance training: A proposed framework. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, 5(27), 62–68.

doi:10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n27p62

Kara, H. (2013). It's hard to tell how research feels: Using fiction to enhance academic research and writing. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management*, 8(1), 70–84. doi:10.1108/17465641311327522

Kardish, M. R., Mueller, U. G., Amador-Vargas, S., Dietrich, E. I., Ma, R., Barrett, B., & Fang, C. C. (2015). Blind trust in unblinded observation in ecology, evolution, and behavior. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, *3*(51), 1–4.
doi:10.3389/fevo.2015.00051

- Kaushik, S. (2013). Challenges faced by women entrepreneurs in India. International Journal of Management and Social Sciences Research, 35(53), 6–8. Retrieved from http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu
- Kendall, S., & Halliday, L.E. (2014). Undertaking ethical qualitative research in public health: Are current ethical processes sufficient? *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 38*, 306–310. doi:10.1111/1753-6405.12250
- Kennedy-Lewis, B. L. (2012). When a teacher becomes a researcher: Using self-narrative to define one's role as participant observer. *Theory into Practice*, *51*, 107–113. doi:10.1080/00405841.2012.662865
- Ketokivi, M., & Choi, T. (2014). Renaissance of case research as a scientific method.*Journal of Operations Management*, 32, 232–240. doi:10.1016/j.jom.2014.03.004
- Kirkwood, A., & Price, L. (2013). Examining some assumptions and limitations of research on the effects of emerging technologies for teaching and learning in higher education. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 44, 536–543.

doi:10.1111/bjet.12049

- Klehr, M. (2012). Qualitative teacher research and the complexity of classroom contexts. *Theory into Practice*, *51*, 122–128. doi:10.1080/00405841.2012.662867
- Kolb, S. M. (2012). Grounded theory and the constant comparative method: Valid research strategies for educators. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational Research and Policy Studies*, 3(1), 83–86. Retrieved from http://jeteraps.scholarlinkresearch.org
- Kozlov, M. V., Zverev, V., & Zvereva, E. L. (2014). Confirmation bias leads to overestimation of losses of woody plant foliage to insect herbivores in tropical regions. *Peer J*, *2*, e709. doi:10.7717/peerj.709
- Kuckertz, A., Berger, E. S. C., & Allmendinger, M. P. (2015). What drives entrepreneurship? A configurational analysis of the determinants of entrepreneurship in innovation-driven economies. *Die Betriebswirtschaft/Business Administration Review*, 75, 273–288. Retrieved from http://ssrn.com
- Kwong, C., Jones-Evans, D., &Thompson, P. (2012). Differences in perceptions of access to finance between potential male and female entrepreneurs: Evidence from the UK. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research*, *18*(1), 75–97. doi:10.1108/13552551211201385
- Lämås, K., Anundsson, E., Stare, A. C., & Jacobsson, C. (2014). An interview study of the experiences of middle-aged women living with constipation. *Clinical Nursing Studies*, 3(2), 1–7. 10.5430/cns.v3n2p1

Lamb, D. (2013). Promoting the case for using a research journal to document and reflect

on the research experience. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, *11*(2), 84–92. Retrieved from http://www.ejbrm.com

- Lambotte, F., & Meunier, D. (2013). From bricolage to thickness: Making the most of the messiness of research narratives. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management*, 8(1), 85–100. doi:10.1108/17465641311327531
- Latha, L. K., & Murthy, B. E. (2009). The motives of small scale entrepreneurs: An exploratory study. South Asian Journal of Management, 16, 91–108. Retrieved from http://www.amdisa.org
- Lauckner, H., Paterson, M., & Krupa, T. (2012). Using constructivist case study methodology to understand community development processes: Proposed methodological questions to guide the research process. *Qualitative Report*, 17(13), 1–22. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR17/lauckner
- Lekoko, M., Rankhumise, E. M., & Ras, P. (2012). The effectiveness of entrepreneurship education: What matters most? *African Journal of Business Management*, 65, 12023-12032. doi:10.5897/AJBMx12.001
- Leslie, M., Paradis, E., Gropper, M. A., Reeves, S., & Kitto, S. (2014). Applying ethnography to the study of context in healthcare quality and safety. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 23, 99–105. doi:10.1136/bmjqs-2013-002335
- Levers, M. J. D. (2013). Philosophical paradigms, grounded theory, and perspectives on emergence. *Sage Open*, *3*(4), 1–6. doi:10.1177/2158244013517243

Lew, M. D. N., & Schmidt, H. G. (2011). Self-reflection and academic performance: Is

there a relationship? *Advances in Health Sciences Education*, *16*, 529–545. doi.org/10.1007/s10459-011-9298-z

- Lin, L., & Mao, P. C. (2015). Food for memories and culture–A content analysis study of food specialties and souvenirs. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 22, 19–29. doi:10.1016/j.jhtm.2014.12.001
- Lincoln, A. (2012) Nature of leadership practices of Nigerian female entrepreneurs. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 3(10), 50–59. Retrieved from http://ijbssnet.com/journals
- Lindhardt, C. L., Rubak, S., Mogensen, O., Hansen, H. P., Goldstein, H., Lamont, R. F.,
 & Joergensen, J. S. (2015). Healthcare professionals experience with motivational interviewing in their encounter with obese pregnant women. *Midwifery*, *31*, 678–684. doi:10.1016/j.midw.2015.03.010
- Lips-Wiersma, M., & Mills, A. J. (2013) Understanding the basic assumptions about human nature in workplace spirituality: Beyond the critical versus positive divide. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 23, 148–161. doi:10.1177/1056492613501227
- Loh, J. (2013). Inquiry into issues of trustworthiness and quality in narrative studies: A perspective. *Qualitative Report*, 18(33), 1–15. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR18/loh65
- Lopez-Dicastillo, O., & Belintxon, M. (2014). The challenges of participant observations of cultural encounters within an ethnographic study. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 132, 522-526. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.04.347

- Lucky, E. O-I., & Olusegun, A. I. (2012). Is small and medium enterprises (SMEs) an entrepreneurship? *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 2, 341–352. Retrieved from http://www.hrmars.com
- Lunnay, B., Borlagdan, J., McNaughton, D., & Ward, P. (2015). Ethical use of social media to facilitate qualitative research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 99–109. doi:10.1177/1049732314549031
- Mackellar, J. (2013). Participant observation at events: Theory, practice and potential. *International Journal of Event and Festival Management*, 4(1), 56–65. doi:10.1108/17582951311307511
- Mahmood, B., Khalid, S., Sohail, M. M., & Babak, I. (2012). Exploring the motivation and barriers in way of Pakistani female entrepreneurs. *British Journal of Education, Society & Behavioral Science 2*, 353–368. doi:10.1186/1745-6215-13-116.
- Mandipaka, F. (2014). An investigation of the challenges faced by women entrepreneurs in developing countries: A case of King Williams' Town, South Africa. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, *5*, 1187–1193. doi:10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n27p1187

Marlow, S., & McAdam, M. (2013). Gender and entrepreneurship: Advancing debate and challenging myths; exploring the mystery of the under-performing female entrepreneur. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research*, 19, 114–124. doi:10.1108/13552551311299288

Marshall, B., Cardon, P., Poddar, A., & Fontenot, R. (2013). Does sample size matter in

qualitative research? A review of qualitative interviews in IS research. Journal of Computer Information Systems, 54(1), 11–22. Retrieved from http://iacis.org

- Marshall, J., & Friedman, H. L. (2012). Human versus computer-aided qualitative data analysis ratings: Spiritual content in dream reports and diary entries. *Humanistic Psychologist*, 40, 329–342. doi:10.1080/08873267.2012.724255
- Maru, L., & Chemjor, R. (2013). Microfinance interventions and empowerment of women entrepreneurs rural constituencies in Kenya. *Research Journal of Finance and Accounting*, 4(9), 84–95. Retrieved from http://www.iiste.org/
- Mauchi, F. N., Mutengezanwa , M., & Damiyano, D. (2014). Challenges faced by women entrepreneurs: A case study of Mashonaland Central Province. *International Journal of Development and Sustainability*, *3*, 466–480. Retrieved from http://isdsnet.com
- McCambridge, J., Witton, J., & Elbourne, D. R. (2014). Systematic review of the Hawthorne effect: New concepts are needed to study research participation effects. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 67, 267–

277.doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2013.08.015

- McCoy, K. (2012). Toward a methodology of encounters opening to complexity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *18*, 762–772. doi:10.1177/1077800412453018
- Mehl, M. R., Robbins, M. L., & Grobe D. F. (2012). Naturalistic observation of healthrelevant social processes: The electronically activated recorder (EAR)

methodology in psychosomatics. Psychosomatic Medicine, 74, 410-

417.doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e3182545470

- Mikecz, R. (2012). Interviewing elites: Addressing methodological issues. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *18*, 482–493. doi:10.1177/1077800412442818
- Mikkelsen, E. N. (2013). A researcher's tale: How doing conflict research shapes research about conflict. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management*, 8(1), 33–49. doi:10.1108/17465641311327504
- Miller, W. R. (2014). Interactive journaling as a clinical tool. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling*, *36*(1), 31–42. doi:10.17744/mehc.36.1.0k5v52l12540w218
- Mistry, K. B. (2012). Qualitative research methods. *Pediatrics in Review*, *33*, 521–523. doi:10.1542/pir.33-11-521
- Mizock, L., & Russinova, Z. (2013). Racial and ethnic cultural factors in the process of acceptance of mental illness. *Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin*, 56, 229–239. doi:10.1177/0034355213475823
- Mordi, C., Simpson, R., Singh, S., & Okafor, C. (2010). The role of cultural values in understanding the challenges faced by female entrepreneurs in Nigeria. *Gender in Management: An International Journal*, 25(1), 5–21.
 doi:10.1108/17542411011019904
- Morse, A. L., & McEvoy, C. D. (2014). Qualitative research in sport management: Case study as a methodological approach. *Qualitative Report*, 19(17), 1–13. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR19/morse17

Morse, J. M. (2015). "Data were saturated..." Qualitative Health Research, 25, 587-588.

doi:10.1177/1049732315576699

- Mulu-Mutuku, M., Odero-Wanga, D., & Ali-Olubandwa, A. (2015). Female entrepreneurship in Kenya: How do female micro-entrepreneurs learn to be entrepreneurial? *Case Studies in Business and Management*, 2(1), 11–26.
 Retrieved from http://www.macrothink.org
- Mumuni, A. I., & Insah, B. (2013). Developing rural women entrepreneurs as a key to poverty reduction in Ghana: The case of WA Municipality. *International Journal of Social Sciences and Entrepreneurship 1*(3), 1–10. Retrieved from http://ijsse.org
- Mungai, E. N., & Ogot, M. (2012). Gender, culture and entrepreneurship in Kenya. *International Business Research*, *5*, 175–183. doi:10.5539/ibr.v5n5p175
- Mwobobia, F. M. (2012). The challenges facing small-scale women entrepreneurs: A case of Kenya. *International Journal of Business Administration*, 3, 112–121. doi:10.5430/ijba.v3n2p112
- Nguyen, T. Q. T. (2015). Conducting semi-structured interviews with the Vietnamese. *Qualitative Research Journal*, *15*(1), 35–46. doi:10.1108/QRJ-04-2014-001
- Njau, J. E., & Komba, C. K. (2014). Women food vendors' (WFV's) contribution in household income in Tanzania: The case of Morogoro Municipal. *International Journal of Development Research*, *4*, 2364–2371. Retrieved from http://www.journalijdr.com

Nkechi, A., Ikechukwu, E. J., & Okechukwu, U. F. (2012). Entrepreneurship

development and employment generation in Nigeria: Problems and prospects. *Journal of Education and General Studies*, *1*, 88–102. Retrieved from http://www.universalresearchjournals.org

- Nkpoyen, F., & Eteng, G. (2012). Micro-lending as an empowerment strategy for poverty alleviation among women in Yala Local Government Area of Cross River State, Nigeria. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, *3*, 233–241.
 Retrieved from http://www.ijbssnet.com
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, *18*(2), 34–35. doi:10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- Nwigwe, C. A., Omonoma, B. T., & Okoruwa, V. O. (2012). Microfinance and poverty reduction in Nigeria: A critical assessment. *Australian Journal of Business and Management Research* 2(3), 33–40. Retrieved from http://ajbmr.com
- Nyamwanza, T., Mapetere, D., Mavhiki, S., & Dzingirai, C. (2012). Financial management: Case study of Gweru women entrepreneurs. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, *3*, 99–106. Retrieved from http://ijbssnet.com
- Nyasulu, G. (2010). Revisiting the definition of poverty. *Journal of Sustainable* Development in Africa, 12, 147–158. Retrieved from http://www.jsd-africa.com/
- Ofor , M. O. & Ben-Chendo, N. G. (2011). Sustainability development and female participation in a dynamic global community. *Journal of Agriculture and Social Research*, 11, 168–173. Retrieved from http://www.ajol.info/
- Ogidi, A. E. (2014). Women entrepreneurship and poverty reduction. *Journal of Business and Entrepreneurship*, *1*(1), 1–8. Retrieved from http://africaresearchcorps.com

Okibo, B. W., & Makanga, N. (2014). Effects of microfinance institutions on poverty reduction in Kenya. *International Journal of Current Research and Academic Review*, 2(2), 76–95. Retrieved from http://www.ijcrar.com

Olarenwaju, O. A., & Olabisi, Y. S. (2012). Women' access to entrepreneurial resources in informal economy: A qualitative analysis of Yoruba women textile traders' access to entrepreneurial resources at Balogun market, Lagos-South-West, Nigeria. *Economic Insights-Trends and Challenges*, *64*(2), 30–43. Retrieved from http://www.upg-bulletin-se.ro

- Olds, D., & Howe-Walsh, L. (2014). Why repatriates resign: Interviews with those who left. *International Journal of Academic Research in Management*, 3(1), 11–30.
 Retrieved from http://eprints.port.ac.uk
- Oluwatoyin , D. A. (2013) Capacity building and skill development among female entrepreneurs. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, 4, 680–684. doi:10.5901/mjss.2013.v4n11p680
- Onuorah, U. C., & Oliobi, J.I. (2013). Appropriate entrepreneurship education: A tool for women entrepreneurs in southeast region of Nigeria. *Academic Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies*, 2, 185–190. doi:10.5901/ajis.2013.v2n6p185
- Onwe, O. J. (2013). Role of the informal sector in development of the Nigerian economy: Output and employment approach. *Journal of Economics and Development Studies*, 1(1), 60–74. Retrieved from http://jedsnet.com
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Byers, V. T. (2014). An exemplar for combining the collection, analysis, and interpretation of verbal and nonverbal data in qualitative research.

International Journal of Education, 6, 183–246. doi:10.5296/ije.v6i1.4399

- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., Leech, N. L., & Collins, K. M. (2012). Qualitative analysis techniques for the review of the literature. *Qualitative Report*, 17(28), 1–28.
 Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR17/onwuegbuzie
- Oppong, S. H. (2013). The problem of sampling in qualitative research. *Asian Journal of Management Sciences and Education*, *2*, 202–210. Retrieved from http://www.ajmse.leena-luna.co.jp
- O'Reilly, M., & Parker, N. (2012). Unsatisfactory saturation: A critical exploration of the notion of saturated sample sizes in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, *13*, 190–197. doi:10.1177/1468794112446106
- Otega, O., & Mohammed M. O. A. (2014). Good governance, rural development and poverty alleviation in Nigeria: Issues and challenges. *International Journal of Sustainable Development & World Policy 3*, 100–114. Retrieved from http://www.pakinsight.com
- Otekunrin, A. O., Akintunde, A. O., Lawal, A. I., & Rotimi, M. E. (2013). Nigerian women entrepreneurs: Challenges, incentives and achievements indicators.
 Journal of Business and Management, 11(4), 24–31. doi:10.9790/487X-1142431
- Otoo, B. K. (2012). Micro-credit for micro-enterprise: A study of women "petty" traders in central region, Ghana. *International Journal of Scientific Research in Education (IJSRE)*, 5, 247–259. Retrieved from http://www.ijsre.comwww.ijsre.com

Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K.

(2013). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, *42*(5), 1–12. doi:10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y

- Panigrahi, R. R., & Satapathy, S. K. (2014). Women empowerment through micro finance & turning challenges into opportunities: Indian scenario. *International Journal of Innovative Research and Development*, *3*, 310–316. Retrieved from www.ijird.com
- Paradis, E., Leslie, M., & Gropper, M. A. (2015). Interprofessional rhetoric and operational realities: An ethnographic study of rounds in four intensive care units. *Advances in Health Sciences Education*, 1–14. doi:10.1007/s10459-015-9662-5
- Pare, G., Trudel, M-C., Jaana, M., & Kitsiou, M. (2015). Synthesizing information systems knowledge: A typology of literature reviews. *Information and Management*, 52, 183–199.doi:10.1016/j.im.2014.08.008
- Pathak, A., & Intratat, C. (2012). Use of semi-structured interviews to investigate teacher perceptions of student collaboration. *Malaysian Journal of ELT Research*, 8(1), 1–10. Retrieved from www.melta.org
- Pathak, V., Jena, B., & Kalra, S. (2013). Qualitative research. *Perspectives in Clinical Research*, *4*, 192–192. doi:10.4103/2229-3485.115389
- Paull, M., Boudville, I., & Sitlington, H. (2013). Using sensemaking as a diagnostic tool in the analysis of qualitative data. *Qualitative Report*, 18(27), 1–12. Retrieved http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR18/paull54

Peña T. N. (2013). Lesson study and practical thinking: A case study in Spain. *International Journal for Lesson and Learning Studies*, 2, 115–136. doi:10.1108/20468251311323379.

Peredaryenko, M. S., & Krauss, S. E. (2013). Calibrating the human instrument: Understanding the interviewing experience of novice qualitative researchers. *Qualitative Report*, 18(85), 1–17. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR18/peredaryenko85

- Perri, D. F., & Chu, H. M. (2012). Entrepreneurs in China and Vietnam: Motivations and problems. *International Journal of Entrepreneurship*, 16, 93–112. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org
- Peter, E. (2015). The ethics in qualitative health research: Special considerations. *Ciência* & Saúde Coletiva, 20, 2625–2630. doi:10.1590/1413-81232015209.06762015
- Petty, N. J., Thomson, O. P., & Stew, G. (2012). Ready for a paradigm shift? Part 2: Introducing qualitative research methodologies and methods. *Manual Therapy*, *17*, 378–384. doi:10.1016/j.math.2012.03.004
- Poulis, K., Poulis, E., & Plakoyiannaki, E. (2013). The role of context in case study selection: An international business perspective. *International Business Review*, 22, 304–314. doi:10.1016/j.ibusrev.2012.04.003
- Prowse, M., & Camfield, L. (2013). Improving the quality of development assistance:
 What role for qualitative methods in randomized experiments? *Progress in Development Studies*, *13*(1), 51–61. doi:10.1177/146499341201300104

Quinn, J. R., Schmitt, M., Baggs, J. G., Norton, S. A., Dombeck, M. T., & Retailers, C.

R. (2012). Family members' informal roles in end-of-life decision making in adult intensive care units. *American Journal of Critical Care*, *21*(1), 43–51. doi:10.4037/ajcc2012520

Rademaker, L. L., Grace, E. J., & Curda, S. K. (2012). Using computer-assisted qualitative data analysis software (CAQDAS) to reexamine traditionally analyzed data: Expanding our understanding of the data and of ourselves as scholars. *Qualitative Report*, *17*(22), 1–11. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1765&context=tqr

- Radley, A., & Chamberlain, K. (2012). The study of the case: Conceptualizing case study research. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, *22*, 390–399. doi:10.1002/casp.1106
- Rao, V., Venkatachalm, A., &Joshi, H. G. (2013). A study on entrepreneurial characteristics and success of women entrepreneurs operating fashion and apparel business. *Asian Journal of Management Sciences and Education*, *2*, 136–147.
 Retrieved from http://www.ajmse.leena-luna.co.jp
- Raterink, G. (2016). Reflective journaling for critical thinking development in advanced practice registered nurse students. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 55, 101–104. doi:10.3928/01484834-20160114-08
- Redlich-Amirav, D., & Higginbottom, G. (2014). New emerging technologies in qualitative research. *Qualitative Report*, 19(26), 1–14.Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR19/redlich-amirav12

Reilly, R. C. (2013). Found poems, member checking and crises of representation.

Qualitative Report, 18(15), 1-18. Retrieved from

http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR18/reilly30

- Revenga, A., & Shetty, S. (2012). Empowering women is smart economics. *Finance and Development*, 49(1), 40–43. Retrieved from http://www.imf.org
- Rhodes, P., Dawson, L., Kelly, A., & Renshall, K. (2013). Introducing qualitative research into a psychology program: Co-learning, hospitality and rigour. *International Journal of Innovation in Science and Mathematics Education 21*(1), 18–28. Retrieved from http://openjournals.library.usyd.edu.au
- Ridde, V., & de Sardan, J. P. O. (2015). A mixed methods contribution to the study of health public policies: Complementarities and difficulties. *BMC Health Services Research*, 15(3), 1–8. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-15-S3-S7
- Ritter, C., Broers, B., & Elger, B. S. (2013). Cannabis use in a Swiss male prison:
 Qualitative study exploring detainees' and staffs' perspectives. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 24, 573–578. doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2013.05.001
- Robinson, O. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Research in Psychology*, *11*(1), 25–41.
 doi:10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Rocha Pereira, H. (2012). Rigour in phenomenological research: Reflections of a novice nurse researcher. *Nurse Researcher*, 19(3), 16–19. Retrieved from http://nurseresearcher.rcnpublishing.co.uk
- Rodik, P., & Primorac, J. (2015). To use or not to use: Computer-assisted qualitative data analysis software usage among early-career sociologists in Croatia

Forum: Qualitative Social Research, *16*(1), 1–22 Retrieved from www.qualitative research.net

- Rodríguez, C., & Bélanger, E. (2014). Stories and metaphors in the sensemaking of multiple primary health care organizational identities. *BMC Family Practice*, *15*(1), 41–61. doi:10.1186/1471-2296-15-41
- Rojon, C., & Saunders, M. N. K. (2012). Formulating a convincing rationale for a research study. *Coaching: An International Journal of Theory, Research and Practice*, 5(1), 55–61, doi:10.1080/17521882.2011.648335
- Rossetto, K. R. (2014). Qualitative research interviews: Assessing the therapeutic value and challenges. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, *31*, 482-489. doi:10.1177/0265407514522892
- Rowley, J. (2012). Conducting research interviews. *Management Research Review*, 35, 260–271. doi:10.1108/01409171211210154
- Roy, K., Zvonkovic, A., Goldberg, A., Sharp, E., & LaRossa, R. (2015). Sampling richness and qualitative integrity: Challenges for research with families. *Journal* of Marriage and Family, 77, 243–260. doi/10.1111/jomf.12147
- Sabbour, S., Lasi, H., & Tessin, P. (2012). Business intelligence and strategic decision simulation. *World Academy of Science, Engineering and Technology*, *6*, 980–987.
 Retrieved from http://waset.org/Publications?p=61
- Sadi, M. A., & Al-Ghazali, B. M. (2012). The dynamics of entrepreneurial motivation among women: A comparative study of businesswomen in Saudi Arabia and Bahrain. Asian Academy of Management Journal, 17, 97–113. doi:10.1007/978-1-

4614-1611-1 18

- Saleh, A. A., Ratajeski, M. A., & Bertolet, M. (2014). Grey literature searching for health sciences systematic reviews: A prospective study of time spent and resources utilized. *Evidence Based Library and Information Practice*, 9(3), 28-50. Retrieved from ejournals.library.ualberta.ca
- Sangster-Gromley, E. (2013). How case-study research can help to explain implementation of the nurse practitioner role. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(4), 6–11. doi:10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.6.e291
- Sanjari, M., Bahramnezhad, F., Fomani, F. K., Shoghi, M., & Cheraghi, M. A. (2014).
 Ethical challenges of researchers in qualitative studies: The necessity to develop a specific guideline. *Journal of Medical Ethics and History of Medicine*, 7(14), 1–6.
 Retrieved from http://jmehm.tums.ac.ir/index.php/jmehm
- Santos, R. E., & Da Silva, F. Q. (2013, October). Motivation to perform systematic reviews and their impact on software engineering practice. In *Empirical Software Engineering and Measurement, 2013 ACM/IEEE International Symposium,* 292– 295. doi:10.1109/ESEM.2013.36
- Sarfaraz, L., Nezameddin, F., & Majd, A. A. (2014). The relationship between women entrepreneurship and gender equity. *Journal of Global Entrepreneurship Research*, 2(1), 1–6. doi:10.1186/2251-7316-2-6
- Sargeant, J. (2012). Qualitative research part II: Participants, analysis, and quality assurance. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, 4(1), 1–3. doi:10.4300/JGME-D-11-00307.1

- Saunders, M. N. K., & Rojon, C. (2014), 'There's no madness in my method: Explaining how your research findings are built on firm foundations. *Coaching: An International Journal of Theory, Research and Practice*, 7(1), 74–83. doi:10.1080/17521882.2014.889185
- Schlitz, R. A., Ha, Y. G., Marks, T. J., & Lauhon, L. J. (2012). Quantitative statistical analysis of dielectric breakdown in zirconia-based self-assembled nano dielectrics. ACS Nano, 6, 4452–4460. doi:10.1021/nn3011834
- Schumpeter, J. A. (1934). *The theory of economic development: An inquiry into profit, capital, credit, interest, and the business cycle*. New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Publishers
- Schuessler, J. B., Wilder, B., & Byrd, L. W. (2012). Reflective journaling and development of cultural humility in students. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 33(2), 96–99 doi:10.5480/1536-5026-33.2.96
- Schwartz, D., Fischhoff, B., Krishnamurti, T., & Sowell, F. (2013). The Hawthorne effect and energy awareness. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110, 15242–15246. doi:10.1073/pnas.1301687110
- Seenivasan, R. (2014). Global research on women's entrepreneurship: An overview. Journal of Small Business and Entrepreneurship Development, 2, 121–140. Retrieved from http://jsbednet.com
- Seidi, J., Alhani, F., & Salsali, M. (2014). Professional support as a facilitator to the development of Iranian nurses' clinical judgment: A content analysis. *Iranian Journal of Nursing and Midwifery Research*, 19(7), 13–18. Retrieved from

http://www.ijnmr.mui.ac.ir

- Sekyi, S., Nkegbe P. K., & Kuunibe, N. (2014). Participation in the credit market by small scale enterprises in Ghana: Evidence from WA municipality. *African Journal of Business Management*, 8, 292–299. doi:10.5897/AJBM2013.7313
- Sepehr H. G., & Aghapour , A. H. (2012). Insights into case-study: A discussion on forgotten aspects of case research. *International Journal of Scientific and Research Publications*, 2(3), 1–6. Retrieved from www.ijsrp.org
- Sharma, K. (2012). Role of women in informal sector in India. *Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, 4(1), 29–36. Retrieved from http://iosrjournals.org
- Sheridan, L., Kotevski, S., & Dean, B. A. (2014). Learner perspectives on online assessments as a mechanism to engage in reflective practice. *Asia-Pacific Journal* of Cooperative Education, 15, 335–345. Retrieved from http://ro.uow.edu.au
- Shinnar, R. S., Giacomin, O., & Janssen, F. (2012). Entrepreneurial perceptions and intentions: The role of gender and culture. *Entrepreneurship: Theory & Practice*, 36, 465–493. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6520.2012.00509.x
- Shrivastava, S. R., Shrivastava, P. S., & Ramasamy, J. (2014). Application of qualitative research methods in heterogeneous domains of public health: An overview. *Indian Journal of Health Sciences*, 7, 118–120. doi:10.4103/2349-5006.148814
- Small, W., Maher, L., & Kerr, T. (2014). Institutional ethical review and ethnographic research involving injection drug users: A case study. *Social Science & Medicine*, 104, 157–162. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.12.010

- Snelgrove, S. R. (2014). Conducting qualitative longitudinal research using interpretative phenomenological analysis. *Nurse Researcher*, 22(1), 20–25. doi:10.7748/nr.22.1.20.e1277
- Singh, A. S. (2014). Conducting case study research in non-profit organizations. Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal, 17(1), 77–84. doi:10.1108/QMR-04-2013-0024
- Siwale, J. (2015). Why did I not prepare for this? The politics of negotiating fieldwork access, identity, and methodology in researching microfinance institutions. SAGE Open, 5(2), 1–12. doi:10.1177/2158244015587560
- Smith, J., & Noble, H. (2014). Bias in research. Evidence Based Nursing, 17, 100–101. doi:10.1136/eb-2014-101946
- Smith, V. J. (2009). Ethical and effective ethnographic research methods: A case study with Afghan refugees in California. *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, 4(3), 59–72. doi:10.1525/jer.2009.4.3.59.
- Snyder, C. (2012). A case study of a case study: Analysis of a robust qualitative research methodology. *Qualitative Report*, 17(26), 1–21. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR17/snyder

Sospeter, N. G., Rwelamila, P. D., Nchimbi, M., & Masoud, M. (2014). Review of theory and practice literature on women entrepreneurship in the Tanzanian construction industry: Establishing the missing link. *Journal of Construction in Developing Countries*, 19(2), 75–85. Retrieved from http://web.usm.my/jcdc

Souto-Manning, M. (2014). Critical narrative analysis: The interplay of critical discourse

and narrative analyses. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 27, 159–180. doi:10.1080/09518398.2012.737046

- Stephen, E. N. (2014). Women entrepreneurship in micro, small and medium-scale enterprises in Akwa Ibom State. *Journal of Business and Management*, *16*(3), 8–13. Retrieved from http://iosrjournals.org
- Stewart, J. (2012). Multiple-case study methods in governance-related research. *Public Management Review, 14*(1), 67–82. doi:10.1080/14719037.2011.589618
- Storesund, A., & McMurray, A. (2009). Quality of practice in an intensive care unit (ICU): A mini-ethnographic case study. *Intensive and Critical Care Nursing*, 25, 120–127. doi:10.1016/j.iccn.2009.02.001
- Street, C. T., & Ward, K. W. (2012). Improving validity and reliability in longitudinal case study timelines. *European Journal of Information Systems*, 21, 160–175. doi:10.1057/ejis.2011.53
- Sullivan, D. M., & Meek, W. R. (2012). Gender and entrepreneurship: A review and process model. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 27, 428–458. doi:10.1108/02683941211235373
- Sullivan, J. R. (2012). Skype: An appropriate method of data collection for qualitative interviews? *Hilltop Review*, 6(1), 54–60 Retrieved from http://scholarworks.wmich.edu
- Sumaira, R., & Muhammad, A. R. (2012). Gender and work-life balance: A phenomenological study of women entrepreneurs in Pakistan. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 19, 209–228.

doi:10.1108/14626001211223865

- Tajudeen, O. A., & Adebayo, F. O. (2013). Gender, economic activity and poverty in Nigeria. *Journal of Research in Peace Gender and Development*, 2, 106–125. doi:10.14303/grpgd.2013.103
- Tambunan, T. T. H. (2015). Development of women entrepreneurs in Indonesia: Are they being 'pushed' or 'pulled'? *Journal of Social Economics*, 2, 131–149. Retrieved from http://www.rassweb.com
- Tambwe, A .M. (2015). The impact of entrepreneurship training on micro and small enterprises (MSES) performance in Tanzania: The case of food vendors in Ilala District Dar Es Salaam. *Business Education Journal*, 1(1), 1–18. Retrieved from http://www.cbe.ac.tz/bej
- Tanggaard, L. (2014). Ethnographic fieldwork in psychology lost and found? *Qualitative Inquiry*, *20*, 167–174. doi:10.1177/1077800413510876
- Tarrozzi, M. (2013). How does my research question come about? The impact of funding agencies in formulating research questions. *Qualitative Report*, 18(51), 1–11. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR18/tarozzi102
- Terry, D. L., Garey, L., & Carey, K. B. (2014). Where do college drinkers draw the line?A qualitative study. *Journal of College Student Development*, 55(1), 63–74.Retrieved from

https://muse.jhu.edu/journals/journal_of_college_student_development/

Thomson, O. P., Petty, N. J., & Scholes, J. (2014). Grounding osteopathic researchintroducing grounded theory. *International Journal of Osteopathic Medicine*, *17*, 167-186. doi:10.1016/j.ijosm.2013.07.010

- Tobin, E. T., Kane, H. S., Saleh, D. J., Naar-King, S., Poowuttikul, P., Secord, E., & Slatcher, R. B. (2015). Naturalistically observed conflict and youth asthma symptoms. *Health Psychology*, 34, 622–631. doi:10.1037/hea0000138
- Tomko, R. L., Brown, W. C., Tragesser, S. L., Wood, P. K., Mehl, M. R., & Trull, T. J. (2014). Social context of anger in borderline personality disorder and depressive disorders: Findings from a naturalistic observation study. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 28 434–448. doi:10.1521/pedi 2012 26 064
- Toros, K., & Medar, M. (2015). Social work students' thoughts on self-reflection: A qualitative study based on reflective journaling. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, 5(3), 89–96. Retrieved from http://www.ijhssnet.com
- Trotter, R. T. (2012). Qualitative research sample design and sample size: Resolving and unresolved issues and inferential imperatives. *Preventive Medicine*, 55, 398–400. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2012.07.003
- Tsang, E. W. (2014). Case studies and generalization in information systems research: A critical realist perspective. *Journal of Strategic Information Systems*, 23, 174–186. doi:10.1016/j.jsis.2013.09.002
- Tubey, R. J., Rotich, J. K., & Bengat, J. K. (2015). Research paradigms: Theory and practice. *Research on Humanities and Social Sciences*, 5, 224–228. Retrieved from http://www.iiste.org

Uddin, R., & Bose, T. K. (2013). Motivation, success factors and challenges of

entrepreneurs in Khulna City of Bangladesh. *European Journal of Business and Management*, *5*, 148–156. Retrieved from http://iiste.org

- Ukonu, O. I., & Tafamel, A. E. (2011). Problems, challenges and prospects of female entrepreneurs in Gwagwalada, Abuja. *African Research Review*, 5, 226–246. doi:10.4314/afrrev.v5i3.67354
- Ukpata, S. I. & Onyeukwu, P. E. (2014). Empowering women in agri-business an agripreneurship: The Dialectics of socio-cultural impediments on economic development in Nigeria. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 6(6), 68–77. Retrieved from http://iiste.org
- United Nations Development Programme (2014). *Barriers and opportunities at the base* of the pyramid: The role of the private sector in inclusive development. Retrieved from http://www.undp.org
- Vaismoradi, M., Jordan, S., Turunen, H., & Bondas, T. (2014). Nursing students' perspectives of the cause of medication errors. *Nurse Education Today*, *34*, 434– 440. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2013.04.015
- Vaismoradi, M., Turunen, H., & Bondas, T. (2013). Content analysis and thematic analysis: Implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. *Nursing & Health Sciences*, 15, 398–405. doi:10.1111/nhs.12048

Van Teijlingen, E., Simkhada, B., Porter, M., Simkhada, P., Pitchforth, E., & Bhatta, P.
(2012). Qualitative research and its place in health research in Nepal. *Kathmandu* University Medical Journal, 9 301–305. doi:10.3126/kumj.v9i4.6350

Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Bala, H. (2013). Bridging the qualitative -quantitative

divide: Guidelines for conducting mixed methods research in information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, *37*(1), 21–54. Retrieved from http://webms.hua.gr

- Verner, J. M., & Abdullah, L. M. (2012). Exploratory case study research: Outsources project failure. *Information and Software Technology*, 54, 866–886. doi:10.1016/j.infsof.2011.11.001
- Vijaykumar, N. V., & Naidu, G. J. (2015). Economic reforms brought about by micro finance training A case study of Padarahalli village in Ramanagar Taluk.
 International Journal of Research in Management, Social Sciences & Technology, 10(10), 1–11. Retrieved from http://www.acmeintellects.org
- Vohra, V. (2014). Using the multiple case study design to decipher contextual leadership behaviors in Indian organizations. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 12(1), 54–65. Retrieved from http://www.ejbrm.com
- Volpato, E. N., Betini, M., & El Dib, R. (2014). Testing search strategies for systematic reviews in the Medline literature database through PubMed. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, 20, 117–120. doi:10.1111/jep.12094
- Wahyuni, D. (2012). The research design maze: Understanding paradigms, cases, methods and methodologies. *Journal of Applied Management Accounting Research*, *10*(1), 69–80. Retrieved from http://www.cmawebline.org/jamar
- Walker, J. L. (2012). The use of saturation in qualitative research. *Canadian Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 22(2), 37–41. Retrieved from https://www.cccn.ca/content.php?doc=21

Walshe, C., Ewing, G., & Griffiths, J. (2012). Using observation as a data collection

method to help understand patient and professional roles and actions in palliative care setting. *Palliative Medicine*, *26*, 1048–1054.

doi:10.1177/0269216311432897

- Walker, S., Read, S., & Priest, H. (2013). Use of reflexivity in a mixed-methods study. *Nurse Researcher*, *20*(3), 38–43. doi:10.7748/nr2013.01.20.3.38.c9496
- Walters, S. R., & Godbold, R. (2014). Someone is watching you: The ethics of covert observation to explore adult behaviour at children's sporting events. *Journal of Bioethical Inquiry*, 11, 531–537. doi:10.1007/s11673-014-9543-2
- Ward, D. R., Ghali, W. A., Graham, A., & Lemaire, J. B. (2014). A real-time locating system observes physician time-motion patterns during walk-rounds: A pilot study. *BMC Medical Education*, 14(1), 37. doi:10.1186/1472-6920-14-37
- Wegener, C. (2014a). "I don't know why I'm here": From knot-working to not-knowing. Journal of Organizational Ethnography, 3, 246–258. doi:10.1108/JOE-07-2013-0016
- Wegener, C. (2014b). Writing with Phineas how a fictional character from AS Byatt helped me turn my ethnographic data into research texts. *Cultural Studies*↔ *Critical Methodologies, 14* 351–360. doi:10.1177/1532708614530306
- Westerman, M. A. (2014). Examining arguments against quantitative research: "Case studies" illustrating the challenge of finding a sound philosophical basis of a human sciences approach to psychology. *New Ideas in Psychology*, *32*, 42–58. doi:10.1016/jnewideapsych.2013.08.002

Williams, N., & Williams, C. C. (2012). Evaluating the socio-spatial contingency of

entrepreneurial motivations: A case study of English deprived urban neighborhoods. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development*, *24*, 661–684. doi:10.1080/08985626.2012.710259

- Williams, D. U. (2014). Global poverty: A threat to international peace and security. *Journal of Good Governance and Sustainable Development in Africa*, 2(3), 16–23. Retrieved from http://www.rcmss.com
- White, J., Drew, S., & Hay, T. (2009). Ethnography versus case study. *Qualitative Research Journal*, *9*(1), 18–27. doi:103316/QRU0901018
- White, D. E., Oelke, N. D., & Friesen, S. (2012). Management of a large qualitative data set: Establishing trustworthiness of the data. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 11, 244–258. Retrieved from ejournals.library.ualberta.ca
- Whiteley, A. (2012). Supervisory conversations on rigour and interpretive research. *Qualitative Research Journal*, *12*, 251–271. doi:10.1108/14439881211248383
- World Bank. (2012). Women business and the law: Removing barriers to economic inclusion. *The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/the World Bank*. Retrieved from http://wbl.worldbank.org
- World Bank. (2014). Expanding women's access to financial services. *The World Bank*. Retrieved from http://www.worldbank.org/en/results/2013/04/01/banking-onwomen-extending-womens-access-to-financial-services
- Wynn, J., & Williams, C. (2012). Principles for conducting critical realist case study research in information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, 36, 787–810. Retrieved from aisel.aisnet.org

- Xesha, D., Iwu, C. G., & Slabbert, A. (2014). Business relationships as a driver of success for small, medium, and micro enterprises (SMMEs) in South Africa. *Journal of Economics*, 5(1), 37–43. Retrieved from http://www.krepublishers.com
- Yilmaz, K. (2013). Comparison of quantitative and qualitative research traditions: Epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. *European Journal* of Education, 48, 311–325. doi:10.1111/ejed.12014
- Yin, R. (2014). *Case study research: Design and methods* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Yin, R. K. (2013, July 10). Validity and generalization in future case study evaluations. *Evaluation*, 19, 312–332. doi:10.1177/1356389013497081
- Youssef, L. S. (2012). Using student reflections in the formative evaluation of instruction: A course-integrated approach. *Reflective Practice*, *13*, 237–254. doi:10.1080/14623943.2011.626031
- Yusuff, O. S. (2013). Gender differentials in factors effecting performance of small-scale enterprises in Lagos State-Nigeria. *Innovative Issues and Approaches in Social Sciences*, 6(2), 21–39. Retrieved from http://www.iiass.com/
- Zachariadis, M., Scott, S., & Barrett, M. (2013). Methodical implications of critical realism for mixed-methods research. *MIS Quarterly*, 37, 855–879. Retrieved from http://www.misq.org
- Zargham-Boroujeni, A., Jafarzadeh-Kenarsari, F., Ghahiri, A., & Habibi, M. (2014). Empowerment and sense of adequacy in infertile couples: A fundamental need in

treatment process of infertility - A qualitative study. *Qualitative Report*, 19(6), 1– 14. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR19/zargham-boroujeni11

- Zarif, T. (2012). Grounded theory method: An overview. Interdisciplinary Journal of Contemporary Research in Business, 4, 969–979. Retrieved from http://ijcrb.webs.com
- Zhang, H., & Babar, M. A. (2013). Systematic reviews in software engineering: An empirical investigation. *Information and Software Technology*, 55, 1341–1354.
 Retrieved from http://romisatriawahono.net
- Zhao, M., & Ji, Y. (2014). Challenges of introducing participant observation to community health research. *ISRN Nursing*, *2014*. doi:10.1155/2014/802490
- Zilber, T. B. (2014). Beyond a single organization: Challenges and opportunities in doing field level ethnography. *Journal of Organizational Ethnography*, *3*, 96–113. doi:10.1108/JOE-11-2012-0043
- Zimmerman, M. A., & Chu, H. M. (2013). Motivation, success, and problems of entrepreneurs in Venezuela. *Journal of Management Policy and Practice*, 14(2), 76–90. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com
- Zivkovic, J. (2012). Strengths and weaknesses of business research methodologies: Two disparate case studies. *Business Studies Journal*, 4(2), 91–99. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/public/journals/JournalDetails.aspx?jid=26
- Zohrabi, M. (2013). Mixed methods research: Instruments, validity reliability, and reporting findings. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, *3*, 254–262.
 doi:10.4304/tpls.3.2.254-262

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

- I. Introduce self to the participant(s).
- II. Present consent form, go over contents, answer questions and concerns of participant(s).
- III. Participant signs consent form
- IV. Give participant copy of consent form.
- V. If using a recording device, turn on the device.
- VI. Follow the procedure to introduce participant(s) with pseudonym/coded identification; note the date and time.
- VII. Begin the interview with Question #1; follow through to the final question.
- VIII. Follow up with additional questions.
- IX. End interview sequence; discuss member checking with participant(s).
- X. Thank the participant(s) for their part in the study. Reiterate contact numbers for follow up questions to clarify responses and my interpretation of their answer, and address concerns from participants.
- XI. End protocol.

Appendix B: Interview Questions

1. How old are you?

Afo ole ka idi?

2. What is your marital status?

Iluola di?

3. How many are you in your household?

Mmadi ole bi na ezi na ulo gi?

4. Who is the primary wage earner (breadwinners)?

Onye na elekota ndi ulo gi nile? 5. What is your level of education?

Kedu ebe I gururu akwukwo/ihe muta?

6. What type of business do you own?

Kedu udi ahia I na azu?

- How long have you been in business?
 Kedu ogugu oge I noruru le na ahia gi a?
- How much do you make in a year?
 Ego ole ka I na erite na afo?
- Including yourself, how many employees do you have?
 Mmadi ole na aruru gi oru ma etinye gi?

Follow-up Interview Questions

- How would you describe what motivated you to become an entrepreneur? Biko kowa ihe mere iji bido ahia a?
- 2. What kind of training would have been helpful to you prior to launching your business?

Kedu udi ozuzu kara inyere gi aka tupu I bido ahia a?

- 3. Now that you have launched your business, what would have been or would be helpful to help you further succeed? Ugbu a I bidoro ahia, kedu ihe kara I nyere gi aka I na enwete gi?
- 4. If you attended any training, what was involved?Oburu na I nweture ozuz tupu I bido ahia, kedu ebe I no mee ya, ubosi ole ka I mere ya?
- How did you raise money for your business?
 Kedu otu ijiri wete ego tupu Imalite izu ahia gi a?
- 6. How would you describe the difficulties if any, you experienced in the past or are currently experiencing as an entrepreneur? Kowa ihe ndi ina aga biga ma obu ihe ndi I na ahu, ugba ma obu mgbe gara aga di ka onye na azu ahia?
- 7. How did you overcome those difficulties/barriers?

Kowa ote I jiri were gbochi e ihe na eme ka ahia gi hara i na aga nke oma?

8. What were major influences on starting your business?

Kedu ihe mere gi iji were bido ahia gi a?

9. What resources do you need but currently do not have access to that may help to improve your business?

Kedu ihe ndi ga enyere gi aka ka ahia gi na aga ni ihu, I na ewehu?

Appendix C: Observation Protocol

Before conducting interviews, I will request permission to observe participants as they engage in their daily activities.

- The purpose of the observation during the study is to conduct a systematic data collection by observing the setting of the research site. Additionally, I would observe how the women entrepreneurs begin and end conversations with their customers and in turn, observe their customer service skills.
- 2. Upon receiving permission to observe the setting, I will schedule a time for the observation conducive to the participants.
- 3. After arriving at the designated location for observation, I will introduce myself to the participant in this study and reiterate the purpose for my presence as a direct observer in preparation for the formal interview.
- 5. Following each observation, I will generate a written report of my observations in a narrative format.
- 6. Observations are included in the data collection for analysis and coding.

Date:

The Background:

Physical setting (I will describe in thick, rich detail what the physical setting looks like, sounds like, as well as any other details I feel necessary. I will record what I know about the participants and their roles, if known).

- Who is there?
- What are they doing?

The People:

- How do they interact?
- What are they wearing?
- What are they saying?
- What does their body language tell you?

The Action:

- What happens?
- What is the sequence?
- Is there a cause and effect? If so, provide details.

Observation:	Code: